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MELVIN I. UROFSKY

One of the few benefits of Covid-19 
is that I seem to have a lot more time to 
read not only serious works, such as John 
Barry’s The Great Influenza, the story of 
an earlier pandemic a century ago, but also 
lighter material, such as Ben Aaronovich’s 
series The Rivers of London about Thomas 
Nightingale and Peter Grant, two members 
of Scotland Yard who are magicians (real 
ones). Even people who are working at home 
tell me they have more time, if nothing else 
than in the hours they would be dressing 
for work, putting on makeup, or commuting. 
So I hope you all enjoy this issue. It does 
not have magicians, but it does have a little 
lightheartedness that we can all use these 
days.

Mark Killenbeck, Davis Distinguished 
Professor of Law at the University of 
Arkansas and an old friend, writes about two 
justices and their dissents, William Johnson 
in Fletcher v. Peck (1810) and Louis Bran- 
deis’s concurrence in Whitney v. California 
(1927). Needless to say, I am much interested 
in dissent and also in the Brandeis opinion, 
which Professor Mark Tushnet of Harvard 
has called the greatest dissent ever written, 
even if it is a concurrence. What Killenbeck 
does is to dig deeply into both opinions, and 
much as I have studied Whitney, it gave me

great pleasure to see it from a different angle 
and learn more about it.

I must confess, I probably would have 
accepted Todd Pepper’s article for the title 
alone, “Chief Justice Melville Weston Fuller 
and the Great Mustache Debate of 1888.” 
Pepper, Fowler Professor of Public Affairs 
at Roanoke College, adjunct professor at 
Washington & Lee Law School, and a pre­
vious contributor to the Journal, gives us a 
great story that is almost impossible to take 
seriously in this time of plague. Oh to be 
young and innocent in 1888!

There have, fortunately, been no disabled 
justices in recent years, but at other times 
in our history men who sat not only on 
the high court but in the district and circuit 
tribunals could not, by cause of physical or 
mental infirmity, fulfill their responsibility. 
Some, like Holmes and Brandeis, stepped 
down voluntarily. But others had to be 
“pushed,” often for political reasons. The 
Constitution ignores this problem, and the 
only valid means of removing a judge is 
impeachment. Judge Glock, a Senior Policy 
Advisor at the Cicero Institute, looks at 
this issue and how political pressure from 
the legislative branch, as well as gener­
ous retirement packages, opened up judicial 
seats.
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Another old friend is Robert Post, Ster­
ling Professor of Law and former dean at the 
Yale Law School. Bob is working on the Taft 
Court volumes for the Oliver Wendell Holmes 
Devise, and has asked me from time to time 
to read drafts. In one section, he deals with 
what is one of the landmark decisions of the 
Taft Court, Myers v. United States (1926). I 
asked him if he could give me an article for 
the Journal on the case, which he graciously 
agreed to do. Taft, a former president, tried 
to use the case to bolster the authority of the 
presidency. His opinion evoked dissents from 
three justices, including one of Brandeis’s 
most important, and the Myers decision was 
to be effectively overruled less than a decade 
later in Humphrey's Executor v. United States 
(1935).

When we think of the Supreme Court 
and World War 11, the cases that always 
grab our attention are three in number that 
deal with the Japanese internments. But there 
were other cases involving enemy aliens and 
the courts, and Charles J. Sheehan, a lawyer

for the federal government, tells us about 
one of them, involving a Japanese sailor 
who was injured and fought to get his case 
for compensation before the courts, seeking 
justice. Kumezo Kawato, despite a ruling 
from the nation’s highest court, did not get 
justice, and after his release from internment 
he returned to Japan.

Because of the plague, the Society did 
not hold its annual meeting at the Supreme 
Court this past June. As a result, there was 
no opportunity to formally recognize the 
winner of the Hughes-Gossett Award for the 
best article in the journal in 2019 (vol. 44, 
no. 2). The winner is Cynthia Nicoletti, a 
legal historian and professor of law at the 
University of Virginia, and her compelling 
article is titled “Chief Justice Salmon P. 
Chase and the Permanency of the Union.” It 
is our hope that the presentation of the award 
can be made in person at the 2021 meeting.

So, we all wish you to take care and stay 
safe, and hope that this issue will make some 
of the quarantine less burdensome.
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Ju s tice William Jo hns o n be gan his s e p­

arate opinion in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF le tc h e r v. P e c k with a 

disarmingly simple statement: “ In this case 

I entertain on two points, an opinion dif­

ferent from that which has been delivered 

by the court.” 1 So he “ threw out” certain 

ideas, making it clear that he did not ob­

ject to a Georgia statute because it vio­

lated the Contract Clause. Rather it was at 

odds with “ the reason and nature of things: 

a principle which will impose laws even 

on the deity.” 2 In a similar vein, Justice 

Louis D. Brandeis, “concurring” in W h i tn e y 

v. C a l i fo r n ia , delivered what is universally 

regarded as a devastating dissent—a paean 

to the “ freedom to think as you will  and to 

speak as you think” 3—even as he allowed 

Charlotte Anita Whitney’s conviction to 

stand.

These are the two most prominent ex­

amples of the art and science of being 

agreeably disagreeable, purporting to concur 

even as you write an opinion positing that 

your brethren simply do not have a clue. The 

equivalent, if  you will, of Courtly Fighting

Words, said with a judicially if  not injudi­
cious “disarming smile.” 4

Dissent—whatever its form— is as old as 

the Court itself.5 Very few likely realize that 

the first reported decision of the Court was 

actually a dissent. That “honor”  fell to Justice 

Thomas Johnson, who as the junior justice in 

an era when the Court spoke seriatim chimed 

in first, with all of his brethren reaching 

the opposite result.6 A more notable and 

consequential early disagreement was voiced 

by Justice James Iredell in 1793, when, in 

C h is h o lm v. G e o r g ia ,1 he was the only one to 

conclude that Article III  courts could not en­

tertain a suit filed against a state by a citizen 

of another state. That result—contradicted by 

the clear text8—led, of course, to the ratifica­

tion of the Eleventh Amendment, which has 

since spawned its own tale of movement and 

counter movement.

Dissent has accordingly played an im­

portant role throughout the Court’s history. 

Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes fa­

mously characterized dissents as “an appeal 

to the brooding spirit of the law, to the
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intelligence of a future day.” 9 Justice Robert 

H. Jackson, in turn, noted that dissents when 

“ [w]isely used on well-chosen occasions ... 

ha[ve] been of great service to the profession 

and to the law.” 10 That said, dissents have 

also proven controversial. This was especially 

so as William Johnson and Louis Brandeis 

crafted their opinions. Both John Marshall, 

the fourth Chief Justice of the United States, 

and William Howard Taft, its tenth, viewed 

dissents as at least a nuisance, even on occa­

sion a positive harm. Johnson and Brandeis 

knew this, and that reality provides one of 

the contexts we must explore as we look with 

care at their curious opinions in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF le tc h e r and 

W h i tn e y .

M arshall,  Johnson,  and  D issent

One of my many quirks is that I habitu­

ally think of John Marshall as the Accidental 

Chief Justice. Part of the story is familiar. 

John Jay refused to undertake a second stint 

as chief after John Adams sent his name

to the Senate, which actually gave its “ad­

vice and consent.” Governor of New York 

at the time, Jay was both content in that 

role and dismissive, offering a candid and 

unfortunately highly accurate assessment of 

the Court:

I left the Bench perfectly convinced 

that under a System so defective,

[the Court] would not obtain the 

Energy weight and Dignity which 

are essential to its affording due sup­

port to the national Government; nor 

acquire the public Confidence and 
Respect, which, as the last Resort of 

the Justice of the nation, it should 

possess.11

Most narratives have Adams turning in­

evitably and immediately to John Marshall, 

bolstered by an account penned by Marshall 

some twenty-five years after the fact:

When 1 waited on the President with

Mr. Jays letter declining the appoint­

ment he said thoughtfully “Who 

shall I nominate now?”  I replied that 

I could not tell, as 1 supposed his ob­

jection to Judge Patteson remained.

He said in a decided tone “ 1 shall not 

nominate him.” After a moments 

hesitation he said “ I believe I must 

nominate you.” I had never before 

heard my self named for the office 

and had not even thought of it. I 

was pleased as well as surprised, and 

bowed in silence. Next day I was 

nominated.12

The actual story is much more compli­

cated. Adams was determined to elevate a 

sitting member of the Court if  Jay declined, 

planning to offer the post to William Cushing 

and then, hoping Cushing would refuse, to 

William Patterson.13 Working through his 

son Thomas, he tried for weeks to convince 

Jared Ingersoll of Philadelphia to accept the 

seat vacated should either Cushing or Patter­

son become chief.14 But the press of time and
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unanticipated events forced his hand, leading 

to the act he subsequently described as “ the 

pride of my life [to have] given to this nation 

a Chief Justice equal to Coke or Hale; Holt or 

Mansfield.” 15

There is every reason to believe a key 

aspect of Marshall’s claim that he was sur­

prised at this turn of events. In a Decem­

ber 18, 1800 letter to Charles Cotseworth 

Pinckney, Marshall expressed his intent to 

return to Richmond and the practice of law. 

“ If  my present wish can succeed so far as 

respects myself I shall never again fill  any 

political station whatever.” 16 That said, once 

confirmed he took the judicial bit between 

his teeth and pursued his new responsibilities 

with determination and vigor.

Two objectives consumed him. The most 

important was his quest to have the Court 

assume its rightful place in the American 

constitutional order. To serve, as explicated in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
M a r b u r y , as a coequal branch of government 

that would “emphatically”  discharge its man­

date to “ say what the law is.” 17 The second, a 

necessary corollary of the first, was to ensure 

that whenever possible the Court spoke with 

a single, authoritative voice. In particular, 

dissent was anathema. As Marshall explained 

in the wake of M ’ C u l lo c h - .

The course of every tribunal must 

necessarily be, that the opinion 

which is to be delivered as the 

opinion of the court, is previously 

submitted to the consideration of 

the judges; and, if  any part of the 

reasoning be disproved, it must be 

modified as to receive the approba­

tion of all, before it can be delivered 

as the opinion of all.18

Thomas Jefferson was deeply disturbed 

by Marshall’s appointment. He did declare 

famously in his First Inaugural Address that 

“every difference of opinion is not a differ­

ence of principle. We have called by different 

names brethren of the same principle. We 

are all Republicans, we are all Federalists.” 19

But those conciliatory sentiments did not 

include John Marshall and the Court. A scant 

ten days later Jefferson complained that the 

Federalists “have retreated into the judiciary 

as a stronghold, the tenure of which renders it 

difficult  to dislodge them.” 20 He repeated the 

sentiment in December, arguing that “ [tjhere 

the remains of federalism are to be preserved 

... and from that battery all the works of 

republicanism are to be beaten down and 

erased. By a fraudulent use of the Constitu­

tion, which has made the judges irremovable, 

they have multiplied useless judges merely to 

strengthen their phalanx.” 21

Jefferson had numerous reasons for be­

ing angry with the Federalists, not the least 

of which was John Marshall. He recognized 

the power of Marshall’s intellect and his per­

suasive abilities. But that made him uneasy:

When conversing with Marshall, I 

never admit anything. So sure are 

you to admit any position to be 

good, no matter how remote from 

the conclusion he seeks to estab­

lish, you are gone. So great is his 

sophistry, you must never give an 

affirmative answer, or you will be 

forced to grant his conclusion. Why, 

if  he were to ask me whether it were 

daylight or not, I ’d reply, “ Sir, I do 

not know, I can’ t tell.” 22

The two were almost invariably on op­

posite sides in the great questions of the day. 

In the early 1790s, for example, they clashed 

over how the new nation should respond to 

the revolution in France, prompting Jefferson 

to complain to Madison (with ironic and 

mistaken insight) that it might be best to 

put Marshall where he could do less harm: 

“nothing better could be done than to make 

him a judge.” 23

Jefferson was accordingly delighted 

when Justice Alfred Moore resigned, seizing 

what he hoped would be the opportunity to 

remake the Court. He solicited the advice 

of Secretary of the Treasury Albert Gallatin,
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who agreed that “ the importance of filling  

this vacancy with a Republican and a man of 

sufficient talents to be useful, is obvious, but 

the task is difficult.” 24 The main problem was 

geographic balance. With Moore gone two of 

the six judicial circuits were not represented 

on the Court. “As there are now two circuits 

without a presiding Judge (the circuits of 

Virginia and North Carolina having yet two), 

the person may be taken from either.” 25

Gallatin looked to South Carolina, ob­

serving that “ I am told that the practice is as 

loose in Georgia as in New England and that 

a real lawyer could not easily be found there. 

But South Carolina stands high in that re­

spect, at least in reputation.” 26 Five individu­

als were suggested by two South Carolinians, 

Senator Thomas Sumter and Representative 

Wade Hampton. One was William Johnson, 

described as “a state judge, an excellent 

lawyer, prompt, eloquent, of irreproachable 

character, republican connections, and of 

good nerves in his political principles, about 

35 years old. was speaker some years.” 27

That assessment was accurate to a point. 

Johnson had earned the respect of his col­

leagues, who made him speaker of the South 

Carolina House and elevated him to the 

Bench. John Quincy Adams said he was 

“a man of considerable talents and law 

knowledge,” 28 a “ learned man [who] de­

fends his opinions with so much earnestness 

and vigor” that, on one occasion, Adams 

found it “advisable, after some discussion, 

to waive the subject[.]” 29 But Johnson’s 

conduct, both on and off the Bench, also 

compelled Adams to conclude that, while in­

telligent and accomplished, he was ultimately 

“a restless, turbulent, hot-headed politician 

caballing judge.” 30

The Senate received Johnson’s name on 

March 22, 1804 and confirmed him two 

days later. Secretary of State James Madison 

then contacted him and asked if  he would 

accept the position.31 Johnson’s biographer, 

Donald G. Morgan, is perhaps overly dra­

matic in his description of what followed, but

A fter  Thom as  Jefferson  appo in ted  W illiam  Johnson  of  

South  C aro lina  (p ic tured)  to  the  C ourt  in  1804, he  tried  

to  encourage  a return  to  the  custom  of  seriatim  op in ions  

and  to  foster  a rift  betw een  h is  appo in tee  and  C hief  

Justice  John  M arshall.

his characterization of the events is worth 

repeating:

Toward the middle of April this 

communication overtook the rising 

young state judge in the midst of 

his state activities, judicial and oth­

erwise. Would he accept? Or would 

he, like his mentor C. C. Pinckney 

before him, turn it down out of 

preference for a local career? He 

was doubtless aware of the struggle 

over the federal judiciary, then at 

its height, and of the difficulties he 

would encounter there. He would 

occupy an outpost on the front and 

would be called on, in the interest 

of Republicanism, to resist single- 

handed the aggressions of Marshall 

and the Federalists.32

Johnson himself did not seem terribly 

troubled, conveying “my Acknowledgments 

to the President for this Mark of Attention
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and Confidence, &  to communicate my will ­

ingness to accept the Appointment.” 33 He 

asked only that he be given “ until the 1st 

May next” to complete certain local duties 

and obligations.34 There were no objections, 

and Court records have Johnson taking his 

judicial oath on May 7, 1804.35

Jefferson and Gallatin clearly believed 

that a Republican Cat had been set among 

the Federalist Canaries, a “zealous”  advocate, 

presumably prepared and able to become “ an 

active and useful promoter of the Republican 

intererst[s] in our country.” 36

That judgment turned out to be mistaken, 

although not for the reason usually cited, the 

charms and persuasive powers of John Mar­

shall. Even the most cursory inspection of 

Johnson’s record on the South Carolina bench 

would have revealed deep cause for concern. 

In 1801, for example, a case came before him 

involving an indictment under state law for 

counterfeiting notes of the Charleston branch 

of the First Bank of the United States. The 

defense argued that the state court did not 

have jurisdiction: the offense was a matter of 

federal law. Speaking for the court in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS ta te 

v . P i tm a n , Johnson disagreed, declaring that 

“ [t]he national government may pass such 

laws as may be proper and necessary to avoid 

all the mischiefs arising from the counterfeit­

ing, and passing, as true, the forged bills of 

credit of the Bank of the nation.” 37

That broad construction embraced two 

things Jefferson regarded as intolerable evils: 

the existence of implied powers, and the con­

stitutionality of the Bank of the United States. 

Both were Federalist Heresy. Both would 

have incurred Jefferson’s ire, and likely have 

killed the nomination, if  only he knew. There 

was some room for comfort. Johnson did rec­

ognize the authority of the states, observing 

that “ it cannot be maintained that the several 

state governments may not also pass such 

laws, as they shall deem necessary, to the 

welfare of their internal concerns, in relation 

to the same subject.” 38 Assuming that the 

respective measures were “ reconcilable and

consistent”—presumably, that no preemption 

questions were posed—both the nation and 

states could act to protect their respective 

interests. But his reading of the Constitution 

and assessment of the nature and scope of 

federal power were diametrically opposed to 

Jeffersonian orthodoxy.

The views expressed in P i tm a n became 

central motifs during Johnson’s years on the 

Court. True to Jeffersonian principles, he was 

sensitive to state rights and generally cautious 

in his affirmations of federal power. In M a r t in  

v. H u n te r’s L e s s e e , for example, he stressed 

that “ the general government must cease to 

exist whenever it loses the power of protect­

ing itself in the exercise of its constitutional 

powers.” 39 He nevertheless insisted that it 

was largely for Congress, not the Court, to 

implement the structural details of appellate 

jurisdiction, “ so firmly am I persuaded that 

the American people can no longer enjoy the 

blessings of a free government, whenever the 

state sovereignties shall be prostrated at the 

feet of the general government.” 40 But he was 

also a willing  and consistent ally of Marshall, 

supporting the existence of implied powers 

and routinely joining opinions voicing a 

robust theory of those expressly granted.41 

Indeed, in one notable instance, his concur­

ring opinion in G ib b o n s v. O g d e n ,42 Johnson 

both argued for a more expansive view of the 

federal commerce power than Marshall’s and 

grounded the need for that approach in the 

sins of the states, which had been “ selfish,”  

with their insistence on passing “ iniquitous 

laws and impolite measures ... was the im­

mediate cause, that led to the forming of a 

convention.” 43 The document that emerged, 

in turn, gave Congress “exclusive grants ... 

of power over commerce.” 44

Johnson did chafe at the notion that 

he could not routinely express his own 

opinion, especially when he disagreed with 

his brethren. Many years later he informed 

Jefferson that “ [wjhile I was on our State- 

bench I was accustomed to delivering seri­

atim Opinions in our appellate Court, and
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was not a little surprised to find our Chief 

Justice in the Supreme Court delivering all 

the Opinions in cases in which he sat, even 

in some instances when contrary to his own 

judgment & vote.” 45 Johnson took issue 

with this, declaring that “ I remonstrated in 

vain; the Answer was, he is willing to take 

the Trouble, & it is a Mark of Respect 

to him.” 46

Ironically, the first indication that John­

son would not quietly comply came in 1805 

in a case involving the Contract Clause, WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
H u id e k o p e r’s L e s s e e v. D o u g la s s .47 Antic­

ipating F le tc h e r , Marshall spoke for the 

Court, finding that a Pennsylvania statute 

created “a contract; and although a state is 

a party, it ought to be construed according 

to those well-established principles, which 

regulate contracts generally.” 48 Johnson con­

curred, agreeing “ that any construction of 

a statute which will  produce absurdities, or 

consequences in direct violation of its own 

provisions, is to be avoided.” 49 He lodged the 

first of his many dissents in 1807 in E x p a r te 

B o l lm a n a n d E x p a r te S w a r tw o u t , -0 which 

grew out of the Burr Conspiracy. Marshall 

held that the Court had the power to issue the 

writs of habeas corpus in question, arguing 

that “ the sound construction”  of the provision 

in the Judiciary Act involved “ is, that the 

true sense of the words is to be determined 

by the nature of the provision and by the 

context,” rather than a “strict grammatical 

construction.” ''1

Johnson disagreed, arguing at length that 

the Court “can exercise appellate jurisdiction 

in no case, unless expressly authorised to do 

so by the laws of congress.” 52 He made it 

clear that he spoke reluctantly, but with a 

sense of duty, declaring that “ [i]n  this case, 

I have the misfortune to dissent from the 

majority of my brethren” and ending with 

the observation that he had experienced “ the 

painful sensation resulting from the neces­

sity of dissenting from the majority of the 

court.” 53 Nevertheless, “ [a]s it is a case of 

much interest, I feel it incumbent upon me

to assign the reasons upon which I adopt the 

[my contrary] opinion ... ,” 54

Johnson subsequently recounted his ver­

sion of what happened next:

Some case soon occurred, in which

I differed from my brethren, & I 

thought it a thing of course to de­

liver my opinion. But, during the 

rest of the session I heard nothing 

but lectures on the indecency of 

judges cutting at each other, and the 

loss of reputation which the Virginia 

appellate courts had sustained by 

pursuing such a course. At length I 

found that I must either submit to 

circumstances or become a cypher 

in our consultations as to effect no 

good at all. I therefore bent to the 

current, and persevered until I got 

them to adopt the course they now 

pursue, which is to appoint someone 

to deliver the opinion of the major­

ity, but leave it to the discretion of 

the rest of the Judges to record their 

opinions or not ad libitum.55

Johnson overstates his case. The process 

was gradual and dissent became an accepted 

norm as the Court matured, albeit not at 

Johnson’s insistence. That said, it is important 

to understand the situation in the Court’s 

early years and to take into account factors 

that counseled restraint.

Fletcher v. Peck-. Johnson,  C oncurring?

Most of us are familiar with the events 

that shaped F le tc h e r , massive land grants, 

the allure of speculation and the power of 

speculators, and a protracted sequence of 

events characterized by self-dealing, bribery, 

and general malfeasance by the members 

of the Georgia legislature.56 A 1795 act 

approved four major land grants in what 

became known as the Yazoo land fraud. The 

public learned the sordid background details 

and was outraged. In response, the legislature
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repealed the earlier law and voided the land 

transactions. It was this measure that was at 

issue, and struck down, in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF le tc h e r .

Marshall’s opinion for the Court staked 

out three key propositions. The first was that 

the land grants authorized by the 1795 Act 

were contracts. “ [P]urchase[s]”  made “ in the 

year 1795, from the state of Geogia” were 

“contract[s] ... which w[ere] made in the 

form of a bill  passed by the legislature of that 

state.” 57

The second was that the 1796 Act re­

scinding those purchases was void:

It is, then, the unanimous opinion 

of the court, that, in this case, the 

estate having passed into the hands 

of a purchaser for a valuable con­

sideration, without notice, the state 

of Georgia was restrained, either by 

general principles which are com­

mon to our free institutions, or by 

the particular provisions of the con­

stitution of the United States, from 

passing a law whereby the estate 

of the plaintiff in the premises so 

purchased could be constitutionally 

and legally impaired and rendered 

null and void.58

The third was that the Court had the 

authority and responsibility to reach these 

results. The Contract Clause applied, even 

though these were state rather than purely 

private agreements. The Court, in turn, had 

the power to declare the state act unconstitu­

tional. This was, Marshall stressed, “ a ques­

tion of much delicacy, which ought seldom, 

if  ever, to be decided in the affirmative in 

a doubtful case.” 59 That said, “ [w]hen ... a 

law is in its nature a contract, when absolute 

rights have been vested in that contract, a re­

peal of the law cannot divest those rightsf.]” 60

F le tc h e r is a Constitutional Law 

warhorse, albeit one that is actually rarely 

reprinted in the casebooks, much less read. It 

is routinely cited for three propositions. The 

first is its supposedly novel, expansive

reading of the Contract Clause, given 

Marshall’s conclusion that the prohibition 

included within its ambit state measures, not 

simply private agreements. The second is that 

F le tc h e r was the first case in which the Court 

ruled that a state statute was unconstitutional. 

The third is that Justice William Johnson’s 

separate opinion, generally styled as a 

concurrence, was in fact a dissent.

The first two are simply wrong.

The notion that state measures could 

constitute contracts and that subsequent state 

enactments “ impairing”  them were void was 

established long before F le tc h e r . That pro­

cess began in 1792, when Chief Justice John 

Jay and Justice William Cushing, riding the 

circuits, held that “ a State have no right 

to make a law ... impairing the obligation 

of contracts, and therefore contrary to the 

Constitution of the United states.” 61 Similar 

sentiments were expressed by Justice William 

Patterson when he declared that a state statute 

“ impairs the obligation of a contract, and is 

therefore void.” 62 This then became a formal 

holding of the Court in H u id e k o p e r’s L e s s e e . 

in which Marshall stated in no uncertain 

terms that “ [t]his is a contract; and although 

the state is a party, it ought to be construed ac­

cording to those well-established principles, 

which regulate contracts generally.” 63

What about invalidating state statutes? 

One year before F le tc h e r , as part of what has 

been styled as the Olmstead Affair, the Court 

reviewed a Pennsylvania measure declaring 

that a federal circuit court opinion “ illegally 

usurped and [was] exercised in contradiction 

to the just rights of Pennsylvania in that 

suit” and “was null and void.” 64 Speaking 

for a unanimous Court, Marshall declared in 

U n i te d S ta te s v . P e te r s that

[i]f  the legislatures of the several 

states may, at will, annul the judg­

ments of the courts of the United 

States, and destroy the rights ac­

quired under these judgments, the 

constitution itself becomes a solemn
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mockery; and the nation is deprived 

of the means of enforcing its laws 

by the instrumentalities of its own 

tribunals.65

The Pennsylvania measure could not 

stand. “ [T]he order which this court is en­

joined to make by the high obligation of 

duty and of law, is not made without extreme 

regret at the necessity which induced the 

application. But it is a solemn duty, and 

therefore must be performed.” 66

State statutes and contracts? Invalidate 

state laws? Been there, done that.

It is nevertheless hardly surprising 

that these developments were attributed to WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
F le tc h e r and that the impulse to do so 

persists. One of the hallmarks of Marshall’s 

approach to matters constitutional was to em­

phasize the case at hand, eschewing reliance 

on precedent in favor of grand pronounce­

ments crafted in ways that presented them as

legal innovations. This was especially true in 

cases that carried both considerable consti­

tutional cachet and significant public impor­

tance. F le tc h e r was one such decision. The 

Yazoo land fraud had been a national cause 

celebre for decades. It had been widely dis­

cussed and debated and had consumed con­

siderable time and effort in Congress, which 

struggled in vain to craft a solution. Accord­

ingly, it is hardly surprising that the opin­

ion would be written, and subsequently de­

scribed by John Marshall himself, as break­

ing new ground.67 Indeed, in this respect 

F le tc h e r bears a strong resemblance to an­

other landmark Marshall opinion, M ’ C u l lo c h 

v. M a r y la n d , which did not in fact offer the 

first Court approval of the doctrine of implied 

powers, a construct initially recognized in

1805 and repeatedly embraced in subsequent
69cases.

The third F le tc h e r claim to fame, John­

son’s concurrence as dissent, is correct, at
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least as far as it goes. And raises the perplex­

ing question: why?

Johnson clearly agreed with the Court’s 

resolution of the dispute:

I do not hesitate to declare that a 

state does not possess the power of 

revoking its own grants.

When the legislature have once con­

veyed their interest or property in 

any subject to the individual, they 

have lost all control over it; have 

nothing to act upon; it has passed 

from them[.]70

He emphasized, however, that his “opin­

ion on this point is not founded on the provi­

sion in the constitution of the United States, 

relative to laws impairing the obligation of 

contracts.” 71 Rather, “ I do it on a general 

principle, on the reason and nature of things; 

a principle which will  impose laws even on 

the deity.” 72
That observation is puzzling, given that 

Marshall expressly invoked natural law, “ the 

general principles which are common to 

our free institutions.” 73 Why was this not 

enough?

One possible answer lies in Johnson’s 

belief that the Contract Clause employed 

“words ... of equivocal significance.” 74 He 

stressed that “ [wjhether the words, ‘acts 

impairing the obligation of contracts,’ can be 

construed to have the same force as must be 

given to the words ‘obligation and WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAe f fe c t of 

contracts,’ is the difficulty in my mind.” 75 

That was especially so since “ [t]he states and 

the United States are continually legislating 

on the subject of contracts,” dictating, ap­

parently properly, numerous rules that gov­

erned their formation, implementation, and 

effect.76

The subtleties of contracts and contract 

law are not my strengths. That said, these 

quibbles about the scope of the Contract 

Clause and concerns about “ obligations” as

opposed to “ effects” strike me as clearly 

that: quibbles.77 For example, Marshall rec­

ognized in F le tc h e r that Georgia had, and 

could enforce, “ rules of property which are 

common to all citizens of the United States”  

and “principles of equity which are acknowl­

edged in all our courts.” 78 As he explained 

two years later, there are, and can be ad­

ministered without implicating the Clause, 

“ requisites to the formation of a contract.” 79 

Indeed, in his only dissent in a constitutional 

case, Marshall declared in O g d e n v . S a u n d e r s 

that the state “ right to regulate contracts, to 

prescribe the rules by which they shall be 

evidenced, to prohibit such as may be deemed 

mischievous, is unquestionable, and has been 

universally exercised.” 80

The problem in F le tc h e r was not then 

one of formation or execution, but of repu­

diation. “ [Wjhen absolute rights have vested 

under that contract, a repeal of the law cannot 

divest those rights; and the act of annulling 

them.” 81

So why did Johnson feel obliged to write 

separately? Especially if the goal was to 

recognize the existence and force of natural 

law? Marshall had clearly embraced natu­

ral law, emphasizing that “ there are certain 

great principles of justice, whose authority 

is universally acknowledged, that ought not 

to be entirely disregarded” and that “ the 

constitution of the United states contains 

what may be deemed a bill of rights for 

the people of each state.” 82 These are not 

sops, inserted to assuage Johnson, secure his 

acquiescence, and make it possible to declare 

that it was “ the unanimous opinion of the 

court”  that the 1796 measure was void. They 

were, rather, consistent expressions of what 

Bill Nelson has characterized as Marshall’s 

nature as “ a traditionalist who believed in 

natural rights that pre-existed government 

and legislation.” 83

The answer ultimately lies in contexts 

already set forth: Marshall as Chief 

Justice, Jefferson’s hopes for Johnson,
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and the problems posed by unrealized 

expectations.

Two overarching considerations. First, 

it is important to recognize that Johnson 

joined the Court after WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM a r b u r y was decided. 

That decision created the predicates for what 

Jefferson would subsequently describe as a 

“ judiciary of the United States [that] is the 

subtle corps of sappers and miners constantly 

working under ground to undermine the 

foundations of our confederated fabric.” 84 It 

was, moreover, a Court that routinely spoke 

with a single voice, that of John Marshall. 

“An opinion is huddled up in conclave, 

perhaps by a majority of one, delivered as if  

unanimous, and with the silent acquiescence 

of lazy or timid associates, by a crafty chief 

judge, who sophisticates the law to his mind, 

by the turn of his own reasoning.” 8'

Second, during Johnson’s initial years on 

the Court there were few if  any decisions that 

drew Jefferson’s attention, much less his ire. 

This does not mean that the Court did not 

craft opinions and doctrines advancing key 

aspects of what we might call the Marshall 

Project. In 1805 and again in 1809 it was 

abundantly clear that the Court had embraced 

the “heresy of implied powers.” 86 But these 

decisions flew beneath the political and so­

cial radar. The one possible exception was 

the Burr Conspiracy and trial. In E x p a r te 

B o l iv ia n a n d E x p a r te S w a r tw o u t , Marshall 

held that the Court had the power to issue the 

writs of habeas corpus in question, arguing 

that “ the sound construction”  of the provision 

in the Judiciary Act involved “ is, that the 

true sense of the words is to be determined 

by the nature of the provision and by the 

context,” rather than a “strict grammatical 

construction.” 87

Jefferson was outraged, seeing in the 

process and result the continuing subversions 

wrought by Federalist judges entrenched by 

life tenure:

The fact is, that the federalists make

Burr’s cause their own, and exert

their whole influence to shield him 

from punishment... . [I]t  is unfortu­

nate that federalism is still predom­

inant in our judiciary department, 

which is consequently in opposi­

tion to the legislative and executive 

branches and is able to baffle their 

measures often.88

F le tc h e r accordingly provided a rare oppor­

tunity to probe and resolve issues that lay at 

the heart of Jefferson’s decision to nominate 

Johnson. Unfortunately, an already fraught 

situation was compounded by an opinion 

Johnson issued w'hile sitting on the Circuit 

Court in South Carolina.

Jefferson had secured passage of the 

Embargo Act of 1807 in response to vio­

lations of the United States’ neutrality by 

the warring European powers. The captain 

of a ship in the Charleston harbor applied 

for clearance papers. The request was denied 

and the owners sought a writ of mandamus 

allowing the ship to sail. Writing for himself 

and District Judge Thomas Bee, Johnson held 

that “ [t]he granting of clearances is left abso­

lutely to the discretion of the [port] collector; 

the right of detaining in cases which excite 

suspicion is given him, with a reference to 

the will  of the executive.” 89 Directions to the 

contrary in a letter from the Secretary of the 

Treasury (expressing Jefferson’s will) were 

not binding:

The officers of our government, 

from the highest to the lowest, are 

equally subjected to legal restraint; 

and it is consistently believed that 

all of them feel themselves equally 

incapable, as well from law as 

inclination, to attempt an unsanc­

tioned encroachment on individual 

liberty.90

Jefferson was not amused. In a letter 

to South Carolina Governor Charles Pinck­

ney, he argued that embargo determinations 

“should be as uniform as possible.” 91 The
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Charleston collector had “broke[n] down that 

barrier which we had endeavored to erect 

against favoritism, and furnished the grounds 

for the subsequent proceedings,” 92 that is, 

Johnson’s ruling. Jefferson believed that de­

cision had “ too many important bearings 

on the constitutional organization of our 

government to let it go off so carelessly.” 93 

He enclosed a letter written by Attorney 

General Caeser A. Rodney arguing that the 

writ was void and tried to enlist Pinckney’s 

assistance, expressing his desire that “ the 

business will  stop here, and that no similar 

case will  occur.” 94

Johnson responded, at length. He did not 

question Jefferson’s right to seek legal advice. 

“But when that opinion is published to the 

world”  he saw “no other purpose than to se­

cure the public opinion on the side of the ex­

ecutive and in opposition to the judiciary.” 95 

As the presiding judge of the court that issued 

the opinion in question, he had an obligation 

to speak. And he did, declaring that “ [tjhere 

never existed a stronger case for calling forth 

the powers of a court; and whatever censure

the executive sanction may draw upon us, 

nothing can deprive us of the consciousness 

of having acted with firmness, impartiality 

and an honest intention to discharge our 

duty.” 96

It was a remarkable episode and ex­

change, redolent of the extra-judicial dia­

logue between the Richmond Junto and Mar­

shall that broke out in the wake of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM 'C u l lo c h . 

But it was also an exercise that placed 

Johnson at stark odds with his patron. The 

net effect: he was suspect, presumably now a 

card-carrying member of the corps of “sap­

pers and miners constantly working under 

ground to undermine the foundations of our 

confederated fabric.” 97 F le tc h e r accordingly 

gave Johnson what must have been seen as 

a welcome opportunity to repair the breech. 

But he was torn, trying to serve three masters: 

himself; his patron, Thomas Jefferson; and 

the individual with whom he had cast much 

of his judicial lot, John Marshall.

The line he walked was carefully cal­

culated. He clearly adhered to his personal 

conviction that the Court should not parse the
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Constitution “ [t]o give it the general effect 

of a restriction of the state powers in favor 

of private rights.” 98 He also aligned himself 

with Marshall, stating in no uncertain terms 

that “ [t]here is reason to believe, from the 

letters of Publius, which are well known to be 

entitled to the highest respect, that the object 

of the convention was to afford a general 

protection of individual rights against the acts 

of the state legislatures.” 99

Most importantly, by emphasizing his 

reliance on natural law, he placed himself 

firmly  in Jefferson’s camp. The existence and 

importance of natural law was a persistent 

theme for Jefferson. In 1790, for example, he 

stated:

Every man, and every body of men 

on earth, possesses the right of self- 

government. They receive it with 

their being from the hand of nature. 

Individuals exercise it by their sin­

gle will;  collections of men by that 

of their majority; for the law of the 

majority is the natural law of every 

society of men.100

These rights were innate and superior, 

“not left to the feeble and sophistical in­

vestigations of reason, but ... impressed 

on the sense of every man.” 101 It was 

“ [fjundamental to Jefferson’s political philos­

ophy that no government could legitimately 

transgress natural rights.” 102 And, as L. K. 

Caldwell has stressed, “no single individual is 

more responsible than Thomas Jefferson for 

the persistence of the natural law concept in 

American life.” 103

Johnson was sending a clear signal that 

he was aligning himself with a core Jefferson 

value and repudiating Marshall’s “ fraudu­

lent use of the Constitution.” 104 He avoided 

Marshall’s “constitutional twistifications,” 105 

finding a welcome refuge in Jefferson’s “ fun­

damental principles of the republic.” 106 After 

all, if natural law constituted “ a principle 

which will  impose laws even on the deity,” 107

H er post-co llege  experiences  as a socia l  w orker  and  

ph ilan throp is t  gave C harlo tte  A nita  W hitney  a deep  

understand ing  of poverty .  The w ealthy  suffrag is t  be ­

cam e  a com m itted  socia lis t  and  then  jo ined  the  nascent  

C om m unist  Labor  Party  in  1919.

it must be binding on John Marshall, a mere 

mortal.

Johnson subsequently tempered his en­

thusiasm for natural law, in particular its 

application in cases parsing the Contract 

Clause. In WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAO g d e n , for example, he stated that 

“ the right and power” of contract “will be 

found to be measured neither by mortal law 

alone, nor universal law alone, nor by the 

laws of society alone, but by a combination 

of the three.” 108 That was not the case 

in F le tc h e r , and Johnson’s opinion remains 

one of the two most prominent examples 

of concurrences that operate as dissents, of 

agreeing, disagreeably.

Whitney v. California: A ttack,  or  
A bdication?

This brings me to our second major 

touch point, the Brandeis “concurrence” in 

W h i tn e y . Once again, the general outlines
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of the case are familiar. Charlotte Anita 

Whitney was a member of “an influential and 

refined family.” 109 After college she engaged 

in extensive social work in New York and 

charitable undertakings in California, expe­

riences that gave her a deep understanding 

of the ravages of poverty and the problems 

common workers confronted in an era where 

labor had few if  any rights and attempts to 

organize and bargain were viewed, at best, 

as anti-American. A committed socialist, 

she eventually joined the nascent American 

communist movement and, in the words of 

her indictment,

did ... unlawfully, willfully,  wrong­

fully, deliberately and feloniously 

organize and assist in organizing, 

and was, is, and knowingly became 

a member of an organization, soci­

ety, group and assemblage of per­

sons organized and assembled to ad­

vocate, teach, aid and abet criminal 

syndicalism.110

The Court believed Whitney’s member­

ship in the California branch of the Commu­

nist Labor Party of America and participation 

in a November, 1919 convention of that group 

meant that she knew of and embraced that 

organization’s “propaganda” and tactics, in 

particular “ the value of the strike as a po­

litical weapon.” 111 The California Supreme 

Court, for example, had emphasized that 

party writings “compel[] the proletariat to 

make use of the means of battle, which will  

concentrate its entire energies, namely, mass 

action, with its logical result, direct conflict 

with the governmental machinery in open 

combat. All other methods, such as revo­

lutionary use of bourgeois parliamentarism, 

will be of only secondary significance.” 112 

It was irrelevant that the resolution Whitney 

actually signed “ fully  recognize[d] the value 

of political action as a means of spreading 

communist propaganda.” 113 As the Califor­

nia court noted with approval, the party had 

been found to be “of such a character as to

Justice  B randeis ’s  concurrence  in  Whitney v. California 

(1927) has also  been characterized  as a d issent.  

B randeis  (p ic tured)  said  he tried  not  to d issent  in  

“ ord inary ”  cases  w here  “ certa in ty  &  defin iteness ”  are  

requ ired,  but  he  drew  the  line  at  “ constitu tional  cases ”  

because  he  believed  noth ing  is  ever  settled .

easily lead a WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAr e a s o n a b le man to conclude that 

the purpose of the Communist Party is to 

accomplish its end, namely, the capture and 
destruction of the state, as now constituted, 

by force and violence.” 114

The Court, in an opinion by Justice 

Edward Sanford, sustained her conviction:

[Tjhat a State in the exercise of 

its police power may punish those 

who abuse this freedom [of speech] 

by utterances inimical to the public 

welfare, tending to incite crime, dis­

turb the public peace, or endanger 

the foundations of organized gov­

ernment and threaten its overthrow 

by unlawful means, is not open to 

question.115

The California legislature had declared 

that knowing membership in any such orga­

nization “ involves such danger to the public 

peace and security of the state, that these 

acts should be penalized in the exercise of 

its police power.” 116 The W h i tn e y major­

ity believed that “ [t]hat determination must 

be given great weight” and that “ [ejvery 

presumption is to be indulged in favor of the



1 2 6YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

validity of the statute.” 117 Indeed, the fact 

that this constituted group action “ involves 

even greater danger to the public peace and 

security than the isolated utterances and acts 

of individuals is clear.” 118

Justice Brandeis, joined by Holmes, 

concurred. The opinion is justly revered 

as an extended endorsement of the vi­

tal role that free speech plays in our 

society:

[Fjreedom to think as you will  and 

to speak as you think are means in­

dispensable value and to the discov­

ery and spread of political truth; that 

without free speech and assembly 

discussion would be futile; that with 

them, discussion affords adequate 

protection against the dissemination 

of noxious doctrine; that the great­

est menace to freedom is an inert 

people; that public discussion is a 

political duty; and that this should 

be a fundamental principle of the 

American government.119

Further:

Fear of serious injury cannot alone 

justify suppression of free speech 

and assembly. Mean feared witches 

and burnt women. It is the function 

of speech to free men from the 

bondage of irrational fears.120

The fact that the legislature had 

concluded otherwise was irrelevant. “ [T]he 

enactment of the statute cannot alone 

establish the facts which are essential to 

its validity.” 121

Given this and more, why was this a 

concurrence and not a dissent? Most scholars 

credit the explanation proffered, that pro­

cedural defaults in the litigation strategy 

below doomed Charlotte Whitney’s appeal. 

Emphasizing that “ the result of... an enquiry 

[such as this] may depend upon specific facts 

of the particular case,” 122 Brandeis stressed 

that Whitney “did not claim that... there was

no clear and present danger of serious evil, 

nor did she request that the existence of these 

conditions of a valid measure thus restricting 

the rights of free speech and assembly be 

passed on by the court and jury.” 123 That 

“might have been made the important issues 

in the case” and “ [s]he might have required 

that the issue be determined either by the 

court or the jury.” 124

She did not, and “ there was evidence on 

which the court or jury might have found that 

such danger existed.” 125 In particular

there was ... testimony which 

tended to establish the existence of a 

conspiracy, on the part of the mem­

bers of the International Workers of 

the World, to commit present serious 

crimes; and likewise to show that 

such a conspiracy would be fur­

thered by the activity of the society 

of which Miss Whitney was a mem­

ber. Under these circumstances the 

judgment of the state court cannot 

be disturbed.126

Indeed, as the California Court of Ap­

peals emphasized, Charlotte Whitney’s char­

acter and intelligence worked against her:

That this defendant did not realize 

that she was giving herself over to 

forms and expressions of disloyalty 

and was, to say the least of it, lend­

ing her presence and the influence 

of her character and position as a 

woman of refinement and culture to 

an organization whose purposes and 

sympathies savored of treason, is... 

past belief.127

The explanation strikes me as plausible. 

Brandeis had a well-deserved reputation as 

a Progressive who “ favored bold judicial 

innovation to bring individual rights.” 128 For 

example, in his celebrated dissent in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN e w 

S ta te I c e C o . v . L ie b m a n n he did not simply 

extol the ability of “a single courageous state 

...to serve as a laboratory ... to try novel
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social and economic experiments without 

risk to the rest of the country.” 129 He also 

cautioned that the Court, “ in the exercise of 

[its] high power”  of judicial review “must be 

ever on our guard, lest we erect our prejudices 

into legal principles. If  we would guide by 

the light of reason, we must let our minds be 

bold.” 130

That said, Brandeis was also a staunch 

believer in judicial restraint. In WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA s h w a n d e r 

v. T e n n e s s e e V a l le y A u th o r i ty , three of the 

six rules he catalogued regarding the need 

to “avoid passing ... on constitutional ques­

tions”  spoke directly to the approach taken in 

W h i tn e y :

2 . The Court will not “anticipate 

a question of constitutional law in 

advance of the necessity of deciding 

it.”

3. The Court will not “ formulate 

a rule of constitutional law broader 

than is required by the precise facts 

to which it is applied.”

5. The Court will  not pass on the 

validity of a statute upon complaint 

of one who fails to show that he is 

injured by its operation.131

Tellingly, as Professors Ronald K. L. 

Collins and David M. Skover have stressed, 

“ [fjrom the beginning, W h i tn e y was not 

a case that Brandeis wanted to hear.” 132 

Rather, much of what we see in the Brandeis 

opinion in W h i tn e y was actually crafted as 

a dissent in a prior case, R u th e n b e r g v . 

M ic h ig a n .™

Charles Ruthenberg was a communist 

and, like Charlotte Whitney, attended a con­

vention of the party. No overt acts ensued, 

but as “a voluntary vassal of the Third 

International ... he [wa]s to be judged 

by the declared policies, fixed doctrines, 

and commanded tactics of the Communist 

Party of America, section of the Communist 

International.” 134 As such, he

was acting under orders from

Moscow. He was pledged to obey 

such orders, and, under this record, 

it taxes credulity too far to believe 

he was endeavoring to bring 

communist doctrines and tactics 

within the law. Such doctrines and 

tactics, formulated in Russia and 

promulgated here, are without the 

law.135

Ruthenberg appealed. The Court heard 

oral argument and was prepared to sustain 

the conviction. Brandeis prepared a dissent, 

but Ruthenberg’s death rendered the case 

moot and it was never issued.136 Instead, it 

provided the foundations for what became the 

W h i tn e y concurrence, issued in place of the 

text Brandeis had prepared with the expecta­

tion that R u th e n b e r g would be decided. That 

draft declared that “ [fjor reasons stated by 

me in R u th e n b e r g v . M ic h ig a n , decided this 

day, the [California] statute is, in my opinion, 

invalid, if  applied at a time when there did 

not exist clear and present danger as there 

defined.” 137 And it reiterated the belief that 

Whitney “might have,” but did not, request 

“ that either the court or jury determine” the 

question of whether the California statute 

was appropriately applied, foreclosing the 

option of reaching the merits.

Brandeis did not then believe that Char­

lotte Whitney was guilty in any meaning­

ful sense. Rather, he crafted a concurring 

opinion in which he explained why—with a 

proper record and appeal—she presented a 

compelling case for clarification of the so- 

called “clear and present danger” test and 

why, invoking the proper standard, he would 

have found that “ [t]he [mere] fact that speech 

is likely to result in some violence or in 

destruction of property is not enough to 

justify its suppression.” 138

That focus on the test that supposedly 

applied is one of the three reasons why I 

believe it is necessary to treat the Brandeis 

opinion with caution, even in the face of
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claims that it is “ the greatest dissent ever 

written”  and “ is the best example we have of 

what a dissent can do.” 139

First, it is important to understand what 

Brandeis did and did not say given how the 

clear and present danger test was formu­

lated, evolved, and consistently applied by the 

Court. Second, the two Chief Justices in place 

during this process, Edward D. White and 

William H. Taft, agreed with a key aspect 

of the John Marshall agenda, consistently 

expressing their antipathy toward dissent. Fi­

nally, there is reason to believe that Brandeis 

found it wise to temper his approach in 

light of the political, economic, and social 

conditions that prevailed during the litigation 

and resolution of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW h i tn e y .

The clear and present danger test, pro­

mulgated in S c h e n c k v. U n i te d S ta te s , is 

deceptively simple:

The question in every case is 

whether the words used are used in 

such circumstances and are of such 

a nature as to create a clear and 

present danger that they will  bring 

about the substantive evils that [the 

government] has a right to prevent.

It is a question of proximity and 

degree.140

Grounded in the assumption that the 

First Amendment “cannot have been, and 

obviously was not, intended to give immunity 

for every possible use of language,” 141 the 

question is whether it is obvious that the 

words spoken or conveyed risk harms that 

society has a right to prevent. Whether or 

not those harms actually occur is irrelevant. 

Words have certain “natural tendencies] and 

reasonably probable effect[s],” 142 and they 

would not “have been [uttered] unless [they] 

had been intended to have some effect.” 143

Each of the opinions in this initial 

sequence was written by Justice Holmes. 

They were certainly notable, marking as they 

did a departure from the restrictive view 

of the free speech guarantee that Holmes

set out in P a t te r s o n v. C o lo r a d o , where he 

embraced the English common law rule that 

the “main purpose” of that provision was 

“ to prevent all such p r e v io u s r e s t r a in ts upon 

publication ... and ... not [to] prevent the 

subsequent punishment of such as may be 

deemed contrary to the public welfare.” 144 

They also led to a remarkable sequence of 

events, through which a chance encounter 

with District Judge Learned Hand initiated a 

protracted campaign to convince Holmes to 

reexamine and refine his approach.145

The problem: on what basis do we 

determine that the danger in question is 

both “clear” a n d “present” ? As parsed by a 

majority of the Court, the test was reduced 

to what has aptly been characterized as a 

“bad tendencies” inquiry.146 What, accord­

ing to the government, is the “manifest”  

or “plain” purpose of a given statement?147 

In particular, was it “propaganda,” a value­

laden descriptor that takes certain forms of 

speech outside the quest for truth, freighted 

as it is with biases and emotionally laden 

language designed to persuade rather than en­

lighten? In A b r a m s , for example, the majority 

summed up its rationale as follows:

[T]he plain purpose of their propa­

ganda was to excite, at the supreme 

crisis of the war, disaffection, sedi­

tion, riots, and, as they hoped, rev­

olution, in this country for the pur­

pose of embarrassing and if  possible 

defeating the military plans of the 

Government in Europe.148

The only question then was “whether 

there was some evidence, competent and 

substantial, before the jury, fairly tending to 

sustain the verdict.” 149 And that, the Court 

emphasized, was “ a question to be deter­

mined ... by the jury at the trial.” 150

This approach was coupled with a rule 

of deference to legislative and prosecutorial 

judgments about whether certain types of 

speech are simply beyond the pale. As the 

G it lo w  majority stressed:
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By enacting the present statute 

the State has determined, through 

its legislative body, that utterances 

advocating the overthrow of orga­

nized government by force, vio­

lence and unlawful means, are so 

inimical to the general welfare and 

involve such danger of substantive 

evil that they may be penalized in 

the exercise of its police power. That 

determination must be given great 

weight. Every presumption is to be 

indulged in favor of the validity of 

the statute.151

In a similar vein, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW h i tn e y majority 

emphasized that the California legislature 

had found that the acts Charlotte Whitney 

was accused of “ involvej] such danger to the 

public peace and security of the state, that 

these acts should be penalized in the exercise 

of its police power.” 152 Once again, “ [tjhat 

determination must be given great weight”  

and “ [ejvery presumption is to be indulged 

in favor of the validity of the statute,” a 

result bolstered by the fact “ [tjhat there is a 

wide-spread conviction of the necessity for 

legislation of this character ... indicated by 

the adoption of similar statutes in several 

other States.” 153

Holmes protested in his A b r a m s dissent 

that the defendants in that case were “poor 

and puny anonymities ... made to suffer not 

for what the indictment alleges but for the 

creed that they avow.” 154 There were no overt 

acts, harmful or otherwise. “Th[ej indictment 

is founded wholly upon the publication of 

two leaflets.” 155 There was no “ p r e s e n t dan­

ger of im m e d ia te evil,” 156 no “ forcible act of 

opposition to some proceeding of the United 

States in pursuance of the war.” 157 The proper 

response was, accordingly, to allow Abrams 

and his colleagues to indulge in the “ free 

trade in ideas,” with “ the best test of truth”  

being “ the power of the thought to get itself 

accepted in the competition of the market,”  

with “ truth ... the only ground upon which

their wishes safely can be carried out.” 158 

But that was not the approach that the Court 

embraced and dissident voices found scant 

comfort in the courts in the decision’s wake.

The W h i tn e y concurrence was then 

grounded in two assumptions. The first is 

that the “ legislative declaration” set forth 

in the California statute “creates merely a 

rebuttable presumption that th[e necessary] 

conditions have been satisfied.” 159 The sec­

ond is that the problem could be cured by 

making it clear that “ [i]n order to support a 

finding of clear and present danger it must be 

shown either that im m e d ia te serious violence 

was to be expected or was advocated, or that 

past conduct furnished reason to believe that 

such advocacy was then contemplated.” 160

Both of those would clearly have helped 

advance free speech values if  embraced. But 

neither accounted for a reality within the 

clear and present danger test I have not yet 

addressed: its admonition that the speech 

in question is suspect if  it is of a certain 

“nature.” 161 The devastating impact of that 

portion of the test was driven home in G it lo w , 

where the majority swept back the Wizard’s 

drape and fessed up to what really mattered: 

certain types of speech, by their very nature, 

“ involve such danger of substantive evil that 

they may be punished.” 162

In effect a form of strict liability, this 

principle revealed a core, and in the hands of 

the majority, dispositive assumption: certain 

forms of speech—communism, labor orga­

nizing, and the like—are palpably and intol­

erably un-American. This was subsequently 

made unmistakably clear in D e n n is v . U n i te d 

S la te s , where Chief Justice Fred Vinson 

stressed that “ [sjpeech is not an absolute, 

above and beyond control by the legislature 

when its judgment, subject to review here, is 

that certain kinds of speech are so undesir­

able as to warrant criminal sanction.” 163 The 

proper approach under the clear and present 

danger test was, accordingly, “ [ijn  each case 

[courts] must ask whether the gravity of
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the ‘evil,’ discounted by its improbability, 

justifies such invasion of free speech as is 

necessary to avoid the danger.” 164

The line of development between WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S c h e n c k , W h i tn e y , and D e n n is was uneven. 

In D e J o n g e v . O r e g o n , for example, the 

Court arguably eviscerated the majority 

judgment in W h i tn e y when it held that “mere 

participation in a peaceable assembly and 

a lawful public discussion [cannot serve] 

as the basis for a criminal charge.” 165 In 

B r id g e s v . C a l i fo r n ia , in turn, it seemingly 

accomplished much of what Brandeis and 

Holmes sought when it declared that “ [w]hat 

finally emerges from the ‘clear and present 

danger’ cases is a working principle that the 

substantive evil must be extremely serious 

and the degree of imminence extremely high 

before utterances can be punished.” 166

Any hope that D e J o n g e and B r id g e s 

worked positive change was belied by D e n­

n is and subsequent cases, which embraced 

a regime within which, for example, “ [a] 

member [of a subversive organization] may 

indicate his approval of a criminal enterprise 

by the very fact of his membership without 

thereby necessarily committing himself to 

further it by any act or course of conduct 

whatsoever.” 167 Accordingly, it was not until 

1969 that the Court finally fashioned an 

approach that fulfilled the promise of the 

W h i tn e y concurrence. Consistent with that 

opinion’s expectation that “ immediate serious 

violence was to be expected,” 168 it held

that the constitutional guarantee of 

free speech and free press do not 

permit a State to forbid or prescribe 

advocacy of the use of force or of 

a law violation except where such 

advocacy is directed to inciting or 

producing imminent lawless action 

and is likely to incite or produce 

such action.169

The original Brandeis opinion accord­

ingly fell short in at least two respects. It did 

not mention—much less discuss and account

for—the G it lo w  confession that certain types 

of speech were simply deemed intolerable 

in this nation. More tellingly, it continued 

to embrace the formulation that all that 

was needed was some “ r e a s o n a b le ground 

to fear that serious evil will result if free 

speech is practiced.” 170 Brandeis did stress 

that “ [t]he right of free speech, the right to 

teach and the right of assembly, of course, are 

fundamental rights.” 171 But it is important to 

recognize that “ fundamental rights” at that 

time did not enjoy the degree of protection 

developed in the wake of U n i te d S ta te s v. 

C a r o le n e P r o d u c ts C o m p a n y .m In M e y e r 

v. S ta te o f N e b r a s k a , for example, a case 

Brandeis cited, the operative standard was 

whether the legislative act in question is “ar­

bitrary or without reasonable relation to some 

purpose within the competency of the State to 

effect.” 173 Restrictions on speech of the sort 

sanctioned in W h i tn e y reflected, accordingly, 

measures that had a “ reasonable relation to 

some purpose within the competency of the 

State.” 174

Please do not get me wrong. I agree 

that in most reasonable respects the Brandeis 

opinion is a devastating attack on free speech 

doctrine as it stood at the time. In that 

respect, it merits the praise it has garnered 

and its characterization as a dissent. That 

said, when examined with care, it fails to 

accomplish what it putatively set out to do 

and required further action by the Court to 

fulfill  its promise.

A second important reality: Chief Jus­

tices White and Taft both embraced John 

Marshall’s admonition that dissent was to be 

avoided if  at all possible. White, for example, 

stressed very early in his tenure on the Court, 

prior to becoming Chief Justice, that “ [t]he 

only purpose which an elaborate dissent can 

accomplish, if  any, is to weaken the effect 

of the opinion of the majority, and thus en­

gender want of confidence in the conclusion 

of courts of last resort.” 175 He is reported 

to have said, shortly after being elevated, 

that he was “going to stop this dissenting
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business,” 176 and during his tenure as chief 

ninety-five percent of the Court’s cases were 

decided without a dissent.177 Taft was of a 

similar mind, stating that “ I don’ t approved 

of dissents generally,” 178 characterizing most 

of them as “ a form of egotism” that “don’ t 

do any good, and only weaken the prestige 

of the Court.” 179 Declaring that “ [i]t  is much 

more important what the Court thinks than 

what one thinks,” 180 he singled out Brandeis 

as an especially egregious offender, stating 

that “his ultimate purpose is to break down 

the prestige of the Court.” 181

These internal pressures were com­

pounded by assaults in the political arena. 

Senator Robert La Follette of Wisconsin 

made dissent an issue in his Progressive 

Party campaign for the President in 1924. 

The American Bar Association in turn de­

clared in that same year that a judge should 

not

yield to the pride of opinion or 

value more highly his individual 

reputation than that of the court to 

which he should be loyal. Except in 

cases of conscientious difference of 

opinion on fundamental principle, 

dissenting opinions should be dis­

couraged in courts of last resort.182

Brandeis was aware of and sensitive 

to this, noting that “ [t]he whole policy is 

to suppress dissents.” 183 He conceded that 

“ [i]n ordinary cases there is a good deal 

to be said for not having dissents. You 

want certainty & definiteness & it doesn’ t 

matter terribly how you decided, so long 

as it is settled.” 184 But he drew the line at 

“constitutional cases,”  where nothing is ever 

settled—“unless statesmanship is settled &  at 

an end.” 185 WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW h i tn e y was one such case, where 

he was able to temper his opinion by styling it 

as a concurrence, even as he pursued his goal 

of seeing that “ [cjlauses guaranteeing to the 

individual protection against specific abuses 

of power ... have a . . . capacity of adaptation 

to a changing world.” 186

Finally, there are sound reasons to be­

lieve that Brandeis may have deliberately 

pulled some of his punches. I freely ad­

mit that I now enter the realm of sheer 

speculation. It is nevertheless important to 

take into account the contexts within which 

W h i tn e y was decided and that prevailed when 

subsequent decisions were issued.

For example, the legal establishment in 

the 1920s and early 1930s did not share 

today’s enthusiasm for the A b r a m s dissent 

and the W h i tn e y concurrence.187 Professor 

Edward S. Corwin, embracing the rule of 

deference, declared in the wake of A b r a m s 

that it was entirely appropriate that “ the cause 

of freedom of speech and of the press is 

largely in the custody of legislative majorities 

and of juries, which, so far as there is 

evidence to show, is just where the framers 

of the Constitution intended it to be.” 188 The 

dissent was described by another individual 

as “unfortunate and indeed deplorable,” a 

“ result [that] approaches a positive menace 

to society and this Government” that would 

be “seize[d] upon ... as propaganda” and 

used to “destroy[] ... the beneficial result of 

the conviction of these defendants and the 

otherwise salutary effect of the affirmance of 

that conviction by a majority of this great 

court.” 189 And Day Kimbrell, a student editor 

of the H a r v a r d L a w R e v ie w— subsequently 

hired by Holmes to serve as his clerk— 

maintained that “ legal toleration pushed to 

its ultimate conclusion becomes impotence, 

self-destruction.” 190

The most extensive attack was mounted 

by John Henry Wigmore, who characterized 

Abrams and his associates as a “band of alien 

parasites”  whose actions were “cowardly and 

dastardly.” 191 Describing what Holmes sanc­

tioned as “Freedom of Thuggery,” and dis­

paraging the notion of “ free trade in ideas,”  

Wigmore declared that it

mean[s] that those who desire to 

gather and set in action a band 

of thugs and murderers may freely
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go about publicly circulating and 

orating upon the attractions of loot, 

proposing a plan of action for 

organized thuggery, and enlisting 

their converts, yet not be consti­

tutionally interfered with until the 

gathered band of thugs actually sets 

the torch and lifts the rifle.192

Free speech, he concluded, “ represents 

the unfair protection much desired by im­

patient and fanatical minorities—fanatically 

committed to some revolutionary belief, and 

impatient of the usual process of rationally 

converting the majority.” 193

The reaction to WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW h i tn e y was admittedly 

less strident, but by no means celebratory. 

The N e w Y o r k T im e s , for example, with no 

hint of criticism, reported that the Court had 

“upheld the constitutionality of the California 

Criminal Syndicalism law, which imposes 

heavy fines and terms of imprisonment for 

violence in the furtherance of political causes 

or an industrial dispute.” 194 The Court, it 

stressed, “held that freedom of speech did not 

constitute unbridled license for every possi­

ble use of language, as was held in the Gitlow 

case from New York.” 195 The concurring 

opinion, in turn, was neither discussed nor 

quoted, characterized simply as an expression 

of “ regret”  that the two were “unable to rule 

on [the] legality of Miss Whitney’s acts.” 196 

California Governor C. C. Young, in turn, 

issued an executive pardon, sparing Char­

lotte Whitney the burden of imprisonment.197 

But he did not embrace any notion that 

the underlying statute was constitutionally 

suspect or that future prosecutions should be 

avoided. Rather, emphasizing that the “ law 

under which she was convicted” was “of 

... undoubted constitutionality,” he focused 

on Charlotte Whitney herself, characterizing 

her as a sympathetic figure and stressing 

that “her imprisonment might easily serve 

a harmful purpose by reviving the waning 

spirits of radicals, through making her a
, , 1 Q O

martyr.

Those sentiments persisted on the Court 

and in the body politic. As Robert Cover 

has emphasized, “ [t]he conservatives had 

resolved to accept the force of law, the 

voice of the then dominant group in the 

community.” 199 There was “ a wide-spread 

conviction of the necessity”  for such legisla­

tion and prosecutions,”  a justified and justifi­

able rejection of “unrestricted and unbridled 

license giving immunity for every possible 

use of language.” 200 The need to remain 

vigilant in the face of contrary claims, Taft 

emphasized in 1929, meant that even though 

he was becoming “older and slower and less 

acute and more confused ... I must stay on 

the Court in order to prevent the Bolsheviki 

from getting control.” 201

This was the norm for much of the legal 

establishment. The views of the so-called 

Four Horseman were the rule not the excep­

tion. “Congress,” they declared, was never 

intended “ to become a parliament of the 

whole people, subject to no restrictions save 

such as are self-imposed.” 202 Indeed, it is 

worth recalling that in December, 1934 John 

W. Davis, speaking on behalf of the American 

Bar Association, delivered a broad-based 

attack on the New Deal, declaring that

No line or syllable of the Constitu­

tion grants to the Federal Govern­

ment a roving commission over the 

whole field of social betterment.

The Government set up for us in

Washington is not and was never in­

tended to be an eleemosynary insti­

tution or a foundation for miscella­

neous charities. It was not designed 

as a universal parent or an earthly 

Providence.203

There is an understandable impulse to 

believe that as the nation got deeper into the 

1920s many of the fears expressed during 

and in the immediate wake of World War 

I dissipated. Imperial Germany had been 

vanquished and Wilson’s prized League of
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Nations had not yet proven to be a false 

hope for peace. The Russian Revolution and 

the assassination of Tsar Nicholas II and his 

family were fading memories. The American 

Expeditionary Force sent to Siberia to aid 

the White Russian troops had returned home 

from that futile and thankless task. Rapid 

industrial growth in turn fueled widespread 

prosperity and an abundance of consumer 

goods. And, for better or worse, the trans­

portation revolution spawned by Henry Ford 

and his assembly line innovations was well 

underway.

That said, fears of communism, orga­

nized labor, and the like persisted. Even 

the most cursory review of the major news­

papers of the day—both nationally and in 

California—reveal persistent reports of the 

evils of socialism and acts of violence asso­

ciated with the so-called radical groups.

On January 22, 1926, for example, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
N e w Y o r k T im e s reported that “communists”  

were “boring into Negro labor,”  “directed by 

the Communist Internationale in Moscow as 

part of its world-wide propaganda.” 204 On 

October 22, 1926, the banner headline in 

the S a n F r a n c is c o E x a m in e r shrilled, “Third 

Terror Thug Caught, Confesses: 4 Beaten 

with Hammer in Strike Riots.” 205 On April 

18, 1927—one month before W h i tn e y was 

decided—the T im e s reported that the Amer­

ican Legion had issued a report condemning 

radicalism in public schools,

submitting] that it is entirely out of 

place for discussions tending to cre­

ate disregard for the United States 

government to be had in an educa­

tional institution supported by taxes. 

Especially is that true when there 

is so great a presumption that the 

organization concerned is identified 

with a “parent body” whose aims 

and objects are the undermining of 

our form of government.206

Indeed, anticipating widespread campus 

support for socialism and communism in the

United States in the 1930s, the President 

of the Civil Legion declared “ that college- 

trained men and women constitute  ̂the most 

dangerous element in the Communist move­

ment and that Communist doctrines [a]re now 

preached by renegade Americans instead of 

the foreigners who formerly upheld them.” 207 

Even American labor unions—acutely aware 

that they themselves were suspect—felt com­

pelled to “declare war on the Reds,” 208 

making it clear that they would take drastic 

action to resist union infiltration ordered and 

supported by “Soviet Moscow.” 209

Brandeis and Holmes were surely aware 

of this. I am not suggesting that what 

emerged in W h i tn e y was a calculated decision 

to abandon free speech principles in the face 

of political, economic, and social disorder. 

I am submitting that Brandeis in particular 

was savvy enough to grasp the risks posed 

by a standard of review for trial courts and 

juries that turned on subjective judgments, 

grounded in assessments of whether a given 

set of facts suggested that speech posed a 

“ reasonable”  prospect of undesirable results. 

Indeed, as he noted in his N e w S ta te I c e 

C o m p a n y dissent, “ [m]an is weak and his 

judgment is at best fallible.” 210

It is one thing for the Supreme Court to 

promulgate a rule. It is quite another for the 

judicial machinery below to implement it. As 

Professor Christina Well has noted, “ [fjaced 

with a threat to the nation, fear and preju­

dice generate demand for action.” 211 Judges, 

much less juries, are not exempt. They “are, 

after all, human. They remain subject to 

the same passions, fears, and prejudices that 

sweep the rest of the nation.” 212

Too often, trial courts and juries fail 

to act with what Professor Vincent Blasi 

has characterized as a necessary “civic 

courage.” 213 As Learned Hand noted in his 

exchange of views with Holmes:

All  I say is, that since the cases actu­
ally occur when men are excited and 

since juries are especially clannish
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groups ... it is very questionable 

whether the test of motive is not 

a dangerous test. Juries wont much 

regard the difference between the 

probable result of the words and the 

purposes of the utterer. In any case, 

unless one is rather set in confor­

mity, it will  serve to intimidate,— 

to throw a scare into,—many a man 

who might moderate the storms of 

popular feeling. I know it did in 

1918.214

It is important to keep in mind that con­

ditions had changed significantly when both WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
D e J o n g e and B r id g e s reached the Court. In 

1937 the nation was emerging from the rav­

ages of the Great Depression. The National 

Labor Relations Act had both passed and 

been declared constitutional, giving workers 

the legal right to organize and bargain. Soviet 

Russia, in turn, was seen as a somewhat 

benign entity, one whose governmental sys­

tem remained anathema but whose internal 

problems made it much less a threat. Indeed, 

when B r id g e s was decided just one day after 

the Pearl Harbor attack the United States was 

about to embark on its Great Crusade against 

the evils of Hitler’s Germany, firmly  aligned 

with its new partner and best friend, Stalin’s 

Soviet Union. And D e n n is , with its shameful 

retreat, was issued at the height of the Red 

Scare, a time when courage and conviction 

were in decidedly short supply.

C onclus ion

What then can we say about opinions 

styled one way that read quite another? In 

particular, about Johnson in F le tc h e r and 

Brandeis in W h i tn e y ?

They are, to my way of thinking, stellar 

exemplars of judicial craftsmanship, efforts 

to bring together competing strands of law 

and fact and weave an explanation balancing 

divergent needs and interests. For Johnson, 

the goal was to meet the demands of multiple 

masters, even as he strove to remain true

to his principles. In a similar vein, Brandeis 

embraced his abiding sense of the need for 

judicial restraint, albeit charting an initial 

path toward a future within which free speech 

would enjoy the protections required in a 

society that values both the quest for truth 

and the need for public order.

Both wrote with care. They avoided 

the temptation to voice harsh criticisms of 

their brethren and were restrained in their 

approach. They did not write as “gladiator[s] 

making a last stand against the lions.” 215 The 

opinions served different yet complementary 

purposes. Johnson sought redemption, even 

as he laid out a different vision of the source 

of the rights at issue. Brandeis in turn penned 

an essay on what the law of free speech 

should aspire to be, as opposed to what it was 

at the time.

The opinions they fashioned endure 

and command our respect precisely because 

they are agreeably disagreeable. They were 

crafted by judicial statesmen in ways that 

contrast sharply with strident dissents that 

too often chart different and less sympathetic 

courses. Theirs remains a road less traveled, 

all the more remarkable for that fact and as 

such worthy of our attention and respect.
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C hief Justice M elville W eston Fuller 
and the G reat M ustache 
D ebate of 1888 TSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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Ove r the lo ng his to ry o f the Su p re m e 

Co u rt, no m ine e s to the highe s t co u rt in the  

land have be e n o p p o s e d fo r a var ie ty o f re a­

sons. Often opponents are concerned about 

the nominee’s political ideology or compe­

tency. Occasionally, allegations are raised 

about political cronyism. And candidates 

have come under fire for their religion. But 

nominee Melville Weston Fuller’s selection 

launched a national debate that went to the 

very heart of what makes one qualified to 

sit on the Supreme Court: whether a judge 

should have a mustache.

On March 23, 1888, Morrison R. Waite 

died of pneumonia after sitting for fourteen 

years in the Supreme Court’s center chair. 

Approximately one month later, President 

Grover Cleveland nominated Fuller to be 

the next Chief Justice. A prominent and 

highly successful Chicago attorney, Fuller 

was a life-long Democrat who had sported 

a mustache at least since 1867.1 Fuller had

previously declined appointments to be on 

the United States Civil Service Commission 

and to be solicitor general. This time, 

however, Fuller answered the call to duty.

At the time of Fuller’s appointment, it is 

highly unlikely that President Cleveland— 

himself the first president to have a 

mustache—anticipated that newspapers 

around the country would argue about the 

propriety of a mustached Chief Justice. After 

all, the previous Chief Justice wore a long 

and poorly trimmed beard—albeit a beard 

with a bare upper lip—throughout his time 

on the Supreme Court, and no newspaper had 

taken him to task.2 What difference could a 

mustache without a beard make? The answer 

was soon to come.

At first, Fuller’s nomination was met 

with praise and the national newspapers 

predicted a quick confirmation. Noting the 

public comments made by politicians and 

editorial pages on both sides of the political
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W hen M elville W . Fuller w as appointed to the C ourt 

in 1888, the press first m ade note of his dim inutive 

size, calling him “rather below m iddle height.” Then  

new spapers critiqued his m ustache.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ais le , WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT h e N e w Y o r k T im e s re p o rte d that 

“ [s]ome of the most cordial words of approval 

of the nomination have been found in the 

newspapers that would naturally object to 

contrive objections to it” and that President 

Cleveland’s selection of Fuller “must be re­

garded as one of the most fortunate selec­

tions made by him since he took office.” 3 

The W a s h in g to n P o s t echoed T h e N e w Y o r k 

T im e s’ assessment of the bipartisan support 

for Fuller, noting that one Republican senator 

even “spoke of Mr. Fuller in terms of admi­

ration almost of love.” Concluded the P o s t : 

“confirmation by the Senate is assured.” 4

The N e w Y o r k S u n also weighed in on 

the nomination. The newspaper sang Fuller’s 

praises, telling its readers that Fuller was 

“preeminent in his profession, is of unim­

peachable integrity, and his private character 

is exemplary in every respect.” The article 

ended by providing a physical description of 

Fuller.

[He] is a slim, wiry-looking man, 

rather below the middle height. He 

has silver-gray hair and a droop­

ing gray mustache. He dresses 

well, and is considered exception­

ally good looking. His face is 

fresh and unwrinkled, his 55 years 

notwithstanding.5

The S u n did not further discuss Fuller’s 

mustache. Nor did it appear to see the dark­

ening storm clouds ahead.

Many local and state newspapers 

reprinted the S u n’ s physical description 

of Fuller, with a few papers adding amusing 

comments about his weight (between 120 

and 125 pounds) and his diminutive stature. 

“ It is well that he [Fuller] will  take time to get 

a gown made for himself before his installa­

tion,”  commented the B o o n v i l le S ta n d a r d . “ If  

he should venture to go through the ceremony 

in a gown borrowed from one of his associ­

ates... the clerk of the court would best tie a 

string to him when he gets into it or there will  

be some difficulty  to find him afterwards.” 6

It was Fuller’s hometown paper, the 

C h ic a g o T r ib u n e , that first reported that peo­

ple were grumbling about the nominee’s mus­

tache. “The greatest objection that has been 

urged against Chief Justice Fuller is that he 

wears a mustache.” 7 The T r ib u n e reassured 

its readers, however, that the mustache would 

not be an impediment to Fuller’s nomination. 

“This is an objection that could be easily 

removed. It need not stand in the way of 

his confirmation, however, and probably will  

not.” Concluded the article: “ He will be 

confirmed by a large majority, and without a 

close shave.” 8

Within a few short days, the N e w Y o r k 

S u n turned its full attention to the matter of 

Fuller’s mustache.

But it is evident from an attentive 

study of MR. FULLER’S features 

that their chief curve of beauty, 

their piece of resistance and their 

point of support, is his uncommonly
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lu xu r iant and be au tifu l m o u s tache .

In br is tling re ds , in car-driver 

blacks, in characterless browns or 

yellows, this moustache would not 

be the thing of beauty it is-. Its form 

is good, but it is the grayish white 

or whitish gray of its color which 

raises it above the mob of plebeian 

and ordinary moustaches, and gives 

it character, dignity, tone. This 

moustache in any other color would 

not look so handsome.9

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS u n rejected the claims by unnamed 

critics that “ [t]he idea of a Chief Justice with 

moustache is intolerable.” While conceding 

that in the “good old times” moustaches 

were only worn by military officers, and that 

tradition dictated that the upper lip of the 

man occupying the center seat at the court 

must be clean shaven, the S u n reported that 

admirers of the “ lovely perfection” of Mr. 

Fuller’s mustache were raising their voices 

and demanding to know whether “ this fair 

pearl [must] be melted in the vinegar of 

custom.” In the opinion of the S u n editorial 

board, the answer was a resounding “no.”

Mr. Fuller, in all the glory of his 

robes, but dismoustached, will not 

look so well as he does with that 

while glory overhanging his mouth, 

a shield and a benediction. We ad­

vise him not to shave it off.

Within days, newspapers across the 

country weighed in on the great moustache 

debate. “Mr. Fuller’s mustache is kicking 

up a great sensation at the north,” wryly 

observed the A t la n ta C o n s t i tu t io n .1 0 “ Wash­

ington sticklers for judicial conventionality 

are troubling themselves very much because 

they fear that the newly appointed chief 

justice.. .will not conform to the custom 

which requires that there shall be only cleanly 

shaven upper lips on the supreme court.” 11 

The R o c k I s la n d A r g u s chimed in the next 

day, claiming that “no chief justice has ever

disfigured his face” with hair on his upper 

lip.12 And the H e r a ld - L e d g e r simply tried to 

put Fuller’s mustache in perspective, writing 

that Fuller “weighs 125 pounds, with or 

without the mustache.” 13

While conceding the beauty of Fuller’s 

mustache, and' admitting that “ [t]o cut it 

off would be a positive disfigurement,” the 

L e a v e n w o r th S ta n d a r d reluctantly conceded 

that “ to wear it on the bench would do 

violence to the dignity of the court and would 

be a shock to the reverend judges who have 

such respect for precedent.” 14 Warned the 

S ta n d a r d '. “ It is possible that the senate will  

want an understanding with Mr. Fuller about 

this mustache business before his name is 

taken up for confirmation.” The historical 

record does, riot show. whether the Senate 
Judiciary Committee sought such an “under­

standing” as i] considered the merits of the 

Fuller nomination. -

While the K in s le y G r a p h ic did not of­

ficially take, a position,, it acknowledged 

that “ it is generally believed that a Chief- 

Justice should not offend the legendary cus­

toms which pertain to his office—including 

keeping his upper lip ‘ free from hirsute 

adornment.’” 15. And ,other Kansas newspa­

pers reported that there was a “widely preva­

lent conviction”  , amongst- its citizens that 

the mustache should disqualify Fuller from 

assuming the bench,16 “ It seems difficult  

to imagine a man w ith a dude mustache, 

and who answers to the name of Mel to 

be occupying a seat on the supreme bench 

of the United States,” grumped the O b e r l in 

O p in io n )1 Clearly, Fuller had lost the state 

of Kansas. -

Some newspapers challenged both the 

“ tradition”  of bare upper lips-at the Supreme 

Court -as well as the recommendation that 

the nominee reach for'his razor. Referring 

to the reports,“ that Fuller will  be forced to 

‘shave off  his big,;beautiful white mustache’ 

as ‘absurd,’ ” the P e o p le’s P r e s s cited an un­

named put authoritative. Washington insider 

as evidence that there was no tradition—
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Justices  Stephen  J. Fie ld ,  Lucius  Q . C . Lam ar, and Stanley M atthew s all sported fu ll beards on the B ench prior to  

Fuller’s arrival.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

citing the be ards o f Ju s tice s Ste p he n J. Fie ld, 

Lu ciu s Q. C. Lamar and Stanley Matthews 

as evidence.18 What the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP r e s s failed to rec­

ognized, however, was the seemingly critical 

distinction between a mere mustache and a 

full  beard.

A few newspapers made aesthetic ar­

guments in favor of the mustache. “ Mr. 

Fuller’s mustache is undoubtedly a thing of 

beauty, and therefore a joy forever,” pro­

claimed the L a n c a s te r W e e k ly E x a m in e r . “ I f  

it falls a victim to the ‘barbarous shears,’ 

his fine face will lose some of its force 

and completeness.” 19 The L a n c a s te r added, 

to its relief, that Fuller seemed inclined to 

keep the mustache. The F o r t W o r th W e e k ly 

G a z e t te reassured its readers that changes in 

the nominee’s personal grooming habits were 

not to be feared, and that the future looked 

bright: “From under that silvery mustache 

will  flow opinions worthy of that great court 

in its palmist days.” 20

At least one newspaper appreciated the 

importance of precedent in resolving the 

judicial dilemma. The W ic h i ta E a g le pointed 

to President Grover Cleveland’s mustache 

as precedent for Fuller’s facial hair. “That 

settles it. Let him be confirmed.” 21 The 

Republican-leaning J a c k s o n S ta n d a r d had a 

political reason to support the retention of the

mustache. “Mel. Fuller’s mustache is a good 

quality for a Democratic politician—it shuts 
his mouth.” 22

On July 20, 1888, the United States 

Senate voted to confirm Fuller as the next 

Chief Justice of the Supreme Court. Fuller’s 

confirmation, however, did not end the great 

mustache debate. Perhaps hoping to boost 

circulation by stirring the smoldering embers, 

in December of 1888 the S u n itself returned 

to the subject of Fuller’s mustache. This 

time, however, readers were shocked by the 

Sun's announcement that the Chief Justice’s 

mustache was “deplorable.”

The S u n’s new position on the Chief Jus­

tice’s mustache rested on argument involving 

courtroom statuary and artistic composition. 

After explaining to its readers that a statue 

of an eagle with spread wings was located 

directly about the Supreme Court Bench, 

the S u n pointed to the similarities between 

this national symbol and the Chief Justice’s 

mustache.

The Supreme Court spread eagle 

always was a most impressive ob­

ject to the eye and to the imagi­

nation, and it would still be such 

if  Chief justice Fuller’s deplorable 

moustaches were out of sight. The
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p lain tru th is that the de co rative 

and s y m bo lic e ffe ct o f the e agle’s 

extended wings is dwarfed by the 

sweep and spread of the Chief Jus­

tice’s moustaches, immediately be­

low. The lines are precisely simi­

lar, and the dimension nearly alike. 

There is no contrast to relieve the 

feelings of uneasiness and oppres­

sion which every beholder must ex­

perience, provided his eyes are at 

all sensitive to such violations of 

aesthetic propriety.23

Given the similarities between the mus­

tache and the eagle’s wings, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS u n won­

dered aloud if attorneys appearing before 

the Court would lose their train of thought. 

Concluded the S u n : “This is not as it should 

be. It detracts from the dignity of the tri­

bunal.”  The solution? Either remove the eagle 

statue or shave off the mustache, lest the 

aforementioned similarities between the two 

continue “bewildering the bar and distracting 

attention from the business of the court.” 24

If  the N e w Y o r k S u n’ s intention was to 

spark a second round of debate about the 

Chief Justice’s mustache, its plan worked. In 

the coming months, a flurry of new articles 

appeared on the subject. The tide of public 

sentiment, however, appeared to have turned 

in the Chief Justice’s favor. “Chief Justice 

Fuller doesn’ t look half as funny with his 

mustache and his silk gown on as people 

thought he would,” the F a l l R iv e r G lo b e 

gamely reassured its readers.25 The C h a n u te 

W e e k ly T im e s reported that “Chief Justice 

Fuller is one of the most striking figures 

in public life,” but admitted that the Chief 

Justice nervously “ twists his mustache or 

strokes his fine flowing locks of white”  while 

on the Bench. And the A t la n ta C o n s t i tu t io n 

reported that at a reception for the Chi­

nese ambassador, former Secretary of State 

James G. Blaine had the “scrumptious good 

breeding” to not comment on the Chief Jus­

tice’s mustache.26 In sum, the battle over the 

Chief Justice’s personal grooming appeared 

over. “None of the abuse or sarcasm aimed
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by Was hingto nians at Chie f Ju s tice Fu lle r’s 

mustache moves him a hair,” trumpeted the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C h ic a g o T r ib u n e .

Yet only two months later, the battle 

resumed. The first salvo was fired after the 

March 19, 1889 elopement of Chief Jus­

tice Fuller’s daughter, Pauline. Although the 

Fuller family did not seem distraught by 

the surprise marriage, some newspapers sug­

gested that the Chief Justice might shave his 

mustache—perhaps as the modern equivalent 

of wearing sack cloth and ashes. This time, it 

was the S ta r T r ib u n e that leapt to the defense 

of the famous mustache.

We fail to see what connection there 

is between Chief Justice Fuller’s 

mustache, and the elopement of his 

daughter. A number of our con­

temporaries evidently believe that 

because Pauline ran away and was 

married, the Justice should shave off 

his mustache. We are puzzled as to 

why this is so. Simply because a 

girl married the man of her choice 

is this any reason, that the high­

est judicial authority in the country 

should wreak his revenge on the 

atmosphere, and deprive the zephyrs 

of their sport? Most assuredly not.27

But battle lines were again drawn. News­

papers across the country predicted the mus­

tache was doomed because now the Chief 

Justice’s Bench mates were pressuring him to 

shave. “Chief Justice Fuller, mindful of the 

honored traditions of the court and yielding 

to the importunities of his associates on the 

bench, has consented to sacrifice his superb 

mustache, the fame of which has filled two 

hemispheres,” 28 sadly reported the S a n F r a n ­

c is c o E x a m in e r . Noting that the “exceeding 

beauty” of the mustache “excited jealousies 

and arouses animosities,”  the paper admitted 

that it did not know whether it should “con­

gratulate the Chief Justice upon his sagacity 

in consenting to appease” or “deplore his 

lack of courage in so readily falling down

before popular clamor.” And the E x a m in e r 

had a final warning for the Chief Justice: 

if he shaved off his mustache, he would 

be unrecognized when he returned home to 

Chicago “with a nude upper lip.” 29

At least one newspaper publicly blamed 

the N e w Y o r k S u n for the second round of 

mustache mischief. “ If the N e w Y o r k S u n 

doesn’ t stop making fun of Chief Justice 

Fuller’s mustache, it will  get itself disliked by 

all the young ladies in the country,”  warned 

the B o s to n G lo b e . “They all say it is ‘just 

lovely.’ Our own opinion is that it is at least as 

handsome as the whiskers of the S u n’s office 

cat.” 30

In January of 1890, David J. Brewer 

joined the Supreme Court. A former mem­

ber of the Kansas Supreme Court and the 

United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth 

Circuit, Brewer took the judicial oath with 

a clean-shaven face “except at the chin, 

from which hangs a tolerably long beard.” 31 

Alas, the “ tolerable” beard lasted less than 

a year. “Justice David J. Brewer...has at 

last sacrificed his imposing whiskers and 

he now appears upon the bench with a 

smoothly-shaven face,” 32 announced the W i­

c h i ta B e a c o n . The paper characterized the 

former beard as “a truly Western cut. It was 

confined in its growth to the chin, although 

it was a little more ample and luxuriant 

than the Napoleonic style.” Explaining that 

a shaved face “adds to the dignity of the 

owner, and consequently to the gravity of the 

great temple of justice,”  the paper added that 

Fuller’s notorious mustache remained—as 

did the “moth-eaten old plantation whiskers”  

of Justice Lamar. As for Justice Brewer, 

he made no public statement as to why he 

banished his whiskers.

While momentarily silenced, in early 

1890 the N e w Y o r k S u n made one more effort 

to whip up its readers. “ It ’s lucky that Justice 

is blind,”  observed the S u n . “ If  she were able 

to see Chief Justice Fuller’s mustache waving 

in the winds of eloquence at the celebration 

[of  the Court’s centennial] she would stop the
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D avid  J. B rew er  of  K ansas shaved off his “W estern cut” beard a few  w eeks after jo in ing  the H igh B ench in 1890.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

p ro ce e dings while s he be at he r s wo rd into a 

razo r.” 33

Once again, the newspapers rallied to 

Fuller’s side. “Chief Justice Fuller’s mus­

tache is again agitating the public mind,” 34 

reported the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT e n n e s s e a n . “The abolition of 

the Chief Justice’s mustache is one of the 

reforms undertaken by the N e w Y o r k S u n .”  

The T e n n e s s e a n reminded its readers that 

“ it is nobody’s business except his [Fuller’s] 

own whether he be bearded like the bard or 

as clean-faced as a door knob,” at least as 

long as the Chief Justice did not “allow his 

mustache to absorb too much of his time and 

attention.” 35

The S a in t P a u l G lo b e tried to remain 

neutral. While admitting that the Chief Jus­

tice “ looks a good deal more like a cavalry 

officer than the presiding judge of the United 

States Supreme Court,” the G lo b e pointed 

out that the undeniable fact that Fuller was 

“certainly the handsomest man on the bench; 

men and women agree as to that.” 36 The chief

concern for the A t la n ta C o n s t i tu t io n involved 

table etiquette: “ [i]t  is hoped the chief justice 

doesn’t drink buttermilk.” 37

The Chief Justice was reportedly “keep­

ing a stiff upper lip” and sticking with his 

mustache despite more public pressure as 

well as his fellow justices’ continuing de­

mands that he shave “ in the name of dignity 

and impressiveness.” 38 And the S a in t P a u l 

G lo b e informed its readers that the Chief 

Justice’s stubbornness was “all the more 

heroic” because he was receiving hate mail. 

The N e b r a s k a S ta te J o u r n a l reported that 

the anti-mustache “crusade” by New York 

newspapers, along with “an occasional spurt 

of assistance from a side concert of provin­

cial editors,” had resulted in Fuller “ receiv­

ing threatening letters purporting to come 

from hard-fisted laboring men of the country 

threatening to ‘do him up’ in some shape if  

he does not shave it off  immediately.” 39 One 

example of these letters was published by the 

D a i ly  G lo b e '.
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W hen  Justice  W illiam  M oody  becam e  clean  shaven  in  

1908, new spapers  noted  that  the  C ourt  now  stood  “5- 

4  on w hiskers." H e is pictured here in 1905, the year 

before he w as appointed to be an A ssociate Justice.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Ef y e r do ant s have o f that the re hary 

m ain o n y e r rno u t we al s e a that y e r 

do ant have no e e zy tim e . Do y e r 

ke tch o n? We e’ l shave it of for yer 

pretty soon. Take worning.40

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD a i ly G lo b e concluded, based on 

the style of writing, that “ [evidently it was 

not written by Fuller’s colleagues on the 

bench.” 41 What is truly evident is that the 

D a i ly  G lo b e reporters had too much time on 

their hands and were having a bit of fun at the 

Chief Justice’s expense.

This curious national anxiety on facial 

hair was not limited to the Chief Justice 

alone; in the years following Fuller’s ascen­

sion to the center chair, a few court new­

comers found their own facial hair coming 

under public scrutiny. A clean-shaved Henry 

Billings Brown did not offend sensibilities 

when he was sworn into office on January 5, 

1891. But in the summer of 1892, newspapers 

warned newcomer George Shiras Jr. (who

sported a combination of a beard and mutton- 

chops) to find a razor. “Chief Justice Fuller 

is allowed to keep his flowing mustache 

because there would be so little of him left if  

they were cut off,” 42 explained the P i t ts b u r g h 

G a z e t te . “Justice Lamar clings to his chin 

beard because, if  he should remove it, he 

would be doing violence to one of the most 

sacred traditions of the South.” Concluded 

the G a z e t te '.

But these two cases are excep­

tions, as Mr. Shiras will undoubt­

edly learn. When Mr. Brewer came 

upon the bench he wore a long beard 

which he was compelled to part with 

after a few weeks. Justice Gray is 

pointed to as a man who has broken 

through the rule, but the point is not 

a good one, for the only whiskers 

worn by the Massachusetts giant, 

legally and physically, consists of 

two little tufts under his ears that 

are hardly noticeable. The rule that 

Justices of the Supreme Court must 

part with their whiskers when they 

assume their robes of office was 

made after Justice Lamar’s appoint­

ment, and is an ironclad one, which 

will  be promptly called to the atten­

tion of Mr. Justice Shiras.43

Whether the rule was formally called to 

Mr. Shiras’s attention or not, his facial hair 

remained.

We do not know what Chief Justice 

Fuller himself thought of the great mustache 

debate, but he must have been pleased when 

another part of his face—his nose—was pub­

licly  celebrated in 1891. In an article entitled 

“Statesmen’s Noses: Peculiar Probosces of 

the Great Men in Washington and What They 

Indicate,” the S t . L o u is D is p a tc h turned its 

attention to the nation’s highest court.

It is in the Supreme Court where you 

find the big noses of Washington. 

Justice Fuller has The Nose Of A  

Roman. It stands well up from his
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che e ks . It s e ts  o ff his clas s ic fe atu re s 

and m ake s his p ale face alm o s t 

no ble as it s tands o u t in fro nt o f his 

le o nine gray hair abo ve his fie rce 

s ilve r m u s tache .44

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD is p a tc h saved its most lavish 

praise, however, for Justice John Marshall 

Harlan. “Justice Harlan has a head which 

would do for a model of Jove and his nose is 

that of a God,” 45 it gushed. The justice with 

the least god-like nose? That was Horace 

Gray, who possessed a “weak, fleshy nose.”

By the time Chief Justice Fuller cele­

brated his fifth anniversary on the Bench in 

1893, articles about judicial facial hair only 

sporadically appeared in national and state 

newspapers. This was undoubtedly due in 

large part to the fact that the newest justices 

(Howell E. Jackson in 1893 and Edward D. 

White in 1894) possessed perfectly smooth 

faces. The addition of Rufus W. Peckham in 

1896 and Joseph McKenna in 1898 was met, 

at least when it came to their facial hair, with 

silence.

Rather than arguing about the propriety 

of mustaches and beards, most newspapers 

simply “kept score” in terms of the justices 

and their facial hair. “ Mr. Justice Moody has 

shaved off his mustache and the supreme 

court now stands 5 to 4 on whiskers,” re­

ported the O m a h a B e e in the spring of 1908. 

“That’s the usual division.” 46 When com­

menting on Judge Horace Lurton’s potential 

nomination to the Supreme Court, the O t­

tu m w a T r i - W e e k ly C o u r ie r blandly described 

him as a “small, white-haired man, with a 

white moustache.” 47 No mention of offense 

to tradition or style was made.

One of the last stories about the Chief 

Justice and “ will he or won’ t he shave”  

appeared in T h e C h ic a g o E a g le in 1894. 

Apparently, another tired round of stories 

had appeared about the Chief Justice and 

the potential loss of his beloved mustache. 

The E a g le would not stand for such a de­

velopment. “ We are opposed to Chief Justice

Fuller’s proposition to shave his mustache,”  

announced the E a g le . “ [W]e recognize the 

danger involved in the sudden dislocation of 

the center of gravity in all great bodies.” 48 

This was the only time that physics was cited 

in support of retaining the country’s most 

famous mustache.

The nomination of Oliver Wendell 

Holmes Jr. to the Supreme Court of the 

United States was the final death knell to 

the great mustache debate of 1888. Holmes 

arguably possessed the grandest mustache to 

ever grace the face of a state or federal court 

judge, a handle bar mustache that Holmes 

joked was “nourished in blood.” While the 

C h ic a g o T r ib u n e grimly predicted that “ [t]he 

esteemed N e w Y o r k S u n will  not fail to view 

with horror the spectacle of another judge 

with a long mustache on the United States 

Supreme Court,” 49 the S u n’ s enthusiastic en­

dorsement of Holmes’s appointment made 

nary a mention of his mustache.50 The war 

was over.

This is not to say, however, that the guns 

forever fell silent on the topic of Fuller’s 

mustache. Even decades after his death, 

Fuller’s facial hair sparked comment. For 

example, when law professor John P. Frank 

reviewed Willard King’s definitive biography 

of the Maine-born jurist, Frank was a bit 

unkind regarding Fuller’s appearance. “ His 

appearance in the standard pictures always 

seem to me to be a little unseedy,” wrote 

Frank. “ I suppose it could be ‘majestic’ if  

you don’ t mind unkempt hair and a straggly 

mustache.” 51 Professor James W. Ely Jr., 

another Fuller biographer, was kinder than 

Professor Frank—merely referring to Fuller’s 

mustache as “distinctive.” 52

So what should we make of the Great 

Mustache Debate of 1888? First of all, the 

fight over Fuller’s mustache, its aesthetic 

merits, and its alleged offense to Court 

tradition was surely tongue-in-cheek. That 

being said, the motives of the main player 

in the drama, the N e w Y o r k S u n , remain a 

mystery. At the time of Fuller’s nomination
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to the Su p re m e Co u rt, the e dito r o f the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S u n was Charle s Ande rs o n Dana. Altho u gh 

the ne ws p ap e r was co ns ide re d a De m o cratic 

p u blicatio n, Dana was a fie rce cr itic o f 

Glo ve r Cle ve land (who had once turned down 

Dana’s request for a political favor, thereby 

becoming a life-long enemy) and the S u n 

referred to presidential candidate Cleveland 

as a ‘“ gross debauchee’ who would ‘bring his 

harlots to Washington and hire lodging for 

them convenient to the White House.’ ” 53

It is possible that Dana’s distain for 

Cleveland meant that all the President’s nom­

inees would be guilty by association. Yet the 

S u n originally praised Fuller’s nomination, 

and many of its articles about Fuller’s mus­

tache were published after Cleveland lost his 

first reelection bid. And if  Dana wanted to 

rough up a Cleveland appointment, surely 

the brilliant editor could have found more 

compelling faults than a simple mustache. It 

is much more likely that the Fuller articles are 

simply examples of what Dana biographer 

Janet E. Steele calls the editor’s “playful 

sense of humor.” 54

And what about the mustache’s impact 

on the institutional rules and norms surround­

ing the justices? Would it being going too 

far to argue that Fuller’s brave stand blazed 

a trail for such mustached justices as Peck­

ham, Holmes, William Rufus Day, William 

Howard Taft (who also wore a mustache dur­

ing his presidency), and Thurgood Marshall? 

Not to mention the goateed Charles Evans 

Hughes? If  Fuller did have an effect, it was 

short lived.

After the retirement of Hughes, no jus­

tice other than Thurgood Marshall sported 

any variation of facial hair until the fall of 

1996—when Antonin Scalia briefly grew a 

full beard (one might also include the long 

hair and bushy sideburns worn by William 

H. Rehnquist in the 1970s, which prompted 

a N e w Y o r k T im e s columnist to call him 

“ the hippie of the court” 55). The sight of 

a bearded justice was so unique that, once 

again, articles about the return of facial

hair to the Supreme Court appeared across 

the country.56 Somewhere Melville Weston 

Fuller must have been smiling. (Justice Scalia 

shaved the beard the following summer.)

A u th o r s N o te '. The author admits that 

he has had facial hair for the last twenty 

years. He would like to thank Chad Oldfather 

and Margaret Stein for their review and 

comments on an earlier draft of this paper.
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Su p re m e Co u rt his to ry is litte re d with 

s to r ie s o f incap acitate d o r dis able d Ju s tice s 

linge r ing lo ng p as t the ir p r im e . So m e tim e s , 

dis able d Ju s tice s have m e re ly de lay e d the  

wo rk o f the Co u rt. At o the r tim e s , the y have 

bro u ght the wo rk o f the Co u rt into dis re p u te .1 

Yet in more than 200 years of political 

and constitutional debate, the U.S. political 

system has never found a satisfactory answer 

to the problem of disabled Justices.

At certain periods in U.S. history, how­

ever, Congress and the President have inter­

vened to entice or push disabled Justices from 

the bench. Although researchers have noted 

how Congress passed pension acts for federal 

judges in general, and even pension acts 

for individual disabled Justices, they have 

neglected to note how politics and personal 

finances played an essential part in when and 

how Congress decided to pension individual 

Justices, and how, as many of the pension 

acts were time-limited, Congress essentially 

pushed some Justices from the bench.2 The 

pension bills for disabled Justices have thus 

created a type of judicial dependence on the

elected branches of government that other 

constitutional provisions tried to avoid.

This article will  look at how Congress 

and the President have struggled to entice 

or remove disabled Justices from the bench. 

It will  focus on how they used time-limited 

pensions to convince two Justices, Ward Hunt 

and William Moody, to leave.3 It will  also 

examine how these acts influenced President 

Franklin D. Roosevelt’s Court-Packing Plan, 

or “Un-Packing” Plan as some saw it at the 

time, since the plan tried to induce older and 

disabled Justices to leave the bench.4 One 

final, though forgotten, effect of the failure 

of Roosevelt’s plan was the passage of a con­

gressional act to allow voluntary retirement 

for disabled Supreme Court Justices, which 

is still in effect today.

The Early D ebate on Judicial D isabilityWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

J u d ic ia l D is a b i l i t y  a n d th e C o n s t i tu t io n

The American Constitutional Conven­

tion in 1787 had to ponder the important
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question of how to ensure both judicial 

independence and accountability. From early 

in the Convention, the attendees agreed on 

the English standard of  judicial independence 

on the bench during the “good behavior” of 

the judges, subject only to the impeaching 

power of Congress.5 Some who supported 

this standard, however, still thought there 

should be an alternative way to remove 

judges. On August 27h, the scholarly John 

Dickinson of Delaware submitted a motion 

to the Convention that would have allowed 

Congress to vote, by mere majority, on an 

“address”  to the President against a particular 

judge, after which the President could remove 

that judge, without impeachment and without 

showing of bad behavior.6

The main impetus behind Dickinson’s 

amendment appears to have been a desire to 

remove disabled judges. It was a modified 

version of the British Parliament’s “address 

to the king,” under which the British Par­

liament, since 1700, could remove judges 

without impeachment. It was also a version 

of Massachusetts’s 1780 constitutional pro­

vision allowing for legislative “ removal by 

address,” a variant of which was included 

in the constitutions of at least four other 

states. The general assumption was that such 

an address would be used as a type of 

“ removal for incapacity.” 7 Yet, despite the 

support of Elbridge Gerry and John Sherman, 

the Constitutional Convention voted against 

Dickinson’s proposal.8

Some at the time still worried about the 

absence of such a clause for incapacitated 

judges. Alexander Hamilton, in F e d e r a l is t 

7 9 , noted “The want of a provision for re­

moving the judges on account of inability has 

been a subject of complaint.” But Hamilton 

worried that “An attempt to fix  the boundary 

between the regions of ability and inability, 

would much oftener give scope to personal 

and party attachments and enmities than 

advance the interests of justice or the public 

good.” Although Hamilton noted that New

York had taken “a particular age as the cri­

terion of inability,”  in that case age sixty, he 

thought such a strict line was both arbitrary 

and unfair. In effect, Hamilton thought there 

could and should be no special provision 

for disabled judges.9 Still, complaints about 

disability on the bench continued. Thomas 

Jefferson, who had helped establish the 

American standard of judicial independence 

during good behavior with his draft of the 

1776 Virginia Constitution, later complained 

that judges were “ irremovable.. .even by their 

own body for the imbecilities of dotage."10WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C o n g r e s s C o n f r o n ts D is a b le d J u s t ic e s

The problems with aged and disabled 

Justices became apparent after the Civil  War, 

when two Supreme Court Justices, Robert 

C. Grier and Samuel Nelson, stayed on the 

bench despite advanced years and declining 

abilities. Grier had become semiparalyzed 

from a stroke in 1867. T h e S u p r e m e C o u r t 

R e p o r te r noted that “while not affecting the 

brain at all, the shock did affect his power to 

use his hand in writing, and to consult with 

facility the heavy books of the law.” 11 Nel­

son’s ailments were described as “general,”  

but he did recover after a sharp congressional 

debate on his and his colleagues’ health.

The fact that these two older Justices 

were Democrats fueled the desire of a Repub­

lican Reconstructionist Congress to remove 

them. In 1869, as part of a reform adding 

one new seat to the Supreme Court, Repre­

sentative John Bingham proposed adding a 

voluntary but semiactive “ retirement” status 

for judges or Justices who had passed age 

seventy and had served at least ten years on 

the federal bench.12 He noted in particular 

that “at least two (Nelson and Grier) of 

the present justices of the Supreme Court... 

will not long be able, by reasons of the 

infirmities of age, to take their places on 

the Supreme Bench.” 13 Bingham’s bill, how­

ever, also said that if  any member of the
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Su p re m e Co u rt wro te to the Pre s ide nt that 

a p articu lar ju dge o r Ju s tice was dis able d, 

the Pre s ide nt co u ld fo rcibly p lace that Ju s tice 

in re tire m e nt and ap p o int ano the r. De s p ite 

the radical dis ability clau s e , Bingham’s act 

easily passed the Republican House.14 In the 

Senate, Lyman Trumbull worried that such 

semiactive “ retired”  judges could return to 

the bench at their whim, thus upsetting what 

constituted a majority or a quorum on the 

courts. So he replaced Bingham’s retirement 

plan with a plan for complete “ resignation”  

and a pension at age of seventy, again after 

ten years’ service. He also eliminated the 

proposal for forced retirement for disabled 

judges. Trumbull’s version of the judicial 

pension bill  passed into law in March 1869.15 

The press still reported the act as something 

of a forced retirement for the two Justices by 

saying, for instance, that under the new bill,  

“Judges Nelson and Grier of the Supreme 

Court WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw i l l  b e r e t i r e d at once.” 16 (Emphasis 

added.) Some on the Supreme Court recog­

nized the act as an implicit “push”  against the 

older and incapacitated Grier in particular. 

When he had not resigned by November, a 

Philadelphia lawyer wrote to Justice Joseph 

P. Bradley that Justice Samuel Nelson, since 

recovered, and Chief Justice Chase planned 

to “crowd”  Grier and convince him to leave. 

They would tell him “Congress would also 

crowd him if  he dont [sic] resign.” When 

Nelson and Chase came to Grier in early De­

cember, Grier’s daughter, Sarah Beck, wrote 

that they told him “ that the politicians are de­

termined to oust him, &  if  he don’t, they will  

repeal the law giving the retirement salaries.”  

Grier wrote his resignation letter soon 

after.17

Others saw that under the bill, there still 

remained the problem of disabled or incapac­

itated judges who had not sat on the bench for 

the required term of years or who refused to 

leave even if  they had. As Representative C. 

A. Eldridge said during the debate, a judge 

“may be afflicted with paralysis or insanity 

or some other disease which renders him

Senator Lym an Trum bull’s version of the judicial pen ­

sion bill passed in i869 elim inated the provision for 

forced retirem ent of disabled Justices. H is plan called  

for the voluntary retirem ent of Justices at age seventy 

w ith ten years of service.

utterly incompetent to discharge the duties of 

judge; yet...because he has not served for a 

period of ten years he is not to be permitted 

to retire upon his salary, but the tempta­

tion is held out to him to continue in the 

office.” 18

C o n g r e s s C o n f r o n ts D is a b le d L o w e r C o u r t 

J u d g e s

Not a year had passed after the passage 

of the pension act before Representative El­

dridge’s concern about ineligible yet disabled 

judges staying on the bench manifested itself 

in the lower courts.19 In March 1870, the 

House reported a bill  to give disabled District 

Judge John Watrous of Texas a full pension 

if  he resigned, despite his not having reached 

the age of seventy. Benjamin Butler of Mas­

sachusetts seemed to imply the pension was 

more than a mere offer when he said, “The 

only other way to remove him that I know 

of is by impeachment,” which he thought
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wo u ld be to o lo ng and co s tly . In fact, the 

de s ire to re m o ve a lo ngtim e co ngre s s io nal 

bu gbe ar m ay have m o tivate d this firs t s p e cial 

p e ns io n bill fo r a ju dge . A co m m itte e o f 

the Ho u s e had alre ady re co m m e nde d Wa­

trous’s impeachment in 1858 for fraud and 

misadministration of the courts, and he faced 

several other impeachment attempts since. As 

a longstanding Democrat, he was also a thorn 

in Reconstructionist Republican sides.20 De­

spite one representative’s claim that “ It would 

be a bad precedent” to offer salary to a 

judge upon the condition he resign, the bill  

passed easily.21 Five years later, Congress 

also offered the disabled Judge David Smal­

ley of Vermont, a former Democratic Na­

tional Convention vice chair appointed to 

the bench by President Franklin Pierce, a 

similar pension. As one representative said, 

“ you cannot compel this judge to resign,”  

but the pension would encourage him to 

leave.22

The problem was that Smalley refused 

to take the encouragement. The Republicans 

in Congress would not let it happen again. 

When J udge Wilson McCandless of Pennsyl­

vania, a Democratic appointee of President 

James Buchanan, became ill,  Senator George 

Edmunds of Vermont added an amendment 

to the proposed McCandless pension bill  

demanding the judge resign in six months if  

he were to receive his pension. Why the time 

limit? According to one representative, Sena­

tor Edmunds requested this proviso because 

“a few years ago he obtained the passage 

of a similar bill for the benefit of a judge 

in Vermont [Smalley] who declined to take 

advantage of it and is still on the bench.” 23 

Democratic Representative William Morri­

son noted the political advantage, however, 

and claimed the Republicans “ just want the 

appointment of his successor themselves,”  

before a potential change in Presidents the 

next year.24 The bill passed, and would pro­

vide an important precedent for a battle over 

a Supreme Court seat.25

Justice W ard H unt, Incapacitated and  

O bstreperousWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

H u n t’s D i le m m a

The bill providing for the resignation of 

Ward Hunt was the most explicit attempt to 

push a Supreme Court Justice out of office 

with a time-limited pension; the attempt was 

especially clear as Hunt had less than one 

more year of service to retrieve his full  

pension at the time the bill  passed.

Hunt was an upstate New York lawyer 

who was a close friend of the Republican 

powerhouse and New York Senator Roscoe 

Conkling. President Ulysses Grant had ap­

pointed Hunt to the bench in 1872 at Con­

kling’s request.26 Ironically, considering his 

later history, Hunt was confirmed at the 
advanced age of sixty-two to take the place 

of Justice Samuel Nelson, who at the time 

became the first Justice in recent memory to 

resign in good health, after recovery from 

his earlier illnesses, and thus take voluntary 

advantage of the new pension act. A modern 

commentator has called Nelson “A  Pioneer of 

Retirement.” 27 At an event honoring Nelson 

soon after, a fellow New York lawyer cele­

brated the singularity of Nelson’s resignation 

by arguing that “ the number of those who 

have voluntarily retired from a great office 

are so few, that it can hardly be said, that any 

custom touching such retirement has been 

established.” 28

Justice Hunt, his successor, would not 

trod the same path. Hunt suffered a stroke 

in 1878 and lingered in near total incapacity 

for four years. Some reported that Hunt 

and senator Conkling did not trust whom 

President Rutherford Hayes would appoint as 

his successor. Justice Samuel Miller  thought 

Hunt would resign “at once” if  his sponsor 

Roscoe Conkling demanded it, but that “Con- 

klin[g]  kept Hunt from resigning after he had 

made up his mind to do so”  due to his distrust 

of Hayes.29
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I m f e a c h m e x t  o f  J u d g e  W a t r o u s . —  p i r m  

c h a r g es h av e b een , a t  v a r i o u s t i m es, p r e f e r r ed  i n 1 
t h e H o u se o f  R ep r esen t a t i v es ag a i n st  t h e H o n . 

Jo h n C . W at r o u s, U . S . D i st r i c t Ju d g e f o r 1  

T ex as. T h ey  w er e r e f e r r ed  t o a sp ec i a l  c o m - n  

m i t t ee , an d a f t e r  a l ab o r i o u s i n v est i g a t i o n t b i t  

c o m m i t t ee h as m ad e a r ep o r t F o r t h e h en - :  

an d  p u r i t y  o f  t h e  Ju d i c i a r y , w e a r e so r r y  t h a t i t  

i s n o t  f av o r ab l e .

T h e r ep o r t  i s l o n g , an d  c o v e r s a g r ea t r n a> * ;  

o t t est i m o n y p r o d u c ed ag a i n st t h e Ju d g e , i n * ’  

c l o ses w i t h  t h e f o l l o w i n g  g en e r a l  c o n c l u si o n  o n ™  

b eh a l f  o f  t h e c o m m i t t ee ;

T h a t  t h e c o n d u c t o f  Ju d g e W at r o u s c an ; - 1 ’ 1 
b e ex p l a i n ed  w i t h o u t  su p p o si n g  t h a t  h e w as *  J  

t u a t ed  b y  o t h e r  t h an  j u st an d  u p r i g h t  m o t i v es

T h a t i n  h i s d i sr eg a r d  o f  w e l l  est ab l i sh ed  r > ... * ]  

o f  l aw , h e h as p u t  i n  j eo p a r d y  an d  sac r i f i c ed  • ’ I 
r i g h t s o f  l i t i g an t s.

A n d , i n  ac q u i r i n g  a t i t l e t o  p r o p e r t y  i n  . t g a - J  

t i o n , o r  h e l d  b y  ad v e r se p o ssessi o n , h e  h as c -  

j u st  c au se  o f  a l a r m  t o  t h e c i t i z en s o f  T ex t ? , 

t h e sa f e t y  o f  p r i v a t e r i g h t s an d  p r o p e r t y  o f  l b - 3 
1 p u b l i c  d o m a i n , an d  h as d eb a r r ed  t h em  f r o m  : 3i  

i r i g h t o f  an  i m p a r t i a l  t r i a l  i n  t h e F ed er a l c o u r t -  

o f  t h e i r  o w n  d i st r i c t .

F o r t h ese r easo n s t h e c o m m i t t ee r ep o r t t o *  

r ec o m m en d  t h e ad o p t i o n  o f  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  r v  

I t i o n :

T h a t  Jo h n  C . W at r o u s, U n i t ed  S t a t es D  st - .c 1 
Ju d g e f o r  t h e D i st r i c t  o f  T ex as, h e t m p e i c h sc  

h i g h  c r i m es an d  m i sd em ean o r s.

In 1870, the H ouse reported a bill to give disabled  D istrict Judge  John W atrous of Texas  a  fu ll pension  if he resigned, 

despite his not having reached the age of seventy. W atrous had been accused of fraudulent land speculation and  

th is w as seen as an easier alternative to im peachm ent. A bove is an 1857 article in the Vicksburg Whig detailing  

the im peachm ent charges against him .
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Hu nt’s continued inactivity eventually 

spurred Congress to act. Senator David Davis 

of Illinois introduced a bill on January 17, 

1882, to permit Justice Hunt to resign and 

collect a full pension, as long as he did so 

within thirty days after passage of the act.30 

Ironically, Senator Davis, who submitted the 

Hunt retirement bill, had himself been en­

ticed to step down from the Supreme Court 

seven years earlier by the promise of an Illi ­

nois Senate seat, from which he now enticed 

Hunt away with the promise of a pension.31 

Davis himself knew Hunt from his time on 

the bench and knew the difficulty  of serving 

there. He privately said the Supreme Court 

was “wearing to both body and mind,”  which 

explains why he also proposed a general bill  
to offer a pension to any disabled judge who 

had not served a full  term.32

As T h e N e w Y o r k T im e s said, Davis 

“evidently expected no opposition or debate”  

to the bill, but opponents were legion.33 

Many Senators hurled vituperation on Hunt 

for refusing to resign despite obvious inca­

pacity and bristled at offering him money 

to do his duty, as Nelson had done. Senator 

George Hoar, a former supporter of Hunt, 

dismissed those who worried about Hunt’s 

family living in penury if  he resigned without 

a pension: “ I would saw wood for a living 

all my days rather than permit a father or 

brother of mine to hold an office under those 

circumstances.” 34 In the House, Representa­

tive Richard Townshend of Illinois said that if  

Hunt accepted the retirement, it would prove 

“he has more avarice than patriotism.” 35 Rep­

resentative Benton McMillan of Tennessee 

bemoaned “what a sickening spectacle we 

have,” of someone who stays on the high 

court merely for “ the purpose of getting the 

lucre.” 36

Supporters of the bill recognized it as 

something close to a forced removal. Davis 

himself occasionally slipped into the imper­

ative when speaking of Hunt’s resignation.

In 1878, six years after he jo ined the bench at the 

age of sixty-tw o, Justice W ard H unt of N ew York 

suffered an incapacitating stroke. H e refused to resign 

for four years, until C ongress appropriated a special 

pension for him , draw ing  the m oral censure of Senators 

w ho thought he should step dow n w ithout financial 

inducem ent.

Davis said Hunt “ A to resign the office of 

associate justice of Supreme Court within 

thirty days after passage of the act”  [emphasis 

added]. He continued that Hunt “does not ask 

for this bill to be passed.” Senator Thomas 

Bayard of New Jersey said, “Because of the 

refusal of the incumbent to recognize the 

public duty of resignation of a life office,”  

they had to pass a special act “ for the virtual 

removal” of the Justice. He said the act 

is necessary to correct a “defect” in the 

1869 act, which allowed disabled Justices to 

remain on the Court.37

The dangerous precedent of such a 

forced removal bill was on many minds. 

Senator Benjamin Hill  said this was “a hard 

case, and a bad precedent,” an analysis 

echoed by many others.” 38 Representative 

Nathaniel Hammond, though, said that “ It 

is not a question of establishing a bad
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p re ce de nt, fo r it will  be rare that s u ch a thing 

will  hap p e n again.” This ins is te nce o n the 

no np re ce de ntial natu re o f the de cis io n fro m 

m any Co ngre s s m e m be rs is o dd s ince Davis 

him s e lf had m e ntio ne d the “ thre e p re ce de nts 

fo r this bill”  in the lo we r co u rts .39

Although Hunt was a Republican ap­

pointee, it was largely Democrats who op­

posed the pension bill. The final vote made 

evident the political implications of giving 

Republican President Chester Arthur and a 

Republican Congress another appointment, 

especially when many expected the upcom­

ing midterm elections to be favorable to the 

Democrats. The retirement bill passed the 

overwhelmingly Republican Senate 41 to 14, 

but 11 of the opponents were Democrats. In 

the House it passed 139 to 91, and 78 of the 

opponents were Democrats.40 The Knoxville WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
D a i ly  C h r o n ic le noted after the vote, “There 

is much opposition to the retirement of 

Justice Ward Hunt” through congressional 

bribery, noting that tempting a member to 

leave with cash “ does not add to the respect 

of the highest judicial tribunal in the land.” 41

One unspoken reason for the pension bill  

may have been to open the traditional “New 

York” spot on the bench for Hunt’s former 

supporter, Roscoe Conkling. And indeed, just 

four days after Hunt’s resignation, President 

Arthur nominated Conkling to the Court. The 

Senate quickly approved him. Yet, because 

of Conkling’s continuing political ambitions 

and his now substantial fees as a private 

lawyer, he declined the appointment.42

Justice W illiam  M oody and the N eed for 

Financial Security

W il l ia m  M o o d y s D i le m m a

The debate over Justice William 

Moody’s resignation was less heated than that 

over Hunt’s resignation, but it demonstrated 

how financial problems could lead to 

Justices’ dependence on the generosity 

of Congress and the President.

William Moody was a popular lawyer 

and a Massachusetts Congressman whom 

President Theodore Roosevelt appointed to 

be Secretary of the Navy, Attorney General, 

and then, in 1906, Associate Justice of the 

Supreme Court. He replaced Henry Billings 

Brown, who sent in his letter of resigna­

tion exactly on the day of his seventieth 

birthday, in order to take full advantage of 

his pension.43 Roosevelt and other mem­

bers of his administration, including future 

President William Howard Taft, stayed close 

to Moody when he was on the bench.44 

Roosevelt even wrote Moody celebrating a 

workmen’s compensation act he had signed, 

which provided benefits for disabled railroad 

workers, right after the Supreme Court had 

heard oral arguments on its constitutionality. 

(Moody wrote back to the President, agreeing 

with his argument, and he would later write 

the main dissent against striking down the 

law.)45

During the presidential transition in 

1908, it was common knowledge that many 

members of the Supreme Court were ailing. 

Just before Roosevelt left office, he wrote 

Moody a letter, the envelope stating that it 

was “Only to be opened by the Justice him­

self.” The missive contained a draft address 

warning the Senate that the “ there is reason 

to believe that before another session of 

Congress the Court will  become unable to act 

through the death from old age of a majority 

of the Court”  and sending “ conditional nomi­

nations of five men”  to take effect if  the Court 

ceased to function because of absences. Roo­

sevelt was plumbing Moody’s opinion of this 

radical idea, but he never acted on it.46 Still, 

other politicians understood the problems 

of widespread disability on the Court. In 

September 1909, now President Taft wrote 

to Senator Henry Cabot Lodge, “ It is an 

outrage that the four men on the bench who 

are over seventy should continue there and 

thus throw the work and responsibility on the 

other five. This is the occasion of Moody’s 

illness.” 47
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In Co ngre s s , Mo o dy’s debilitating 

rheumatism, as it was called at the time 

(some have since argued it was Lou 

Gehrig’s disease, or amyotrophic lateral 

sclerosis (ALS)), attracted sympathy and 

a new pension bill.48 The two sponsors 

of the bill were senator Lodge and 

Representative Frederick Gillett, both friends 

of Moody’s from the Justice’s home state of 

Massachusetts.49 Gillett had also lived with 

Moody in Washington when both served 

in the House and had long been concerned 

with his friend’s finances. In 1904 he had 

suggested that Moody push for the Attorney 

General position, which “would be especially 

helpful to your fees as [a] lawyer.” 50

Moody had particular pecuniary con­

cerns that made him unlikely to retire without 

a special pension. One indication of his 

trouble is that after the Panic of 1907, Moody 

tried to sell his significant stockholdings in 

the Columbia Trust Company back to the 

company and then tried to have the company 

loan money on the stock, but each time his 

friend, company President Robert Bartley, 

refused.51 Moody then obtained a loan on 

that stock from another individual, and, when 

he was in danger of defaulting on that loan, 

persuaded Bartley to endorse and secure a 

$15,000 loan for him from another bank.52

Moody also alerted others to his fi­

nancial stresses under his $12,500-a-year 

Supreme Court salary. In one letter to Pres­

ident Roosevelt, Moody offhandedly men­

tioned that he “ felt ashamed of himself for 

telling the carpenter the other day how poor 

I was and how hard it was to get along 

on my salary.” 53 Another friend of Moody’s 

wrote that he was glad to hear that a Senate 

Committee had voted a salary increase for 

judges, which might allow Moody to keep 

his Massachusetts house. Unfortunately for 

Moody, the bill went no further.54 Another 

friend noted that a revised bill in 1909 to 

increase salaries by just $2,000 a year was so

inadequate that Moody “would be justified in 

resigning from the Bench and taking up the 

practice of law,” where you could use your 

talents “ in accumulating a large fortune.” 55 

Moody responded that he would rather the 

bill die because such an increase “will  stand 

in the way of any further increase for many 

years.” 56

Taft himself understood Moody’s finan­

cial concerns and those of the other Justices. 

In his second annual message, he recom­

mended raising judicial salaries to $17,000, 

as “next to the life tenure an adequate salary 

is the most material contribution to the main­

tenance of independence on the part of our 

Judges.” 57 (One year later, Congress would 

provide a raise of only $2,000.)58

When Lodge and Gillett explained to 

Congress that the ailing Moody needed fi ­

nancial help, they knew of which they spoke. 

Unlike Hunt’s pension bill, Moody’s was 

enacted at the behest or at least the acqui­

escence of the Justice. T h e N e w Y o r k T im e s 

noted that, although Moody had been ill  for 

over a year and there had been “ talk” of 

such a bill earlier, “ it is understood that the 

introduction of the bill now is tantamount 

to an acknowledgement by friends of the 

justice that he has no real hope of being 

able to return to the bench.” 59 Afterward, 

the V ir g in ia  L a w  R e v ie w argued, “Of course 

Justice Moody’s assent to the introduction of 

this bill is to be presumed, for there is no 

means by which a Justice of the Supreme 

Court can be retired for physical or mental 

disability except with his consent,” for a 

moment forgetting the precedent of Hunt.60

Members of Congress did not believe 

that Moody deserved the moral censure that 

Congress had hurled upon Hunt. Represen­

tative Henry Clayton noted that Moody had 

taken the position of Supreme Court Justice 

at a fraction of the salary he was planning 

on receiving at his private law firm, but 

now “he is a poor man dependent on his 

salary,” which explained why he couldn’ t 

resign. Clayton also said that the judiciary
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The special retirem ent bill for Justice W illiam  M oody, 

w ho w as probably suffering from A LS, w as pushed 

through hy his friend Senator H enry C abot Lodge of 

M assachusetts. Lodge (p ictured) knew  that M oody w as  

financially strapped.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

co m m itte e “ [d]oes not believe the morals 

or the ethics of the circumstances WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAr e q u i r e 

the resignation of Justice Moody” [emphasis 

added].61

Of course, the “bad precedent”  that con­

cerned Congress during the Hunt debate in 

1882 was now cited as a reason for allowing 

a special pension in Moody’s case. The House 

Judiciary Report said, “ We are not without 

precedents,”  and it cited Hunt’s example and 

others from the lower courts, both before 

and since Hunt’s resignation.62 T h e T im e s 

said the bill  “ follows the precedent set in the 

case of Ward Hunt.” 63 It sailed through both 

houses in two days, without a recorded vote 

in either.64

The Judiciary Committee’s Report did 

note that this act gave Moody six months to 

retire, instead of the thirty days provided for 

Hunt, yet it contradicted itself on why. At first 

it said there might be some hope of recovery,

and the time would allow Moody to decide if  

he wanted to leave, but later the same report 

said that “he will not now, and doubtless 

will  never be able to resume his place upon 

the bench.” The real reason may have been 

to push the retirement and new nomination 

past the next congressional election, as the 

report noted that no appointment would be 

made “until the Senate is in session next 

December.” 65

About two weeks after the bill passed, 

President Taft went to see Moody and told 

him “how eager everyone was to pass the bill  

providing for his retirement.” Moody began 

sobbing uncontrollably, and between sobs 

said he would not leave the bench if  he could 

only crawl to it. Taft told him to hang on at 

least until the December date for retirement 

came.66 On October 3, Moody wrote Taft that 

he would never recover, adding “ I should, of 

course, resign at once” so the Court would 

have a full bench for the October Term. But 

he said he knew that Taft would not appoint 

another Justice until Congress sat in Decem­

ber, and he added “ there are some private 

reasons, not in any way adversely affecting 

the public interest, why I should like to 

postpone the taking effect of my resignation 

for a few weeks”  until November 20. Perhaps 

concerned about Moody’s vague allusion to 

personal circumstances, a White House note 

on the upper left of this letter “suggested that 

this [letter] be not given out.”  On Taft’s reply 

letter accepting the resignation, a note on the 

upper left said “give out tonight...Moody’s 

not given out.” 67

As with Hunt’s retirement, Moody’s in­

cluded its ironies. Moody had been appointed 

to his seat only after then Secretary of War 

William Howard Taft, his occasional corre­

spondent, had refused Roosevelt’s offer of 

the Associate Justice job.68 Now President 

Taft appointed Moody’s successor, Joseph 

R. Lamar, who himself suffered a stroke 

just five years later and for whom some 

proposed a special retirement act. Lamar’s 

death however, made the case moot.69
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W hen Franklin D . R oosevelt first explained his judicial 

reform bill in 1937, he critic ized the 1919 legislation  

that allow ed a President to appoint additional district 

and circuit judges to supplem ent disabled judges. “N o 

president should be asked to determ ine the ability or 

disability of any particular judge," he stated.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

J u s t ic e P i tn e y s Q u ie t R e t i r e m e n tzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Afte r Mo o dy’s retirement, many under­

stood that such situations would not be an 

aberration. Indeed, in 1922, Justice Mahlon 

Pitney received a special, and time-limited, 

retirement bill, but by now there was no need 

for Congress to cite precedents, and there 

was no debate in either chamber. Pitney’s 

retirement bill was introduced by a Repub­

lican, but there seemed to be no partisan 

implication, merely a conformance to now- 

established precedent. The only discussion 

in the C o n g r e s s io n a l R e c o r d was four letters 

from doctors confirming that Pitney was too 

ill  to continue on the bench.70

After Pitney left the bench, some began 

looking for more systematic solutions to the 

problem of disabled judges. The V ir g in ia  

L a w  R e v ie w concluded that, “ It does seem

that some method should be devised by 

which a Judge appointed for life should be 

retired upon proof of the fact that he was 

physically or mentally unable to perform his 

duties.” 71 In 1928, a M ic h ig a n L a w  R e v ie w 

article noted that, despite some reforms at the 

state level, there was “no disability pension 

for federal judges; only a superannuation 

pension,” and thus reform was necessary. 

Indeed the article said a “disability pension 

is the most important and desirable form of 

pension” since it was the only thing that 

insured against incapacitated judges, while 

an old-age pension was only a roundabout 

method for accomplishing the same end.72

U npacking the C ourt of D isabled Justices

D is a b i l i t y  a n d R o o s e v e l t s C o u r t - P a c k in g 

P la n

The problems with disabled judges did 

lead to reforms. In 1919, Congress adopted 

an act allowing the President, at his discre­

tion, to place disabled lower-court judges in a 

form of semi-active retirement, and appoint 

a new, replacement judge to their position. 

Concerns about shifting majorities and quo­

rums, however, prevented the extension of 

this clause to Supreme Court Justices.73

Dealing with disabled Justices was an 

important though little remembered part of 

President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s famous 

“Court-Packing Plan”  of 1937, or, as some at 

the time called it, an “Un-Packing” plan to 

push older Justices from the bench. Attorney 

General Homer Cummings’s draft for what 

was officially called “The Judicial Proce­

dures Reform Bill ”  stated that the administra­

tion needed to create something like the 1919 

provision for disabled lower court judges 

but one that would “operate in a mandatory 

fashion.” Cummings argued that “ [i]f  the 

elder judge is not in fact disabled, no harm 

can come from the presence of an additional 

judge.”  Although the final plan retained only 

an age requirement for adding an additional
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ju dge , it o p e rate d like a m andato ry ve rs io n 

o f the 1919 act except that it applied only 

to judges over seventy with ten years expe­

rience, and it applied to all courts, including 

the Supreme Court.74

The final Roosevelt proposal in fact 

included two time limits to encourage 

the speedy retirement of older judges and 

Justices.75 First, the bill said that an addi­

tional judge or Justice would be appointed 

only after the current one had reached the 

qualifying age for his full pension and 

“within six months thereafter has neither re­

signed [n]or retired,”  which was an extension 

from the three months provided in an earlier 

draft.76 Additionally, the act would not take 

effect until “ the thirtieth day after the date of 

enactment”  of the bill. These provisions gave 

older Justices both a chance and an incentive 

to resign before the Court would be “packed.”  

Cummings, during his testimony before the 

Senate Judiciary Committee, was asked if  his 

plan “provide[s] for the appointment of six 

additional judges”  on the Supreme Court. He 

responded, “No” and explained, “ If  none of 

them resign or retire of those who are eligible 

to do so within the 30-day period after the 

law becomes effective, then the appointments 

would be made,”  but only then.77

In Roosevelt’s first public explanation 

of the plan, he described the 1919 law 

that said the “President ‘may’ appoint ad­

ditional district and circuit judges” if he 

deemed judges disabled. Roosevelt claimed 

that “ [t]he discretionary and indefinite nature 

of this legislation has rendered it ineffective. 

No President should be asked to determine 

the ability or disability of any particular 

judge.” A reporter asked if  his whole bill  

was “ intended to take care of cases where 

the appointee has lost the mental capacity to 

resign?”  This remark brought laughter to the 

assembled press, after which the President 

agreed with the statement, “That is all.” 78

At the same time, Texas Representative 

Hatton Sumners proposed a bill  that extended 

a provision for voluntary but semiactive re­

tirement to Supreme Court Justices, a posi­

tion now known as “senior status.” 79 The bill  

was written by Department of Justice em­

ployee Alexander Holtzoff, and it garnered 

Roosevelt’s support as part of his overall 

plan to encourage retirement.80 It passed in 

March 1937, yet it obviously left younger but 

disabled Justices with no option to retire, and 

did not do enough to encourage older Justices 

to leave the bench as Roosevelt desired. 

When Roosevelt signed a much-diminished 

version of his overall court reform bill in 

August 1937, he thus complained, “ It does 

not touch the problem of aged and infirm  

judges who fail to take advantage of the 

opportunity accorded them to retire or resign 

on full  pay.”  He demanded another reform for 

judicial disability.81WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C r e a t in g V o lu n ta r y D is a b i l i t y  a t th e S u p r e m e 

C o u r t

At the Roosevelt administration’s behest, 

Congress did finally consider a voluntary 

statute for disabled Justices who did not yet 

qualify for retirement. In 1939 the Depart­

ment of Justice drafted a bill allowing any 

disabled judge or Justice to certify his own 

disability and then for the chief circuit judge 

or Chief Justice to agree on that certification. 

The judge or Justice in question would then 

retire with his final pay in proportion to what 

he would receive if  he served his full  ten years 

on the bench.82

The congressional discussion of the dis­

ability act focused on disabled judges in a 

handful of states. The Senate Committee on 

the Judiciary report noted, “The Department 

of Justice...originally suggested for the pur­

pose of relieving a condition which exists 

in a few districts, i.e., the tendency of a 

judge who is physically unfit for service 

on the bench to continue his duties until 

retirement age” to receive a salary.83 Yet 

the concern with Supreme Court Justices 

themselves was likely paramount in drafting 

the bill. Alexander Holtzoff, the Department
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o f Ju s tice e m p lo y e e who had he lp e d draft 

the e ar lie r Su p re m e Co u rt re tire m e nt s tatu te 

as we ll as Ro o s e ve lt’s Court-packing plan, 

was the only administration official to ap­

pear at the hearings, where he directed the 

conversation.84

Yet the Senators at the hearing realized 

there was no easy way to encourage a dis­

abled judge to leave. Senator Carl Hatch 

noted the problems with Holtzoff’s bill al­

lowing proportional pensions based on the 

amount of time served under ten years, as 

Hatch thought it could compel a judge to stay 

for a few extra years to get a larger pension. 

Senator Claude Pepper suggested three-year 

increments, but Hatch finally decided simply 

to cut the pension in half for judges or 

Justices serving less than ten years, which 

would still leave a Justice near that cut-off 

with an incentive to remain on the bench.85 

The distance the debate had evolved since 

Congress hurled epithets at Ward Hunt for 

staying for his salary is clear in Hatch’s 

comment that there should be no criticism 

of a disabled judge, “ for he does exactly 

as any of us would do under the same 

circumstances.” 86

On the floor of Congress, some Sena­

tors were still concerned that the bill could 

be another version of Roosevelt’s Court- 

Packing or “Unpacking Plan.”  Senator Walter 

George asked three separate times if  the bill  

was “entirely voluntary” and wondered if  

“ any pressure [could] be brought to bear”  

on judges, to which Hatch responded that 

there was no compulsion.87 Roosevelt signed 

the voluntary retirement bill on August 5, 

193 9.88 In 1962, Justice Charles Whittaker 

became the only Justice, so far, to avail 

himself of this possibility, due to his nervous 

collapse after heated debates around the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
B a k e r v . C a r r  redistricting case. He stayed on 

disability for three years, and then resigned 

completely from the Court to work as general 

counsel to General Motors.89

Today, involuntary retirement for dis­

ability still exists in the lower courts. The

only change to the 1919 act came in 1980, 

when Congress added the consent of the 

majority of the circuit judicial council as 

a requirement for the President to place a 

lower court judge in disability retirement, 

what is sometimes known as disability se­

nior status' There was almost no debate 

about including Supreme Court justices in 

this provision.90 Thus disabled or incapac­

itated Supreme Court Justices can remain 

on the bench as long as they please, with 

no positive incentive to leave and a posi­

tive disincentive to leave before ten years 

on the bench. Perhaps Hamilton was right. 

Perhaps there is simply no objective way to 

determine incapacity and remove disabled 

Justices and therefore this constitutional 

quandary will forever lack a satisfactory 

answer.
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Tension in the U nitary Executive: H ow  

Taft C onstructed the Epochal O pinion  

of Myers v. United StatesTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

R O B E R T  P O S T zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

William H. Taft is the o nly p e rs o n e ve r 

to have s e rve d as bo th p re s ide nt o f the 

Unite d State s and as chie f ju s tice o f the  

Su p re m e Co u rt o f the Unite d State s . That 

unique confluence of roles is evident in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
M y e r s v. U n i te d S ta te s ,1 an “epoch-making” 2 

and “ landmark” 3 case that Taft considered 

“one of the important opinions I have ever 

written.” 4

The precise question in M y e r s was 

“whether under the Constitution the President 

has the exclusive power of removing 

executive officers of the United States 

whom he has appointed by and with the 

advice and consent of the Senate.” 5 M y e r s 

was the first decision in the history of the 

nation to invalidate a congressional statute 

on the grounds that it violated an inherent 

Article II power of the president. It was 

as if fate itself had reserved M y e r s until 

Taft could take his seat at the center of the 

Court.

Frank Myers, a thirty-seven-year-old 

Democratic activist, was appointed to a 

four-year term as the first-class postmaster 

of Portland, Oregon, in April 1913.6 After an 

uneventful first term, Myers was reappointed 

in July 1917. Myers’ tenure soon became 

engulfed in controversy, and in January 1920 

Wilson sought to fire him.7 At the time, 

the removal of first-class postmasters was 

governed by an 1876 statute providing that 

such postmasters “shall be appointed and 

may be removed by the President by and 

with the advice and consent of the Senate.” 8 

Senatorial consent was easily obtained by 

the nomination and approval of a successor 

postmaster. But for reasons that remain 

obscure, Wilson refused to nominate a 

successor or in any other way to seek the 

consent of the Senate.9 Myers therefore sued 

the government for the remainder of his 

salary, some $8,838.72. He lost in the Court 

of Claims in 1923 on the ground of laches,10
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Frank S. Myers, Postmaster.

In 1920, President W oodrow W ilson rem oved U .S. 

Postm aster Frank S. M yers of Portland, O regon. M yers 

(p ictured) filed suit in the C ourt of C laim s seeking to  

recover his salary, claim ing that his rem oval violated  

an 1876 law  requiring that the president obtain Senate 

consent for appointing or rem oving postm asters.

which was a transparent attempt to evade 

the underlying constitutional issue whether 

the president could remove Myers despite 

contrary congressional legislation.

Myers died in December 1924, “but his 

widow continued the litigation in the name 

of his estate.” 11 The case was first argued 

on December 5, 1924.12 James M. Beck 

appeared for the government as Solicitor 

General, but no one argued Myers’ side of 

the case.13 Beck effectively conceded that the 

Court of Claims had incorrectly decided the 

question of laches. In his brief, Beck had 

written that he “would be glad to accept”  the

Court’s judgment “and thus spare the court 

the necessity of deciding one of the most 

important constitutional questions which can 

arise under our form of Government,” but 

“candor compels me to add ... that the dispo­

sition, which the Court of Claims made of the 

case in this respect, is not entirely convincing 

to me.” 14 Beck added, “ I do not mean to 

confess error, for the action of the very 

learned and able Court of Claims is entitled 

to very great respect and the Government 

should not waive the benefit of this decision 

in its favor.” 15 When the case was re-argued 

for a second time, however, Beck would be 

far more explicit:

I agree with opposing counsel that, 

if this statute is unconstitutional, 

the appellant has a good cause of 

action... .

In this case, 1 am frank to say, I 

can find no evidence of any waiver 

or acquiescence. I do not know 

what more Mr. Myers could have 

done in asserting his rights. The 

pertinacity with which he asserted 

his title until his commission had 

expired is worthy of the legendary 

boy on the burning deck. He stood 

by his guns in respect to the alleged 

unlawfulness of his dismissal and 

awaited an opportunity to serve in 

an office, of which he consistently 

asserted he had been unlawfully 

deprived, until his commission had 

expired and then within a few weeks 

thereafter he commenced his suit.16

Laches could not plausibly be used to 

sidestep the monumental constitutional issue 

presented by WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s .

The Court knew in December 1924 that 

Justice Joseph McKenna would step down 

from the bench in January.17 M y e r s was too 

important a case not to be heard by a full  

bench, and the Court therefore set it for re­

hearing. Two days after the first December
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S e v e r a l C a n d id a t e s S e e k in g $ 6 0 0 0 J o b
------------------- I

N otice Sent M yers by First A s­

sistant Postm aster G eneral;

D urand Is A sked to R esign. :

_____
F r a n k  S . M y e r s , p o s t m a s t e r a t

P o r t la n d , h a s b e e n r e q u e s t e d t o  r e ­

s ig n , h is r e s ig n a t io n t o t a k e e f f e c t

a t t h e c lo s e o f  b u s in e s s . J a n u a r y  3 1 .

T h e o f f i c e I s t o b e t u r n e d  o v e r t o

R o b e r t H . B a r c la y , I n s p e c t o r o f t h e

S p o k a n e d is t r i c t , w h o w i l l  s e r v o a s

In January 1920, the Oregon Journal reported that there w ere num erous candidates vying for President W ilson to  

appoint them  to M yers' vacated job. The salary w as a healthy $6,000.

argument, Taft wrote Attorney General Har­

lan F. Stone that

[t]he Court, after Conference, au­

thorized me to speak to Senator 

[Albert B.] Cummins as the head 

of the Judiciary Committee, and 

also incidentally the President of the 

Senate, to see whether they could 

not suggest some one to appear 

at the re-argument as an amicus 

curiae. I hope you will bring this 

matter to the attention of Beck, and 

possibly as Attorney General confer 

with Senator Cummins in respect 

to what can be done to facilitate a

re-argument, with a proper amicus 
* 1 ftcuriae.

When Cummins concluded “ that it was 

not practicable to ask the Senate to authorize 

the selection of one or more of its mem­

bers to appear as an amicus curiae,” 19 the 

Court itself designated as WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa m ic u s “ to present 

the views of the legislative branch of the 

government” 20 the distinguished Republican 

senator from Pennsylvania, George Wharton 

Pepper.21 Re-argument of M y e r s was set for 

April 13-14, 1925, a month after Stone 

assumed his seat on the bench.

At the beginning of argument, Taft an­

nounced that the Court “should much prefer 

to have” Stone sit in the case even though 

“ he was Attorney General while the case was 

in the department.” 22 Taft represented that 

Stone “ took no part in the case and it did not 

come before him in any official capacity.” 23 

Both Beck and Will  R. King, who argued for 

the Myers estate, announced that they would 

“be very glad to have”  Stone sit in the case.24

As president, Taft had dealt extensively 

with the requirements of the statute of 1876. 

He had sought to remove at least 175 post­

masters, and he had always scrupulously ad­

hered to the statute, even when the Senate re­

fused to consent to requested removals.25 He 

never once questioned the constitutionality of 

the statute, even though he strongly believed 

that presidents had the duty and authority 

to interpret the “extent and limitations” of 

executive power.26

Taft had also complied with congres­

sional legislation forbidding removal of 

members of the Board of General Appraisers 

in the absence of a showing of “neglect of 

duty, malfeasance in office, or inefficiency.” 27 

The legislation had been enacted precisely 

to overrule the Court’s decision in S h u r t le f f 

v. U n i te d S ta te s ,2 *  which had interpreted the
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previous statute to permit the president to 

remove members of the Board at will. Taft 

had even commissioned a Board of Inquiry 

that included Felix Frankfurter to make the 

necessary statutory findings to support a 

removal.29

Strikingly, Taft had also urged Congress 

to put all postmasters, including first-class 

postmasters like Myers, “ into the classified 

service” and thus remove “ the necessity for 
confirmation by the Senate.” 30 “Machine pol­

itics and the spoils system,” Taft explained, 

“are as much an enemy of a proper and 

efficient government system of civil service 

as the boll weevil is of the cotton crop.” 31

After 1912, Taft was strongly criticized 

for his legalistic conception of the presidency. 

In 1913, Theodore Roosevelt proclaimed that 

a president ought to adopt a “stewardship”  

theory of executive leadership:

My view was that every executive 

officer, and above all every execu­

tive officer in a high position, was a 

steward of the people bound actively 

and affirmatively to do all he could 

for the people ... I declined to adopt 

the view that what was imperatively 

necessary for the Nation could not 

be done by the President unless he 

could find some specific authoriza­

tion to do it. My belief was that it 

was not only his right but his duty 

to do anything that the needs of the 

Nation demanded unless such action 

was forbidden by the Constitution or 

by the laws.32

Roosevelt contrasted his stewardship 

theory with the “Buchanan-Taft” school of 

the “power and duties of the President,”  

which Roosevelt believed converted the 

Chief Executive into “ the servant of Congress 

rather than of the people.” A president like 

Taft “can do nothing, no matter how nec­

essary it be to act, unless the Constitution 

explicitly commands the action.” 33 Roosevelt 

illustrated the contrast between himself and

A s President, W illiam H . Taft had urged C ongress to  

halt the need for Senate confirm ation of postm asters. 

“M achine politics and the spoils system ,” he w arned, 

“are as m uch an enem y of a proper and efficient 

governm ent system of civil service as the boll w eevil 

is of the cotton crop.”

Taft by reference to the removal power. 

He proclaimed that the president should 

form his own judgment of his subordinates 

without recognizing “ the right of Congress 

to interfere ... excepting by impeachment 

or in other Constitutional manner.” 34 Taft, 

Roosevelt cruelly observed, had “permitted 

and requested Congress to pass judgment on 

the charges made against Mr. Ballinger as an 

executive officer.” 35

Taft was stung by Roosevelt’s attack, and 

in 1916 he sought to answer it explicitly 

and directly.36 He thought that Roosevelt’s 

“ascribing an undefined residuum of power to 

the president is an unsafe doctrine and that it 

might lead under emergencies to results of an 

arbitrary character.” 37

The true view of the Execu­

tive function is, as I conceive it, 

that the President can exercise no 

power which cannot be fairly and
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reasonably traced to some specific 

grant of power or justly implied 

and included within such express 

grant as proper and necessary to its 

exercise. Such specific grant must 

be either in the Federal Constitution 

or in an act of Congress passed 

pursuance thereof. There is no un­

defined residuum of power which he 

can exercise because it seems to him 

to be in the public interest.38

“While the President’s powers are 

broad,” Taft wrote, “ the lines of his 

jurisdiction are as fixed as a written 

constitution can properly make them.” 39 Taft 

regarded Roosevelt’s views as “ lawless.” 40

Taft was nevertheless convinced that the 

constitutional authority of the president was 

quite broad enough to “give the President 

wide discretion and great power, and it ought 

to. It calls from him activity and energy to see 

that within his proper sphere he does what 

his great responsibilities and opportunities 

require.” 41 Although Taft deeply believed 

in a “ law-governed presidency,” 42 he was 

nevertheless clear that the president was 

“no figurehead.” 43 For Taft, the president 

was clothed with robust authority to carry 

out the many duties accorded him by the 

Constitution. Taft believed in “a generous 

interpretation of executive power,” 44 one 

which in its proper sphere was not at all 

subordinate to Congress. “The rule seems to 

be that Congress may not control by legis­

lation the constitutional powers of the pres­

ident when the legislation in any way limits 

the discretion which the Constitution plainly 

confers.” 45

So, for example, Taft is generally re­

garded as “ the father of administrative re­

organization and of the executive budget.” 46 

He believed that the president himself, rather 

than any department head, ought to be re­

sponsible for the federal budget,47 because he 

conceptualized the president as the “general 

manager of the administration.” 48 Congress,

fearing loss of authority, resisted President 

Taft’s efforts to standardize budgetary prac­

tices. It “put a rider in the appropriation 

bill directing that in effect no heads of 

departments, no bureau chiefs and no clerks 

should be used for the preparation of esti­

mates in any other form than as that directed 

by the existing statutes.” 49 “This was for 

the purpose,” Taft knew, “of preventing my 

submitting to Congress the estimates for gov­

ernment expenses in the form different from 

that of the statutes and in accordance with 

the budget principle.” 50 “When the heads 

of departments applied to me to know what 

they should do, I directed them to prepare 

the estimates under the old plan as required 

by statute and also to prepare the budget 

as recommended by my Commission [on 

Economy and Efficiency], and to ignore this 

restriction, which Congress had attempted to 

impose.” 51

Taft was quite explicit that he defied the 

congressional restriction “ on the ground that 

it was my constitutional duty to submit to 

Congress information and recommendations 

and Congress could not prevent me from 

using my subordinates in the discharge of 

such a duty.” 52

Under the Constitution, the power 

to control the purse is given to the 

Congress. But the same paragraph 

which makes it the duty of the 

Congress to determine what ex­

penditures shall be authorized also 

requires of the administration the 

submission of “a regular statement 

and account of the receipts and 

expenditures”—i.e., an account 

of stewardship. The Constitution 

also prescribes that the President 

shall “ from time to time give to the 

Congress information of the state 

of the Union and recommend to 

their consideration such measures 

as he shall judge necessary and 

expedient.” Pursuant to these
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constitutional requirements I am 

submitting for your consideration 

a concise statement of financial 

conditions and results as an 

account of stewardship as well 

as certain proposals with estimates 

of revenues and expenditures in the 

form of a budget.53

Taft had been similarly adamant about 

the president’s removal power. He affirmed in 

1916 that

[i]t  was settled, as long ago as the 

first Congress, at the instance of 

Madison, then in the Senate, and by 

the deciding vote of John Adams, 

then Vice-president, that even where 

the advice and consent of the Senate 

was necessary to the appointment of 

an officer, the president had the ab­

solute power to remove him without 

consulting the Senate. This was on 

the principle that the power of re­

moval was incident to the Executive 

power and must be untrammeled.54

Taft noted that Congress had attempted 

to reverse “ this principle of long standing by 

the Tenure of Office Act in Andrew Johnson’s 

time,” but that this temporary aberration 

was caused by “partisan anger against Mr. 

Johnson... . It never came before the courts 

directly in such a way as to invoke a decision 

on its validity, but there are plain intimations 

in the opinion of the Supreme Court that 

Congress exceeded its legislative discretion 

in the act.” 55

It is plain, therefore, that Taft did not 

approach the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s case as a blank slate. He 

held definite and strong preconceptions about 

presidential removal power, which he viewed 

“ through executive-colored glasses.” 56 He 

would bring to M y e r s the entire weight of his 

considerable presidential experience.

According to Pierce Butler’s docket 

book, the Court voted on M y e r s on April 25, 

1925. Butler’s notes of the conference are 

cryptic, but they suggest that Taft argued that

the case could not be decided on the ground 

of laches, and that no one in conference 

disagreed with him. On the constitutional 

question, Taft asserted that the president’s 

authority to remove was an “executive] 

power” and could not be restrained by the 

Senate’s advice and consent. Oliver Wen­

dell Holmes thought that the statute should 

“stand.” Willis Van Devanter voted to af­

firm the “exec[utive] power” of the presi­

dent. James C. McReynolds was uncertain 

and passed. Louis D. Brandeis agreed with 

Holmes. Pierce Butler, George Sutherland, 

and Edward T. Sanford agreed with Taft. 

Butler records that Harlan F. Stone voted to 

affirm the Court of Claims, with the terse 

remark: “entitled to look at consequences.”  

Stone’s law clerk Alfred McCormack, how­

ever, later recalled that “ In the Myers case 

Stone felt that the real issue was whether the 

business of the Executive could be conducted 

efficiently if  every officer confirmed by the 

Senate were to have a lease on his office 

until the Senate approved his removal. To 

Stone it was clear that the position of the 

Executive under such a restriction would be 

impossible.” 57

Taft assigned the opinion to himself, 

reporting to his son the next day that because 

he had a “very important” case to write, 

he would “be fully occupied” during the 

subsequent “ five weeks.” 58 By May, Taft had 

concluded that he would need to take the 

entire summer to write the opinion. “ Its im­

portance justifies it.” 59 In July, Taft reported 

to Van Devanter that he was “ reading Webster 

and Madison and the speeches of some others 

on the subject.” 60 “ My constitutional post 

office case I have on my shelves up here,”  

he wrote in August to Sutherland from his 

summer home in Murray Bay, Canada, “with 

a lot of volumes that I brought, and I see 

them every day, and have been quite able, 

without any injury to my conscience, to look 

at the backs of the volumes and not examine 

them.” 61 “ I haven’t opened the books on the 

executive power case,” he confessed to Van
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Devanter four days later, “but must tackle it 

shortly.” 62

On September 1, Taft wrote his law clerk 

Hayden Smith asking if  Smith could research 

“ the meaning of the words ‘Executive power’ 

as contained in Article II, Section I.” 63 Taft 

asked:

Does the executive power thus stated 

include the power to appoint and re­

move executive officers and agents, 

and would it do so in such a way 

as to exclude the right of Congress 

to make appointments and remove 

appointees, if  there were no specific 

provision in the other sections as to 

how appointments shall be made?

I wish you would consult Mon­

tesquieu’s “Spirit of the Laws” to 

see whether he makes any reference 

to the scope of the executive power 

as he understood it, and whether 

it includes the power to appoint 

and remove executive agents. The 

framers of the Constitution were 

very familiar with Montesquieu and 

it is quite clear that they were well 

read generally in matters of the 

structure of government. It is quite 

possible that you will  find nothing.

I have here the discussions of the 

question of the power of removal by 

Madison in the first Congress, by 

Webster in subsequent Congresses 

when the power of removal again 

came up and the arguments were 

made in the impeachment trial of 

Andrew Jackson, [sic] 1 believe 

there is a discussion in Pomeroy’s 

“Constitutional Law” , and that 1 

have.64

Smith replied on September 22. He 

cited scattered references and concluded that 

“ I have deduced that executive included 

in its meaning the power of appointment 

and that sharing it with the legislative was 

extraordinary.” 65 Smith had not discovered

much about the power of removal. He re­

ported that the library was still looking for 

W.H. Rogers, T h e E x e c u t iv e P o w e r o f  R e­

m o v a l . Smith reported, however, that Chan­

cellor Kent had changed his mind on the 

question, writing that although in 1789

he had leant toward Madison, but 

now (1830) because of the word 

“advice” must have meant more 

than consent to nomination, he said 

he had a strong suspicion that 

Hamilton was right in his remark 

in the Federalist, no.77, April 4th, 

1788: “No one could fail to perceive 

the entire safety of the power of 

removal if  it must thus be exercised 

in conjunction with the senate.” 66 

Two weeks later, Taft wrote Butler that

The more I think it over, the stronger

I am in the necessity for our reach­

ing the conclusion that we have. I 
agree that in the beginning it might 

have been decided either way, but it 

was decided in favor of the view that 

the Constitution vested the execu­

tive power of removal in the Presi­

dent, with only the exceptions that 

appear in the instrument itself. My 

experience in the executive office 

satisfies me that it would be a great 

mistake to change that view and give 

to the Senate any greater power of 

hampering the President and tying 

him down than they have under the 

view we voted to recognize as the 

proper one.67

Butler was a Democrat, and Taft took the 

occasion to indulge in a mea culpa about the 

Reconstructionist Republican party:

As I study the injustice that the 

radical Republicans did to Andrew 

Johnson, I am humiliated as a Re­

publican. My father was a just man 

but I thought he sympathized with
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those who voted to impeach John­

son. I think the feeling against John­

son growing out of the assassination 

of Lincoln threw into the extremists 

of the Republican party a power that 

led to reconstruction and seriously 

affected to its detriment our coun­

try. I think this is usually thought 

to be the case, and certainly we 

ought not to allow such a departure 

from a long established constitu­

tional construction to influence us 

in a wise interpretation, enforced by 

a Congress that was almost a part 

of the Constitutional Convention 

and whose decision lasted without 

any real controversy from the first 

Congress down to the one that was 

controlled by a militant, triumphant 

and harsh political group.68

Taft drafted a “ long opinion” while on 

vacation at Murray Bay, but, after returning 

to Washington, he found that “ it does not

D evanter, Sutherland, B utler, and Sanford to his hom e to

satisfy me as I read it through, and I have 

had to do some more reading.” 69 He wrote 

his son that “one of the most difficult things 

in preparing an ... opinion ... is the plan or 

arrangement of the statement of the facts and 

the argument to sustain your conclusion. This 

takes me rather more time than other feature 

of a long opinion - 1 mean an opinion that 

necessarily has to be long. I have a tendency 

to length that I try to restrain.” 70

In November, Taft asked Van Devanter, 

Sutherland, Butler, Sanford, and Stone to an 

unusual Sunday afternoon conference at his 

home to discuss his draft of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s , “ to make 

such suggestions as may occur before I revise 

it again and circulate it.” 71 It was, Taft wrote 

Butler, “ a most important matter and the 

opinion should be carefully considered.” 72 

Taft anticipated that “ there will  probably be 

some dissents.” 73 “ Brandeis voted no, and 

I think Holmes did, while McReynolds was 

doubtful.” 74

Two days after this unusual conference, 

Taft sent “a revised copy of the opinion”  to
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Van Devanter, Sutherland, Butler, Sanford, 

and Stone, asking them to “ read it over and 

make as many suggestions as you can.” 75 

Three days later, Taft expressed “ relief to get 

the heavy part of [the opinion] out of the 

way,” 76 and he hoped he would “be able to 

circulate it early next week.” 77

At this point, the documentary record 

becomes far less certain and detailed. Stone’s 

law clerk Alfred McCormack recalls that Taft 

had named Stone, Butler, and Van Devanter 

“ as a Committee to help with the major­

ity opinion.” 78 McCormack remembers that 

Stone was exasperated by the Taft’s draft, 

remarking, “There is nothing left to do with 

this opinion ... except to rewrite it.” 79

Accordingly he directed his clerk 

to go through the opinion and out­

line the points, arranging them in a 

logical order. That done, and Stone 

having revised the outline, the next 

job was to take the printed proof 

and a pair of scissors and arrange 

the material according to the out­

line, deleting, and where necessary 

combining and rewriting, to remove 

duplications, and introducing each 

point by a topic or transitional sen­

tence.

From that beginning Stone prepared 

and submitted to Van Devanter and 

Butler, a new draft of the opinion 

that was widely different from the 

original in arrangement and em­

phasis, with many additions, dele­

tions and revisions of language. The 

Committee was pleased, and Stone 

was commissioned to wait upon the 

Chief and submit the new draft 

as their joint recommendation. Taft 

received the document with grace 

and promised to read it; and later 

he sent a warm note of thanks, 

praising Stone’s work and adopting 

the revision as a substitute for his 

previous draft.80

In Stone’s papers, there is a November 13 

memorandum to Taft, offering numerous ed­

itorial recommendations.81 Stone observed:

To my mind, as a mere matter of 

exposition of the written document, 

the fact that the executive power was 

given in general terms with specific 

limitations, whereas the legislative 

powers were specifically enumer­

ated, gives very great importance to 

the fact that there was no express 

limit  to the power of removal either 

in the enumerated legislative powers 

or the enumerated restrictions on 

executive power.82

Stone also cautioned that Taft may have 

implied that the president does not have 

removal power over executive officials “ to 

whom discretion is not delegated.” “ It is the 

duty of the President to enforce the laws,”  

Stone wrote,

even though little or no discretion 

is involved. As Chief Executive he 

is entitled to faithful and efficient 

services by subordinates charged 

only with administrative duties. It 

is for that reason that the power 

is conferred and the duty imposed 

on him to exercise the power of 

removal, and that, to my mind, is just 

as controlling in the case of officers 

with little or no discretion as in the 

case of a cabinet officer.83

Perhaps sensing his audacity as a newly 

seated justice addressing a former president 

about a matter of presidential power, Stone 

demurred, “ I hope you will  realize that my 

suggestions ... are due to the feeling that this 

is one of the most important opinions of the 

Court in a generation at least.” 84

On November 22, Taft wrote his son that 

he had circulated a draft of his opinion and 

was “awaiting the result to see how many will 

stand by it.” 85 There is a second memoran­

dum from Stone to Taft dated November 24,
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in which Stone appears to have numbered and 

rearranged the paragraphs in Taft’s draft.86 

The surviving copy of this memorandum is in 

Van Devanter’s papers, and it bears a notation 

in Van Devanter’s hand: “ C.J. sent this to me 

to work out ‘so far as may be advisable.’ ”

Apparently after Taft had circulated his 

draft, Stone undertook to “survey the whole 

opinion from the point of view of the proper 

emphasis,” 87 offering basic structural sug­

gestions for reorganization. “ I have had the 

opinion digested paragraph by paragraph,”  

Stone reported. “The digest is placed in the 

form of an outline so that the outline of the 

opinion as it proceeds from the statement of 

the question to the final conclusion may be 

seen in its proper perspective.” 88 On Novem­

ber 28, Taft wrote his brother to complain 

that the Court’s “youngest member Stone is 

intensely interested and is a little bit fussy 

and captious in respect to form of statement, 

and betrays in some degree a little of the legal 

school master - a tendency which experience 

in the Court is likely to moderate.” 89

Taft was in an ungenerous mood because 

“Brandeis has announced his intention of 

writing a dissent,” and Holmes “ is likely to 

concur with him.” 90 Brandeis’s intention to 

dissent provoked a stream of angry invective, 

which gradually subsided as Taft dictated a 

letter to his brother:

Brandeis puts himself where he nat­

urally belongs. He is in favor evi­

dently of the group system. He is 

opposed to a strong Executive. He 

loves the veto of the group upon 

effective legislation or effective ad­

ministration. He loves the kicker, 

and is therefore in sympathy with 

the power of the Senate to prevent 

the Executive from removing ob­

noxious persons, because he always 

sympathizes with the obnoxious 

person. His ideals do not include ef­

fective and uniform administration 

unless he is the head. That of course

is the attitude of the socialist till  

he and his fellow socialists of small 

number acquire absolute power, and 

then he believes in a unit adminis­

tration with a vengeance. I suppose 

we ought not to be impatient with 

some of our colleagues who do 

not agree with us, because it is a 

question which was very earnestly 

discussed in the First Congress and 

settled there for three-quarters of a 

century, but it was agitated again 

in the time of Jackson and Webster 

and Calhoun and Clay, and was of 

course made the chief subject of 

discussion in Johnson’s day and in 

his impeachment. It is curious that 

the question should have remained 

undecided by our Court in all that 

time .... Brandeis is taking time 

to write his dissent. I don’t know 

when he will  finish it, but he is a 

hard worker and I expect to get his 

dissent in a day or two.91

Taft did not “know what McReynolds 

will do. I think he is inclined to go with 

us, but he objects to long opinions, and he 

is cantankerous at any rate. He may write 

a concurring opinion, and he may dissent, 

although I think not the latter.” 92

Taft was frank to acknowledge that the 

“opinion has given me a great deal of work 

and a great deal of anxiety. The rest of the 

Court have stood by me well and have helped 

me in going over it and making corrections 

and suggestions.” 93 “The opinion has had to 

be very long,”  Taft observed,

because half of it is taken up in 

an historical review, which is most 

important in confirming the con­

clusion. I have been rearranging it 

some since I circulated it, and have 

attempted to make the steps in the 

reasoning more orderly, with a view 

of enabling the reader to follow
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the argument more intelligently. I 

presume it will be the subject of 

great discussion and doubtless of 

much criticism.94

The following day Taft confided to his 

son that the opinion “has occupied me very 

intensely, and has been the occasion for my 

losing some sleep. Those members who agree 

with me have helped me. When one works on 

a case all alone and gets very much absorbed, 

he is not quite sure whether he has lost his 

sense of proportion as to arguments in the 

pressure to state them all.” 95

On November 30, Taft received yet an­

other detailed memorandum from Stone.96 

Stone was worried about WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n i te d S ta te s v . 

P e r k in s ?1 an 1886 precedent in which the 

Court had upheld the suit of a naval officer 

challenging his honorable dismissal by the 

Secretary of the Navy on the ground that 

legislation provided that “no officer in the 

military or naval service shall in time of 

peace be dismissed from service except upon 

and in pursuance of the sentence of a court- 

martial to that effect.” 98 The Court had 

explicitly adopted the language of the opinion 

in the Court of Claims:

Whether or not congress can restrict 

the power of removal incident to 

the power of appointment of those 

officers who are appointed by the 

president by and with the advice and 

consent of the senate, under the au­

thority of the constitution, (article 2,

§ 2,) does not arise in this case, and 

need not be considered. We have no 

doubt that when congress, by law, 

vests the appointment of inferior 

officers in the heads of departments, 

it may limit and restrict the power 

of removal as it deems best for the 

public interest. The constitutional 

authority in congress to thus vest 

the appointment implies authority 

to limit, restrict, and regulate the

removal by such laws as congress 

may enact in relation to the officers 

so appointed. The head of a de­

partment has no constitutional pre­

rogative of appointment to offices 

independently of the legislation of 

congress, and by such legislation 

he must be governed, not only in 

making appointments, but in all that 

is incident thereto.99

P e r k in s was the constitutional rock on 

which the federal civil service was erected, 

for it held that whenever Congress exercised 

its authority under Article II, Section 2, to 

vest the appointment of “ inferior Officers”  in 

the “Heads of Departments,”  it could restrain 

executive discretion by regulating the terms 

under which such inferior officers might be 

removed.

Stone was “somewhat concerned” that 

under P e r k in s Congress could “vest the ap­

pointment of all officers other than those 

specifically enumerated in Article 2, in the 

heads of departments, but with limitations on 

the power of removal both by the head of the 

department and by the President.” 100 Stone 

was “extremely loathe to admit that congress 

could set such a limitation on the President’s 

power in the case of purely executive officers 

on whom he must depend for the execution 

of the laws.” 101 He stressed, therefore, that 

P e r k in s “said nothing as to the power of 

the President to remove an inferior officer 

appointed by the head of a department.” 102 

He wanted to be sure that in his draft, Taft 

did not inadvertently read P e r k in s to imply 

that the president lost his “power of removal 

in the case of purely executive officers,”  

even if  the president did not appoint them.103 

This implication might arise because Taft’s 

draft had apparently reasoned that the pres­

ident possessed the constitutional power of 

removal because he had both “ the power 

of appointment and the executive power.” 104 

Stone was concerned that “we do not fore­

close ourselves with respect to the power of
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removal except as it is actually involved in 

the present case.” 105

The logic of Stone’s memorandum 

threatened to undermine the legal architec­

ture of the civil service. Many years later, 

in his biography of Stone, Alpheus Mason 

would claim that Stone’s memorandum had 

anticipated the holding of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH u m p h r e y’s E x e c u­

to r v. U n i te d S ta te s ,106 in which the Court 

unanimously upheld congressional restric­

tions on the president’s ability to remove FTC 

Commissioners with fixed statutory terms.107 

At the time of H u m p h r e y’s E x e c u to r , Stone, 

according to Mason, “had the cold comfort of 

saying ‘ I told you so.’” 108 But in fact Stone’s 

memorandum had nothing to do with the 

issue presented in H u m p h r e y s E x e c u to r , and 

in 1925 Stone seems to have been pushing for 

an even more pro-executive position than that 

eventually adopted by Taft in M y e r s . Indeed, 

Stone’s papers contain a second long mem­

orandum about P e r k in s , probably written at 

the beginning of the 1926 Term,109 urging 

once again that Taft’s opinion be modified 

explicitly to hold that even when Congress 

sought by legislation to limit the power of 

removal of inferior officers appointed by 

heads of departments, the legislature did not 

acquire “ the power to regulate the removal 

even by the President.” 110

Taft did not explicitly address Stone’s 

concerns in his published opinion, but instead 

argued that the “evil of the spoils system”  

concerned “ inferior offices,” and insofar as 

appointments with regard to such offices 

“were vested in the heads of departments to 

which they belong, they could be entirely 

removed from politics.” 111 (Taft’s notes for 

his oral presentation of his opinion went 

even further, asserting that the Civil Service 

System “applies only to inferior officers not 

appointed by the President by and with the 

advice and consent of the Senate, and over 

the removal of these officers Congress has 

complete control, and the maintenance or 

extension of the Merit System is wholly 

with Congress.” )112 As Taft wrote to Van

Devanter, “ Stone continues to tinker, but I 

don’ t think he helps much.” 113

With his usual tact, Taft nevertheless 

wrote to Stone the following day:

I thank you for the trouble you 

have taken to help me in the Myers 

case opinion. I agree with you that 

we have not had a case in two 

generations of more importance. It 

looks now as if  we would stand 6 

to 3, but if  were 5 to 4, I should be 

happy for my country that by even 

so small a margin we could prevent 

the excesses of congressional action 

which in view of the McCarl statute 

we would have to expect.

Taft was referring to John Raymond 

McCarl, the first Comptroller General of 

the United States, who had been appointed 

pursuant to the Budget and Accounting Act 

of 1921.114 M y e r s clearly had important 

implications for the constitutionality of the 

Act,115 which forbade unilateral executive 

removal. Taft also commented to Stone:

I have adopted your suggestions 

generally except when Van Devan­

ter anticipated you. There may be 

one or two instances in which I 

rather preferred my own phrases 

when they were equivalent... . As to 

the President’s power to remove all 

executive officers whether their ap­

pointment be vested in the Courts of 

Law or in the Pleads of Departments 

or not, I do not think we decide 

it and as it is not necessary for us 

to decide it, I think we should not 

mention it. That is Van’s judgment 

about it too. I ’ ll now ... recirculate 

it.116

Stone replied the next day:

Many thanks for your kind note of 

last evening. You know I am a team 

player and I should not have kicked
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over the traces if  you had not ac­

cepted any of my views which after 

all concern only incidental matters 

of minor importance. I have only 

been longing to be helpful in the 

way which I believe we should all 

be, in carrying on the difficult  work 

of the Court-without, I hope, pride 

of opinion or over insistence on 

anything.117

Taft then settled down to await Bran- 

deis’s dissenting opinion.118 On December 

23, Pepper filed the recently delivered deci­

sion of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C o m m o n w e a l th e x . R e l . W o o d r u f f v. B e n n ,l { 9  

which held that the governor could not unilat­

erally remove a member of the Pennsylvania 

Public Service Commission whose tenure 

was protected by legislation that prohibited 

removal without cause and that required “ the 

consent of the Senate.” 120 The Pennsylvania 

court reasoned that “ Public Service Com­

missioners must be viewed as deputies of 

the General Assembly to perform legislative 

work.” 121 Taft wrote to Van Devanter that 

B e n n “ is not important except to suggest that 

the removal of Interstate Commerce Com­

missioners doing legislative work may be 

different from members of purely executive 

boards and therefore not seemingly included 

in our decision.” 122

On January 5, Brandeis circulated his 

dissent. “ I thought mine was pretty long,”  

Taft wrote his brother,

but his is 41 pages with an enor­

mous number of fine print notes, and 

with citations from statutes without 

number. So far as I can make it out 

from a most cursory examination, 

his chief objection to our opinion 

is the merit system of the Civil  

Service. As Congress has complete 

power to give every inferior office 

for appointment by the head of a de­

partment, and then make provision 

for the removal, or absence of it, as

it chooses, it is a little difficult  to see 

how our conclusion with reference 

to the power of removal by the 

President in respect to superior of­

ficers has any real application to the 

question that we have to consider.123 

Then Taft received news that

“McReynolds thinks he has to write a 

dissenting opinion, and wishes to spread 

himself.” 124 McReynolds estimated that his 

opinion would not be ready until March.125 

“McReynolds,” Taft wrote his son, “ is 

always inconsiderate. There is no reason 

why he should not have written his opinion 

before, because he knew that Brandeis took 

the last recess to prepare his.” 126

McReynolds had apparently circulated 

his dissent by March 29, for there is yet 

another long memorandum on that date from 

Stone analyzing the opinions of McReynolds 

and Brandeis.127 Although Stone had “very 

little to suggest about” McReynolds’ 

dissent,128 he devoted six detailed pages 

to dissecting that of Brandeis.129 Stone took 

particular exception to Brandeis’s assertion 

that “Power to remove, as well as to suspend, 

a high political officer, might conceivably be 

deemed indispensable to democratic govern­

ment and, hence, inherent in the president. 

But power to remove an inferior adminis­

trative officer appointed for a fixed term 

cannot conceivably be deemed an essential 

of government.” 130 Stone commented that

It is difficult to see on what basis 

this distinction is based unless it 

be his assumption that the laws can 

be executed even though incompe­

tent, disloyal, inferior officers be 

kept in office. Certainly President 

Lincoln found out differently during 

the Civil War and the experience of 

the Government in that time, and 

especially in the previous adminis­

tration, points out the fallacy of the 

assumption that power of removal 

of inferior officers in the head of
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departments, either with or without 

the consent of the Senate, is an ade­

quate provision for the execution of 

the laws without any reserve power 

in the President to remove inferior 

officers regardless of the consent of 

the Senate.131

Ignoring the obvious fact that Taft’s 

own opinion for the Court dedicated many 

pages to the discussion of past constitu­

tional practice, Stone professed to be mys­

tified by Brandeis’ elaborate invocation of 

history.

The opinion appears to be devoted 

principally to showing that a con­

struction of the Constitution made 

by Congress in many pieces of leg­

islation is the one which we must 

adopt because Congress adopted it, 

and incidentally because from time 

to time various presidents did not 

veto the legislation and sometimes 

complied with it. Of course infer­

ring presidential acquiescence in a 

particular construction of the Con­

stitution because presidents did not 

veto the bills involving that con­

struction or refuse to comply with 

them is going rather far. Assuming, 

however, such assent on the part 

of the executive, I think neverthe­

less that the whole dissent proceeds 

on a fallacy... . Congress has no 

power to change the Constitution. 

Neither have Congress and the Pres­

ident acting together. Therefore, no 

more or greater weight can be given 

to their acquiescence in a particu­

lar construction of the Constitution 

than it is entitled to by its inherent 

merits.

From this point of view, the value 

of the early legislative construction 

of the power of removal lies chiefly 

in the fact that it occurred soon

after the Convention when its events 

were fresh in mind and the events 

in Congress, so far as known, de­

veloped nothing to indicate that the 

Congressional construction was a 

radical departure from the wishes of 

the Convention.132

Taft recognized that the dissents were 

“very forcibly expressed,”  and that he would 

“ have to devote my attention to shaping up 

my opinion and getting it ready for delivery,”  

which he proposed to do “as soon as we get 

through the hearings” in early May.133 But 

in June Taft suffered a major heart attack, 

and he “concluded to take [the opinion] up to 

Murray Bay and perhaps revamp it, in view 

of the dissents. I hope I can do this without 

subjecting myself to intense labors.” 134

At first Taft found it difficult to con­

centrate. “ I am very anxious to revamp my 

opinion in the Myers case before I go down 

to Washington, but I can not do anything 

about it until I feel more at liberty to use 

my brain in a way that really calls for the 

proper circulation of the blood.” 135 “ I have 

been turning it over in my mind,”  he wrote to 

Van Devanter.

I think I shall rearrange the opinion 

by stating first the necessary effect 

of the Congressional decision of 

1789 and the 74 or 75 years of 

acquiescence in that decision. I am 

well satisfied with the conclusion 

reached that evening that we met 

at my house, that it is well not to 

make any concession but to take the 

position that we have already taken- 

that with that decision and with the 

obvious abuse of the Tenure of Of­

fice Act we can make such a contrast 

as to make clear the wisdom of our 

view.136

By August, however, Taft still had 

not “yet tackled the job of revamping the 

opinion.” 137
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Taft settled down to serious editing by 

the end of the month, reporting to Sutherland 

that “ I am working now a revamping of 

my opinion ... and shall hope to be able 

to have it printed and submitted to the five 

concurring Judges for consideration and crit­

icism before recirculating it. It is likely to be 

considerably longer, because the discussion 

in the two dissenting opinions have required 

some amplification and the consideration of 

some additional points.” '38 Taft finished a 

first draft of his revisions on September 6,139 

noting that it was “outrageously long.” 140 

Taft wrote his brother that he hoped

to get back a proof of it before I 

leave here, so as to see what I can 

do in cutting it down, for I find 

that the putting of an opinion in 

print gives you a better general view 

of it and furnishes you more op­

portunity for suggestions of useful 

changes than if  it is typewritten. It 

is a good method of correcting and 

revising opinions, although Justice 

McReynolds complains that most 

of us do not allow ourselves to 

be economical in this matter. But 

these opinions are important, and 

any means of making them better 

should not be spared.141

Taft sent a second draft of the opinion 

to the printer on September 20, with instruc­

tions to have a revised proof ready for his 

arrival in Washington on the 25th so that Taft 

could rapidly revise it and circulate amended 

copies “ to some of my brethren.” 142 Taft sent 

out the revised print on September 28 to Van 

Devanter, Sutherland, Butler, Sanford, and 

Stone, proposing that they meet in a second 

rump conference to be held on October 13 to 

evaluate the opinion.143 “ I hope,”  Taft wrote 

his brother, that “ this is the last stretch.” 144 

The opinion “ has been a very great burden 

to me, a kind of nightmare, and I shall be 

greatly relieved when the announcement is

made.” 145 “ I shall feel like a woman who has 

given birth to a child.” 146 Taft recognized that 

the opinion was “unmercifully long, but it 

is made so by the fact that the question has 

to be treated historically as well as from a 

purely legal constitutional standpoint.” 147 All  

went well, however, and WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s was set for 

announcement on October 25. The night be­

fore, Taft wrote his son with barely concealed 

excitement: “Tomorrow I expect to deliver 

the most important and critical opinion that 

I have written on the Court.” 148

It would be accurate to say that the M y ­

e r s opinion was constructed through a most 

unusual process. There appears to be nothing 

even remotely analogous during the entire 

Taft Court era. Taft essentially constituted his 

majority of six into a committee that met 

twice at his home to discuss the holding, 

structure, and argument of Taft’s drafts. No 

doubt this was partly because Taft keenly 

appreciated the enormous importance of the 

case, which would settle a fundamental ques­

tion of executive power that had remained 

open and controversial since the dawn of 

the Republic, but that “now ... has been 

brought up by the obstinacy of Wilson and 

Burleson in removing a man and for two 

years sending no appointment to the Senate 

for his successor.” 149

M y e r s’ unusual process of composition 

also signified the great difficulty Taft ex­

perienced in summoning adequate forms of 

constitutional argument. In recent times, the 

reasoning of M y e r s has been claimed by no 

less an authority than Antonin Scalia as “ a 

prime example of what, in current schol­

arly discourse, is known as the ‘originalist’ 

approach to constitutional interpretation.” 150 

Scalia no doubt refers to the fact that Taft, 

faced with a constitutional text that says noth­

ing at all about the power to remove executive 

officials, spent a great deal of time and effort 

explicating what he called the “decision of 

1789,” 151 in which the first Congress drafted 

a statute in a way that presumed that the
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president was empowered unconditionally to 

remove the Secretary for the Department of 

Foreign Affairs (the equivalent of the modern 

Secretary of State).152

Unlike a modern originalist, however, 

Taft was unwilling to rest his conclusion en­

tirely on evidence of original meaning. To the 

contrary, Taft explained, “ We have devoted 

much space to this discussion and decision 

of the question of the Presidential power of 

removal in the First Congress, not because a 

Congressional conclusion on a constitutional 

issue is conclusive, but ... because of our 

agreement with the reasons upon which it 

was avowedly based.” 153 To Taft, the con­

clusion that the president must be accorded 

an unimpeded constitutional right of removal 

was supported by “very sound and practical 

reasons.” 154 One of these reasons is that 

“ those in charge of and responsible for ad­

ministering the functions of government who 

select their executive subordinates need in

meeting their responsibility to have the power 

to remove those whom they appoint.” 155 The 

power of removal was “ an indispensable aid”  

for exercising “ the disciplinary influence”  

on subordinates necessary to ensure “ the 

effective enforcement of the law.” 156 “The 

imperative reasons requiring an unrestricted 

power to remove the most important of his 

subordinates in their most important duties 

must, therefore, control the interpretation 

of the Constitution as to all appointed by 

him.” 157 Any other interpretation, Taft as­

serted, “would make it impossible for the 

President, in case of political or other differ­

ences with the Senate or Congress, to take 

care that the laws be faithfully executed.” 158

In a long and furious dissent,159 

McReynolds took sharp issue with Taft’s 

pragmatic logic. He excoriated “ the 

hollowness of the suggestion that a right 

to remove” inferior officers like postmasters 

“may be inferred from the President’s duty
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to ‘ take care that the laws be faithfully 

executed.’” 160 From 1789 through 1836, the 

appointment of postmasters was vested in the 

postmaster general, not in the president.161 

Although Congress could concededly control 

the terms by which such postmasters might 

be removed, nevertheless “ the President 

functioned and met his duty to ‘ take 

care that the laws be faithfully executed’ 

without the semblance of power to remove 

any postmaster. So I think the supposed 

necessity and theory of government are 

only vapors.” 162 “ I suppose,” McReynolds 

asserted, that “Congress may enforce its 

will  by empowering the courts or heads of 

departments to appoint all officers except 

representatives abroad, certain judges and 

a few ‘superior’ officers-members of the 

cabinet. And in this event the duty to ‘ take 

care that the laws be faithfully executed’ 

would remain notwithstanding the President’s 

lack of control.” 163

McReynolds struck at a serious vulner­

ability in Taft’s argument. In his internal 

memoranda to Taft, Stone had insisted that 

the functional argument be taken to its logical 

conclusion and that the president be accorded 

unrestricted removal power of all executive 

subordinates, superior and inferior, whether 

appointed by the president or by the head of a 

department. But Taft, as a practical politician, 

refused even to intimate that the Civil  Service 

was constitutionally infirm in this way. Taft’s 

argument was thus left curiously suspended 

and unsatisfying.

Taft argued that all executive power 

was lodged in the president by virtue of 

the “ vesting clause” of the Constitution, 

which provides that “The executive Power 

shall be vested in a President of the United 

States of America.” 164 He also argued that 

discretionary authority to remove executive 

officials was an executive power necessary to 

ensure that the laws be faithfully executed.165 

It is therefore baffling why WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s never­

theless authorized Congress legislatively to 

regulate the removal power simply by vesting

the appointment of inferior executive officers 

in the heads of departments. Yet Taft seems 

quite explicit on this point:

The condition upon which the power 

of Congress to provide for the re­

moval of inferior officers rests is 

that it shall vest the appointment 

in some one other than the Presi­

dent with the consent of the Senate. 

Congress may not obtain the power 

and provide for the removal of such 

officer except on that condition. If  

it does not choose to entrust the 

appointment of such inferior officers 

to less authority than the President 

with the consent of the Senate, it 

has no power of providing for their 

removal... . It is true that the remedy 

for the evil of political executive 

removals of inferior offices is with 

Congress by a simple expedient but 

it includes a change of the power 

of appointment from the President 

with the consent of the Senate. 

Congress must determine, first, that 

the office is inferior; and, second, 

that it is willing that the office 

shall be filled by the appointment 

by some other authority than the 

President with the consent of the 

Senate.166

Before becoming chief justice, Taft had 

himself urged that first-class postmasters like 

Myers be included in the civil service. But 

Congress’s decision to vest the appointment 

of postmasters in the president meant “ that 

Congress deemed appointment by the Presi­

dent with the consent of the Senate essential 

to the public welfare, and until it is willing  

to vest their appointment in the head of the 

department they will  be subject to removal 

by the President alone, and any legislation to 

the contrary must fall as in conflict with the 

Constitution.” 167

Taft thus constructed an argument ef­

fectively ceding to Congress constitutional
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authority to determine when discretionary 

removal power for inferior executive offi ­

cers was and was not prerequisite for the 

president’s capacity faithfully to execute the 

laws. This is surely not an argument that 

would be embraced by contemporary advo­

cates of a powerful “unitary executive,”  who 

argue for “a hierarchical, unified executive 

department under the direct control of the 

President.” 168 It was in fact an oddly insecure 

argument that received scathing reviews in 

the scholarly literature of the time.169

At root, the weakness of Taft’s posi­

tion lay in its failure to specify the precise 

circumstances that required unfettered ex­

ecutive control. Presidential appointment is 

obviously only a proxy, and a rather loose 

proxy, for the necessity of presidential super­

vision. Whether Congress chooses to vest the 

appointment of an inferior executive officer 

in the head of a department is only vaguely 

related to the need for such supervision. The 

question of necessary executive supervisory 

authority would seemingly turn, as Edward 

Corwin saw immediately, on a functional 

analysis of “ the essential character of the 

office involved.” 170

The question cannot be analyzed with­

out drawing a preliminary distinction. WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s 

importantly distinguishes between the leg­

islative design of executive offices, which is 

a legislative power,171 and the authority to 

appoint specific persons to fill  those offices or 

to remove specific persons from those offices, 

which is an executive power granted by Arti ­

cle II. 172 On the basis of this dichotomy, M y ­

e r s strongly condemns senatorial intrusion 

into the decision whether to remove specific 

persons. This intrusion is inconsistent with 

the basic separation of “ legislative from the 

executive functions.” 173

This narrow conclusion is sufficient to 

invalidate the Act of 1876, which requires 

Senatorial consent before removing first- 

class postmasters. Congress cannot “draw to 

itself, or to either branch of it, the power to 

remove or the right to participate in the ex­

ercise of that power,”  Taft wrote. “ To do this 

would be to ... . infringe the constitutional 

principle of the separation of governmental 

powers.” 174 The Court has never retreated 

from this conclusion.175

But whether Congress can itself partic­

ipate in the removal of executive officers is 

an entirely different question from whether 

Congress can regulate the procedures and 
criteria that the president must apply when 

he takes executive action to remove exec­

utive officials. It would seem at first blush 

that Congress’s legislative authority to fix  

the obligations of an office, its salary and 

jurisdiction, would also include authority to 

determine the grounds on which an office­

holder might be removed.176

Whether legislative regulations of this 

kind infringe the Article II prerogatives of 

the president would appear to require a 

functional inquiry into the need for unre­

stricted executive removal power, which in 

turn would depend on the kinds of duties that 

legislation may properly impose on executive 

officers. Since at least 1838, it has been 

constitutionally accepted that “ it would be 

an alarming doctrine, that congress cannot 

impose upon any executive officer any duty 

they may think proper, which is not repugnant 

to any rights secured and protected by the 

constitution; and in such cases, the duty and 

responsibility grow out of and are subject to 

the control of the law, and not to the direction 

of the President.” 177

Congress can impose duties on subor­

dinate executive officers that are not merely 

ministerial in nature. Congress sometimes 

imposes discretionary duties on subordinate 

executive officers to insure that they apply 

technical administrative expertise in a man­

ner that is free from the political control 

of the president, as for example in the case 

of members of the Federal Reserve Board. 

Congress sometimes imposes discretionary 

duties on subordinate executive officers to 

insure that they act with appropriate judicial 

judgment, as for example in the case of
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judges of the Court of Claims before it 

became an Article III  tribunal. In instances 

like these, Congress has limited the authority 

of presidential removal in order to insure that 

executive discretion is exercised free from the 

taint of political presidential oversight.178

Taft well understood these issues. In WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
M y e r s , he observed that

Of course there may be duties so 

peculiarly and specifically commit­

ted to the discretion of a partic­

ular officer as to raise a question 

whether the President may overrule 

or revise the officer’s interpretation 

of his statutory duty in a particular 

instance. Then there may be duties 

of a quasi judicial character imposed 

on executive officers and members 

of executive tribunals whose de­

cisions after hearing affect inter­

ests of individuals, the discharge 

of which the President cannot in a 

particular case properly influence or 

control.179

The M y e r s opinion refuses, however, to 

let these circumstances impair the “unity 

and coordination in executive administra­

tion”  that Taft deemed “essential to effective 

action.” 180 Taft therefore explicitly concludes 

that even though legislation may sometimes 

prevent a president from substituting his 

judgment for that of an appointed subordi­

nate, the president may nevertheless “con­

sider the decision after its rendition as a 

reason for removing the officer, on the ground 

that the discretion regularly entrusted to that 

officer by statute has not been on the whole 

intelligently or wisely exercised. Otherwise 

he does not discharge his own constitutional 

duty of seeing that the laws be faithfully 

executed.” 181

In essence, M y e r s holds that presidential 

supervisory authority categorically overrides 

any possible legislative determination that 

removal procedures for presidentially ap­

pointed subordinate executive officers ought

to insulate them from close political super­

vision. Taft thus created a “paradox that, 

while the Constitution permitted Congress 

to vest duties in executive officers in the 

performance of which they were to exercise 

their own independent judgment, it at the 

same time permitted the President to guil­

lotine such officers for exercising the very 

discretion which Congress had the right to 

require. 0

M y e r s produced a result that can only 

be described as schizophrenic. Presidential 

removal power might easily be circumvented 

by vesting the appointment of inferior ex­

ecutive officers in heads of departments, 

yet all executive officers appointed by the 

president were as a matter of constitutional 

law “ removable at the President’s will. ” 183 

Neither side of this dichotomy is especially 

convincing or reasonable. After M y e r s , the 

Court quietly undermined the first by focus­

ing constitutional attention on the functional 

question of whether removal restrictions im­

posed by Congress to protect inferior officers 

appointed by heads of departments “are of 

such a nature that they impede the Presi­

dent’s ability to perform his constitutional 

duty.” 184 And in H u m p h r e y 's E x e c u to r v . 

U n i te d S ta te s ,1 8 5 a 1935 decision rightly 

regarded as severely undercutting /V/ve'/w,1 s<’ 

a unanimous Court explicitly overturned the 

second, holding that Congress can regulate 

the removal of presidentially appointed exec­

utive officers, like FTC Commissioners, who 

act “ in part quasi legislatively and in part 

quasi judicially.” 187 Indeed, in H u m p h r e y’s 

E x e c u to r a unanimous Court, per Justice 

Sutherland, dismissed M y e r s in almost dis­

respectful terms. “The narrow point actually 

decided,”  it said,

was only that the President had 

power to remove a postmaster of the 

first class, without the advice and 

consent of the Senate as required by 

act of Congress. In the course of 

the opinion of the court, expressions
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occur which tend to sustain the 

government’s contention, but these 

are beyond the point involved and, 

therefore, do not come within the 

rule of stare decisis. In so far as they 

are out of harmony with the views 

here set forth, these expressions are 

disapproved.188

Taft knew that not all Article II officials 

appointed by a president acted in a purely 

executive capacity. In 1916, Taft had written 

that “ [t]he functions of the President are 

both legislative and executive. Among the 

executive functions we shall find a gradual 

tendency to a division into the purely ex­

ecutive and the quasi-legislative and quasi­

judicial duties.” 189 It is all the more striking, 

then, that Taft was so careless in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM y e r s 

in failing to define or limit the “executive 

officers and members of executive tribunals”  

to whom M y e r s ’  conclusions applied. During 

the pendency of the case, Taft toyed with the 

thought that M y e r s might not apply to ICC 

Commissioners,190 and several days after his 

opinion was released, Taft expressed anger at 

McReynolds’ “ reference to judicial offices,”  

which in Taft’s view had “nothing to do with 

the case, because we only decide the case 

as to an executive office and we limit our 

decision to that. I would be inclined to limit  

it so at any rate.” 191

Taft’s complaint is not entirely can­

did, for he deliberately wrote M y e r s quite 

broadly, seemingly to encompass all officers 

appointed by the president. Thus, T h e N a ­

t io n commented that the decision “makes 

it impossible for Congress to give any de­

termined tenure to” “quasi-judicial offices,”  

so that “ the fear of removal will  henceforth 

operate to bow hitherto independent officials 

to the will  of the President or of his party 

speaking through him.” 192 We know that 

Taft specifically meant the opinion to apply 

to the many so-called independent agencies 

that McReynolds lists in his dissent, like the 

“ Interstate Commerce Commission, Board of

General Appraisers, Federal Reserve Board, 

Federal Trade Commission, Tariff Commis­

sion, Shipping Board, Federal Farm Loan 

Board, [and] Railroad Labor Board.” 193 The 

officers running these agencies were ap­

pointed by the president, but they were never­

theless accorded fixed statutory terms of of­

fice that could be interrupted only for cause. 

Commentators immediately complained that 

“The most important officers menaced by 

the Myers decision are the members” of 

agencies “such as the Interstate Commerce 

Commission, the Federal Trade Commission 

and the Tariff Commission. These agencies 

need protection because of the semi-judicial 

nature of their functions; public confidence 

in their non-partisan character must not be 

impaired.” 194

Yet Taft regarded the proliferation of 

independent agencies as congressional ef­

forts to fragment and undercut the executive 

power of the president, in much the way that 

Congress had sought to handicap President 

Andrew Johnson. Taft wrote to his friend 

Tom Shelton, a southern lawyer:

I am very strongly convinced that 

the danger to this country is in 

the enlargement of the powers 

of Congress, rather than in the 

maintenance in full of the executive 

power. Congress is getting into 

the habit of forming boards who 

really exercise executive power, 

and attempting to make them 

independent of the president after 

they have been appointed and 

confirmed. This merely makes a 

hydra-headed Executive, and if  

the terms are lengthened so as to 

exceed the duration of a particular 

Executive, a new Executive will  

find himself stripped of control 

of important functions, for which 

as the head of the Government he 

becomes responsible, but whose 

action he can not influence in any
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way. It was exactly this which 

the two-thirds majority of the 

Republicans in the Congress 

after the War attempted to with 

the Tenure of Office Act. They 

attempted to provide that Cabinet 

officers who had been appointed 

by Lincoln, and who differed with 

Johnson as to the policy to be 

pursued in respect to dealing with 

reconstruction questions should 

be retained in office against his 

will. 195

Similarly, Taft wrote to the editor of the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S t . L o u is P o s t - D e m o c r a t that a “study of the 

legislation made under”  the inspiration of the 

Johnson impeachment

will show that not directly but 

stealthily through the creation of 

boards who exercised part of the ex­

ecutive power[, it] has been sought 

to divide that power vested in the 

president by the Constitution, and 

it would very much minimize that 

power if the members of those 

boards were made free from admin­

istrative control through the power 

of the removal by the president.

By making their terms long so as 

to reach from one term through 

another or into another, they would 

strip a new president of much of his 

capacity to determine and carry out 

his legitimate policies.196

Although Taft confessed that M y e r s 

“was the hardest case I have had in the 

matter of work since I have been on the 

Bench,” he was also “convinced we were 

right .... I am hopeful that the question will  

not be agitated and that the decision may 

remain as a permanent constitutional feature 

of constitutional construction.” 197

It is plain that Taft was at heart an admin­

istrator who deplored “ the narrow, factional 

selfishness of Congress.” 198 Several months

before the 1924 presidential election, he had 

complained to his wife that “Congress is 

unrepresentative. The Senate is at the lowest 

ebb in its history and the House is not 

much better.” 199 It was precisely Coolidge’s 

“ independence of Congress that gives him his 

strength,”  and he therefore should “ act upon 

legislation according to his best judgment 

and the people will  approve even though he 

differs from Congress.” 200 Taft expressed an 

analogous thought in M y e r s '. “The President 

is a representative of the people, just as the 

members of the Senate and of the House 

are, and it may be at some times, on some 

subjects, that the President, elected by all the 

people, is rather more representative of them 

all than are the members of either body of the 

Legislature, whose constituencies are local 

and not country wide.” 201

The extraordinary reach of M y e r s ex­

pressed the priority Taft accorded to the 

administrative needs of a nationally elected 

president for control, coherence, and ef­

ficiency. Taft regarded these virtues as 

paramount when threatened by the bickering, 

petty, local, and merely political concerns of 

Congress. He therefore refused to credit the 

possibility that laws might in fact be more 

faithfully executed if  specialized, presiden- 

tially appointed executive officers were leg­

islatively endowed with some independence 

from centralized political, presidential con­

trol. The nature of the office, and of the law 

applied by the office, were irrelevant. What 

mattered was the impertinence of congres­

sional interference with executive unity and 

coherence.

In an influential dissent, Brandeis of­

fered a fundamentally different picture of 

the relationship between the legislative and 

executive branches. “The doctrine of the 

separation of powers was adopted by the con­

vention of 1787 not to promote efficiency,”  he 

said, “but to preclude the exercise of arbitrary 

power. The purpose was not to avoid friction, 

but, by means of the inevitable friction inci­

dent to the distribution of the governmental
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powers among three departments, to save the 

people from autocracy.” 202

The President performs his full  

constitutional duty, if, with the 

means and instruments provided by 

Congress and within the limitations 

prescribed by it, he uses his best 

endeavors to secure the faithful ex­

ecution of the laws enacted....

Checks and balances were estab­

lished in order that this should be 

‘a government of laws and not of 

men.’ In order to prevent arbitrary 

executive action, the Constitution 

provided in terms that presidential 

appointments be made with the con­

sent of the Senate, unless Congress 

should otherwise provide .... Noth­

ing in support of the claim of un­

controllable power can be inferred 

from the silence of the convention 

of 1787 on the subject of removal.

For the outstanding fact remains that 

every specific proposal to confer 

such uncontrollable power upon the 

President was rejected. In Amer­

ica, as in England, the conviction 

prevailed then that the people must 

look to representative assemblies for 

the protection of their liberties. And 

protection of the individual, even if  

he be an official, from the arbitrary 

or capricious exercise of power was 

then believed to be an essential of 

free government.203

For Brandeis, what mattered was not 

the independence of the executive from the 

Congress; what mattered was the interdepen­

dence of the two branches. This was because 

Brandeis regarded unconstrained power as 

potentially despotic, and he believed that 

the only realistic constraint on such power 

lay in the checks and balances hardwired 

into the constitutional scheme. These im­

pediments might well impair administrative

efficiency, but this was a necessary cost 

of a constitutional design framed to hedge 

against tyranny.204 For Brandeis, the ultimate 

goal of the Constitution was to maximize 

the subordination of all government actors 

to general rules of law, which were the 

antithesis of presidential administrative dis­

cretion. Rules of law could legitimately em­

anate only from the multimember assembly 

of Congress, notwithstanding its incessant, 

inefficient, and petty squabbling.

The tension between Brandeis’ view of 

checks and balances and Taft’s appeal to the 

necessity of executive discretion and unity is 

still with us. Those inclined to an originalist 

point of view must ask which perspective 

more accurately reflects the fears and hopes 

of the framers.
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Am o ng the e ar ly acts re p o rte d in Vo lu m e 

317 of the S u p r e m e C o u r t  R e p o r t s was 

the December 21, 1942, memorial for the 

late Justice Louis D. Brandeis. Gathered that 

morning were leading jurists and members 

of the Court’s bar. The proceedings were 

called to order by Solicitor General Charles 

Fahy. His brief remarks recognized the mem­

bers absent, those “called this last year to 

other tasks and places that need them during 

the war.” 1 Judge Calvert Magruder noted 

the occasion’s setting “ [ajmid the din and 

distractions of war.” 2 Imperial Japan’s fury 

loosed much of the din. Its baleful reach 

would deepen the struggle of a middle-aged 

West Coast working man in the early months 

of 1942—a story that quietly unfolded in 

Volume 317.

In 1889, Kumezo Kawato was born in 

the southeast coast city of Ugui, Japan.3 He 

arrived as a teenager in the United States in 

1905 and settled in the Los Angeles area.4 

In April 1940, he took work as a fisherman 

on the “ vessel Rally,” with his wages set as 

a share of the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR a l ly 's catch.5 On December

4, the R a l ly was docked and Kawato, in 

a small skiff alongside (he was five feet 

one inch),6 was repairing fish nets hanging 

from the larger vessel. Suddenly, the skiff 

was “ thrown against” the R a l ly ? Kawato 

sustained “ severe injuries to his left foot 

and leg,” a fracture, and a wrenched knee.8 

Immediate medical care from a physician 

and surgeon was required. Four months of 

incapacitation followed. Having paid his own 

medical bills, Kawato was now unable to 

support himself.9

In April 1941, Kawato brought suit 

against the R a l ly in federal district court. His 

attorney was Herbert R. Lande, of nearby 

San Pedro. Lande had practiced in California 

since 1934.10 He represented injured seamen, 

and his sometime opponent in these matters 

was attorney Lasher Gallagher.11 Kawato 

sought “wages due” ($387) and “mainte­

nance care while ashore” ($264—consisting 

of $38 in medical expenses and $2 “per 

day” while unable to work).12 In August, 

Gallagher answered for the R a l ly with de­

nials both of responsibility and of federal 

court jurisdiction.13 In a “ SEPARATE AND
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K um ezo K aw ato w as a Japanese-born fisherm an w ho lived on Term inal Is land, an enclave of 3,500 Japanese 

A m ericans near Los A ngeles. A bove is a photo of unidentified seam en docked at Term inal Is land taken before 

W orld W ar II.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

SPECIAL DEFENSE,” he as s e rte d that 

Kawato was a “citize n and s u bje ct o f the 

Em p e ro r o f Jap an,”  and that “no citize n o f the 

Unite d State s s hall p ay any ... s u bje ct o f the 

s aid Em p e ro r o f Jap an.” 14

A “Japanese” Seam an

The case of Kawato the seaman was not 

the first encounter between Lande and Gal­

lagher, nor the first in which the two contes­

tants over a seaman’s claim found themselves 

on the docket of federal district court Judge 

Leon R. Yankwich. In late 1939, Clarence 

Robinson, an “ordinary seaman,”  had fallen 

ill after “a voyage to the East Coast and 

return.” 15 Robinson, represented by Lande, 

was unable to work for several months and 

sued the ship owner, represented by Gal­

lagher, for lost wages and “maintenance”  

during convalescence. The owner disputed 

the diagnosis of malaria. Judge Yankwich 

rendered a brisk and unhesitating decision on 

May 17, 1940. Declaring “ immaterial” the 

cause of the illness and finding Robinson 

“unable to work,”  he ruled the seaman “en­

titled to recover his wages to the end of his 

voyage.” 16 The maintenance claim he treated 

with the same dispatch and awarded “ actual 

costs.” 17

Unlike Robinson, Kawato was no “or­

dinary seaman” appearing before Judge 

Yankwich. The times were far from ordi­

nary. Pearl Harbor still smoldered, its horror 

acutely raw on the Pacific coast, when the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
R a l ly sharpened its rhetoric and characterized 

Kawato as “a Japanese,” with the United 

States and Japan “at war.” 18 Claiming that
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The  firs t-  and  second-generation  Japanese-A m ericans  liv ing  at  Term inal  Is land  w ere  fo rced  to  leave  the ir  hom es  

in  February  1942 and  w ere  g iven  on ly  fo rty-e ight  hours  to  sell  the ir  househo ld  goods  and  fish ing  equipm ent.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

du r ing the “s tate o f war” no “e ne m y alie n 

has the r ight to p ro s e cu te any actio n in any

co u rt,” 19 the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR a l ly moved to “abate” the
20case.

Judge Yankwich ordered the action 

abated on January 20, 1942. He reasoned that 

the decision of the Supreme Court two weeks 

earlier, in E x P a r te C o lo m a ? ' which denied 

access to federal court by the government 

of Italy, then at war with the United States, 

extended to all subjects of enemy nations, 

wherever residing. Kawato’s right to be heard 

was abated, moreover, “ for the duration of the 

war.” 22 Three days later, Lande turned to the 

Ninth Circuit which, on March 4 and without 

opinion, backed Judge Yankwich. Twice the 

courthouse door shut on Kawato.

In the distant Supreme Court lay a fast- 

expiring final hope. The pervading national 

fear could hardly have offered odds more 

dismal to a noncitizen resident alien from 

a ravaging enemy nation. Such were the 

predations of Japan that the telling of the

Commission on Wartime Relocation and 

Internment of Civilians (Commission) four 

decades later loses none of the dread:

On the same day as Pearl Har­

bor, the Japanese struck the Malay 

Peninsula, Hong Kong, Wake and 

Midway Islands, and attacked the 

Philippines, destroying substantial 

numbers of American aircraft ...

The next day Thailand was invaded 

... On December 13 Guam fell, and 

on Christmas the Japanese occupied 

Hong Kong. On February 27 the 

battle of the Java Sea resulted in 

another American naval defeat with 

the loss of thirteen Allied ships.

In January and February 1942, the 

military situation in the Pacific was 

bleak indeed ... There was fear of 

Japanese attacks on the west coast.23

Thousands of American and Filipino 

men fell during the Bataan Death March
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K aw ato w as photographed on July 30, 1942 as an  

in ternee in Fort Lincoln, N orth D akota.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

in Ap ril 1942. In May, with Corregidor’s 

surrender, the last American stronghold in 

the Pacific was lost. The Japanese flag flew 

in the Aleutian Islands in June, menacing an 

invasion of North America.

On May 27, Lande sought the Supreme 

Court’s permission to file a “writ of man­

damus” ordering that Judge Yankwich hear 

Kawato’s case. WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE x P a r te C o lo n n a denied 

American courts to “enemy plaintiffs,”  Lande 

argued, including residents living in enemy 

nations.24 Kawato was neither. He was a 

“ resident enemy alien” living in Los An­

geles, not Japan.25 A resident enemy alien 

“ is not disabled from prosecuting a case in 

our Courts.” 26 Lande asked to proceed “on 

typewritten papers” since Kawato “has no 

funds or credit with which to pay for the 

printing of the petitions and briefs.” 27

A crack in the federal courthouse door 

opened with the Court’s per curiam deci­

sions on June 8. On a page whose four 

preceding motions or applications were all 

“denied” in two or three lines, the eight 

lines devoted to E x P a r te K a w a to drew 

the lone good news: “Motion for leave 

to file a petition for writ of mandamus 

is granted.” 28 Granted also was “ leave to 

proceed on typewritten papers.” 29 Argument

was set for October 12. Lastly, the Court 

asked that a new actor join the proceedings. 

“The Solicitor General is requested to file a 
brief.” 30

A m icus B rief by Solicitor G eneral C harles 

Fahy

For Solicitor General Fahy, this was not 

the usual case of a President, federal de­

partment, or Congress expecting his defense 

of executive action or congressional enact­

ment. A  Japanese-born noncitizen pursuing a 

private claim against an American business 

during war with Japan presented singular cir­

cumstances. The Supreme Court had signaled 

no leanings either way in its dry disposition 

on June 8. The one certainty of Fahy’s brief 

was that its author was not bound to either 

side, but was “amicus curiae”—friend of the 

Court.

Fahy had lately been the first General 

Counsel of the National Labor Relations 

Board, bent with all his vigor on advancing 

the right of the “working man”  to a fair field 

of play in dealing with powerful management 

forces.31 Five years earlier, it was the Na­

tional Labor Relations Act, in five decisions 

announced on a single day upholding the 

right of workers to organize and collectively 

bargain with management, that toppled the 

Supreme Court wall steadfastly set against 

New Deal legislation.32

On July 25, Fahy filed his amicus brief in 

E x P a r te K u m e z o K a w a to . It was decidedly 

friendly to this working man’s lone sally 

against judicial barriers to fair reckoning 

with his employer. To Judge Yankwich, the 

R a l ly had offered “no information or belief”  

with regard to Kawato’s claims of injury and 

costs. No findings had been made either way. 

Such would have been the business of Judge 

Yankwich had he not “abated” trial. Fahy, 

however, cast the central fact as established. 

Kawato “was injured while employed on 

the fishing boat Rally.” 33 Toward Kawato’s 

reception by the lower court, Fahy’s tone was
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H erbert Lande, a C alifornia law yer w ho represented in­

jured seam en, filed  th is petition for a w rit of m andam us 

in the Suprem e C ourt on M ay 27, 1941. H e asked the 

C ourt to com pel Southern C alifornia district judge Leon  

R . Yankw ich to hear K aw ato's case despite his status 

as a “Japanese alien."

stiff. Judge Yankwich had “ refused to hear 

the case.” 34

Of Kawato’s race, or birthplace in the 

nation on a murderous path against Amer­

ica, Fahy took no notice. He set the case 

squarely on the principles of law and values 

long engrained in Anglo-American tradi­

tion. A “person who came to England in 

time of peace and remained there quietly 

and without disturbance” was welcome in 

English courts.35 Even the “ resident enemy 

was present under the protection of the 

King, and ... ‘suing is but a consequential 

right of protection.’ "36 Barring courts to 

resident aliens benefits no enemy nation, 

but does inflict “unnecessary hardship” if  

“ such persons were deprived of access to the 

courts as a means of safeguarding their civil  

rights.” 37

The Supreme Court had never squarely 

addressed the question, but lower federal and 

state courts “uniformly adhered” to Fahy’s 

position.38 Even “during the present war,”  

three trial courts had initially  refused to hear 

cases brought by enemy alien residents but

“ reversed their position ... [when] author­

ities were called to their attention.” 39 As 

one district court observed, “ the contracts of 

individuals ought not to be affected by the 

quarrels of nations.” 40

Having staked the legal ground, Fahy 

turned to the justice, and human toll, of such 

treatment of resident enemy aliens as endured 

by Kawato at the hands of Judge Yankwich. 

“The experience of this country ... during the 

present war, has demonstrated that the vast 

majority of those subjects of countries with 

which we are at war who reside here, are 

either entirely loyal to our institutions, or at 

least unwilling to disobey our laws by giving 

aid to the enemy.” 41 In America lived some 

1,350,000 enemy aliens. “To deprive such 

persons ... of all access to the courts, might 

subject them to extreme hardship without any 

compensating benefit to the United States.” 42 

Culpable parties would escape justice, for 

“ those physically injured (such as [Kawato]) 

would be unable to recover, although the 

injury was caused by the willful,  reckless or 

negligent act of another.” 43

“The spirit of justice, upon which our 

institutions are founded, and the manifest 

undesirability of forcing innocent persons 

into want and destitution forbid any such 

result when not in the least helpful to the 

effective prosecution of the war.” 44

But this was, after all, wartime, with 

attendant fears of aiding the enemy. Fahy 

raised and met each. Measures available to 

government could block judicial recoveries 

from being sent to the enemy.45 Those sus­

pected of disloyalty could be interned, with 

restrictions placed on their property.46 E x 

P a r te C o lo n n a was swept aside as holding 

only that “war suspends the right of en­

emy plaintiffs to prosecute actions in our 

courts.” 47 The government of Italy pursuing 

its case while at war with the United States 

was “obviously” barred.48 Fahy closed with 

the ardor of the Attorney General’s earlier 

statement in January 1942: “no native, citi­

zen, or subject of any nation with which the
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The Justices assem bled at the W hite H ouse for their annual visit to President R oosevelt on O ctober 12, 1942, the 

sam e day  that Ex Parte Kawato w as argued. (Left to right) Solicitor G eneral C harles Fahy; A ttorney G eneral Francis 

B iddle; Justices Jackson, M urphy, D ouglas, Frankfurter, R eed, B lack, and R oberts; and C hief Justice Stone. Fahy 

filed an am icus brief in K aw ato ’s case and B lack (holding a cigar) w rote the unanim ous opinion.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Unite d State s is at war and who is re s ide nt in 

the Unite d State s is p re clu de d ... fro m s u ing 

in fe de ral o r s tate co u rts .” 49

Judge Yankw ich ’s View s

Leon Yankwich was born in Romania 

one year before Kawato and reached Amer­

ican shores in 1907, two years after him.50 

Parallels in their immigrant personal histo­

ries, however, awoke no sympathies in the 

jurist, who rather took Kawato’s challenge to 

his “abatement” order as a personal affront. 

Three weeks before argument in the Supreme 

Court, Judge Yankwich aired his grievances 

to the Clerk of the Supreme Court.51 There 

is “no one to whom I can appeal to present 

my views,” he wrote.52 While he “preferred 

... public counsel,”  such as the United States 

Attorney, this hope was frustrated by the 

Solicitor General taking a position “oppo­

site” his.53 He “hesitated” to use private

counsel, many of whom appeared before 
him.54 “Local” counsel might be sought as 

a “ friend of the court,” yet he was loath to 

“ request an attorney to stand the expenditure 

which representation before the Supreme 

Court would entail.” 55 He apparently as­

sumed counsel would shoulder all Court 

costs.

Yet Judge Yankwich need not have fret­

ted at lack of counsel, as within the week he 

had prevailed on Lasher Gallagher. “At the 

request of the Honorable Leon R. Yankwich,”  

Gallagher wrote the Clerk, he would make 

oral argument and file a brief for the judge.56 

Gallagher pressed the same financial straits 

for Judge Yankwich as Lande for Kawato. “ It 

does not seem that the rules require a judicial 

officer to pay for ... printing,” 57 he pled in 

seeking to submit a typewritten brief.

A late filing from Fahy on October 7 

bore striking news. Neither Lande nor Gal­

lagher nor Yankwich had ever noted that,
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“s o m e m o nths afte r the co u rt had abate d 

his actio n,” Kawato had be e n inte rne d.58 

As the Supreme Court characterized Fahy’s 

supplemental brief, the United States “does 

not consider that this circumstance alters 

[Kawato’s] position ... in respect to his 

privilege of access to the courts.” 59WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
E x P a r te K a w a to was the first case 

argued on October 12. Only Gallagher ap­

peared, no longer for the now-forgotten R a l ly 

but for his new-found second client, and 

“argued the cause for Leon R. Yankwich, 

Judge.” 60

The  Suprem e  C ourt  D ecis ion

On November 9, 1942, came a unani­

mous decision. Authored by Justice Hugo L. 

Black, it was a paean of mingled sympathy 

for Kawato and a tribute to the nation so long 

his home. Few facts particular to Kawato, the 

man, were known, yet the Court held him 

aloft, a symbol of the noble, freedom-seeking 

immigrant.

Did there stir in Justice Black the mem­

ory of that other poor man, and the larger 

cause for which that man stood five months 

earlier? In B e t ts v s . B r a d y ,61 Smith Betts, a 

“ farm hand, out of a job and on relief,” 62 had 

a criminal trial but was denied an attorney. 

In E x P a r te K a w a to , the injured, jobless 

fisherman had an attorney but was denied 

a trial. Justice Black dissented in B e t ts , but 

in E x P a r te K a w a to wrote for the whole 

Court in pressing the keenly held creed to 

which he had recently given voice in B e t ts—  

and would again two decades later in his 

majority opinion in G id e o t r . the “promise 

of our democratic society to provide equal 

justice under the law,”  and society’s “duty”  to 

provide “defence of the poor.” 63 Black wrote:

Nothing in [Kawato’s] record indi­

cates ... that he came to America 

for any purpose different from that 

which prompted millions of oth­

ers to seek our shores—a chance

to make his home and work in a 

free country, governed by just laws, 

which promises equal protection to 

all who abide by them.64

The injured fisherman embodied the pa­

triotic pride of a nation whose “ lifeblood 

came from an immigrant stream.” 65 Indeed, 

many soldiers in the war of 1812 were born in 

England but fought for America. Immigrants 

“ by the millions ... have learned to love 

the country of their adoption more than the 

country of their birth.” 66

Building on the lineaments of Fahy’s 

brief, Black embraced British openness to 

resident enemy aliens “even when the alien 

is interned, as is petitioner here.” 67 He cited 

Fahy’s authorities that forbidding their access 

to court “would be repugnant to sound policy, 

no less than to justice and humanity.” 68 He 

repeated Fahy’s assurances that safeguards 

could be set to prevent “aid and comfort”  

to the enemy.69 Like Fahy, he dismissed 

E x P a r te C o lo n r ta as “having no bearing 

on the rights of resident enemy aliens.70 

As Fahy argued, such would be antitheti­

cal to the “modern, humane principle” al­

lowing their suits to proceed. He closed, 

echoing Fahy, with the Attorney General’s 

recent affirmation of resident enemy alien 

rights.71

Word traveled fast. Two days later a 

typed letter, addressed to “Mr. Black,” was 

mailed from Topaz, Utah. The writer, Victor 

Abe, introduced himself as a “citizen of 

Japanese ancestry ... serving as an evacuee 

attorney in the Central Utah W.R.A. Project 

... vitally interested] in the opinion con­

cerning Mr. Kawata [sic]... upholding the 

right of the Japanese alien ... to seek justice 

in the American courts.” 72 The decision 

was “ the most encouraging event which has 

occurred,” 73 he continued. Those “confined 

to project areas” yet seeking to “maintain 

their faith in American democracy” while 

“ [ujprooted from homes” and “anxiously 

await[ing] any expression or gesture which
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wo u ld e nco u rage the m” co u ld at las t “ s e e 

and fe e l de m o cracy in actio n.” 74 “Could you 

possibly send a copy of the opinion or a digest 
of it?” 75WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

E x P a r te K a w a to spurred the Depart­

ment of Justice. On December 3, Attorney 

General Francis Biddle instructed all United 

States Attorneys that the case “establishes ... 

that a resident alien enemy has a right to bring 

suit in any court and that ... there must be 

no abatement of his action for the duration of 

the war because of his status.” 76 Reaffirming 

Fahy’s supplemental brief and the Supreme 

Court’s admonition, the Attorney General 

took particular care to extend the decision’s 

far reach. The resident alien enemy “can sue 

even if  interned.” 77

One week later, a punctilious Judge 

Yankwich provided the Clerk of the Court a 

second letter, shed of comment or complaint. 

“ I have caused ... the Opinion to be filed 

in open court ... as is the case with formal 

mandates,”  and “ordered the case restored to 
the calendar.” 78

K aw ato ’s In ternm ent: “ 1 suitcase, 1 box,

1 seabag”

The embers suddenly stirred to life by 

the Supreme Court went quickly cold again. 

After Judge Yankwich’s sole “abatement”  

order of January 20, 1942, and despite the 

Court’s upholding Kawato’s right to sue “even 

when ... interned,” the case would languish 

without trial until after the war—precisely 

the span of years that saw the unraveling of 

Kawato’s life and livelihood.

His home in the early 1940s was Termi­

nal Island, a “Japanese community” off Los 

Angeles described by the Commission as six 

miles long and a half-mile wide, reachable 

only by ferry or drawbridge and sustaining 

a Japanese population of 3,5 00.79 Half were 

American-born. The island’s economy cen­

tered on canning and fishing. It supported 

restaurants, groceries, small businesses, and 

three physicians. The FBI began removing

individuals “considered dangerous aliens”  on 

December 7, 1941.80 By early 1942, the 

Department of Justice saw to it that “ every 

alien male on Terminal Island who held a 

fisherman’s license” was sent to an inland 
camp.81

On February 2, 1942, two weeks after 

Judge Yankwich abated his case, Kawato’s 

fortunes turned exceedingly dark. That day 

he entered the Justice Department internment 

camp in Lordsburg, New Mexico, near the 

Mexico border. His “ internee report” noted 

his “ fisherman” past and $300 worth of 

furniture left at 627 Barracuda Street, his 

Terminal Island residence.82 He surrendered 

the $73.34 in his possession when the gates 

closed behind him.83

A period of profound dislocation had 

commenced. By July, Kawato had been 

transferred far north to Fort Lincoln, North 

Dakota, close to the Canada border, where he 

entered with “ 1 suitcase, 1 box, 1 seabag.” 84 

In August, he was back in Lordsburg, where 

his “ internee behavior”  was rated “ favorable”  

for “general attitude and cooperativeness 

with Camp authorities,” as was his “ trend 

of mental condition (despondency, etc.).” 85 

He weighed 115 pounds.86 In late March 

1943, he and scores of internees were moved 

to a camp on the outskirts of Santa Fe, 

New Mexico.87 From Lordsburg, Kawato 

had arrived at Santa Fe with $127.04 “ in 

final settlement.” 88 Each month in Santa 

Fe he received “payroll” in amounts usu­

ally ranging between $.80 and $1.60. In 

July 1943 it reached $24.80.89 One month’s 

$1.43 earnings were credited to “ditch 

work.” 90

Perhaps the brief cool of the north 

border suited Kawato more than the desert 

southwest, for one month after arriving at 

Santa Fe he “volunteered”  for transfer to the 

internment camp at Kooskia, Idaho, which 

promised $45 per month for “manual labor”  

on “ road construction.” 91 His request was 

denied. In landlocked Santa Fe, among fifteen 

hundred mostly Japanese-born internees, the
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fis he rm an wo u ld re m ain, ho w inde finite ly he 

co u ld no t kno w.

The go ve rnm e nt he ld lo y alty he ar ings to 

de cide whe the r individu al inte rne e s thre at­

ened the security of the United States by 

retaining allegiance to hostile nations. Hear­

ings were chaired by a Department of Justice 

representative assisted by local citizens ap­

pointed by the Attorney General. Testimony 

was taken from the government and the 

enemy alien.92 Those deemed not loyal to 

an enemy nation could, a Santa Fe citizen 
member recollected, be “paroled.” 93 At some 

point Kawato had a loyalty hearing, although 

whether Kawato was found loyal or not is 

unknown.94

B ack  to  the  Low er  C ourt

A global jolt occurred on September 2, 

1945. Japan surrendered. The ripples quick­

ened a series of sharp turns in Kawato’s 

fortunes. His stagnant case against the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR a l ly 

lurched into motion. During his over three 

and one-half years’ internment, the district 

court had quietly continued the case, usually 

several months at a time. In February 1944, 

trial had been set for February 1945, then 

was pushed back until February 1946.95 Sud­

denly, four days after Japan’s surrender, the 

trial date was for the first time accelerated— 

to October 1945—until it was postponed to 

March 4, 1946.96

With Japan defeated and the closing of 

internment camps imminent, there was at last 

a window. Through it leapt Herbert Lande. 

Three years to the week after Judge Yankwich 

restored Kawato’s case to the docket, on 

November 19, 1945 Lande wrote the Santa 

Fe camp commanding officer and asked to 

depose his “Japanese alien” client for his 

pending lawsuit.97 “ We are anxious to have 

the matter come to trial.” 98

Lande requested a camp-supplied no­

tary public to depose Kawato with questions 

submitted by Lande and to record Kawato’s 

answers.99 An official replied with “ regret

that we are not in a position to assist you.” 100 

Undeterred, on December 17, Lande sought 

Kawato’s release “ so that he might attend the 

trial of his case,” 101 a plea passed to Alien 

Control Headquarters in Philadelphia. There 

was no authority to release Kawato, Head­

quarters replied on January 5, 1946, but trial 

arrangements for Kawato could “possibly”  be 

made were Kawato to travel “under guard”  

and assume “ all expenses”  for transportation 

and guard services.102

Unable to meet these terms but spurred 

by the trial date’s final postponement to 

March 4, Lande took a final tack. He notified 

the R a l ly , on January 10, that a privately 

retained notary from Santa Fe would de­

pose Kawato at camp.103 Lande attached 

fifteen questions delving into the events and 

aftermath of December 4, 1940—Kawato’s 

injuries, medical costs, and loss of earnings. 

The deposition was set for February 11, 

1946.104

Loyal  to  Japan

On February 27, one week before trial, 

Lande and Gallagher submitted a joint stip­

ulation and order of dismissal. K u m e z o 

K a w a to v s . G a s S c r e w V e s s e l " R a l ly , ”  the 

lawyers agreed, was “ fully settled.” 105 The 

next day, District Court Judge Campbell 

Beaumont, in three lines, ordered the five- 

year-old lawsuit “dismissed ... each party 

to bear their own costs.” 106 With scarcely a 

murmur, the aged case, begun by wind or 

wave flinging Kawato against the R a l ly 's side 

half a decade earlier, fought out by Kawato 

up every rung of the judicial ladder before 

war, through war, and beyond war, expired. 

Its terms were shrouded in silence.

Of the Terminal Island fisherman him­

self, however, the record was not so obscured. 

It opened on a life rich in incident and 

hope. During 1942, Kawato had applied for 

“ repatriation”  to Japan while in Lordsburg.107 

In Santa Fe, after Japan’s surrender, Kawato 

again pressed repatriation. Perhaps he yielded
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to the tu g o f he r itage and native s o il, no w 

tantalizingly ne are r, in as s u m ing a diffe r­

ent name: Shobei Matsubara. In Japan, his 

typewritten application explained, was Kura 

Matsubara, his wife. In Japan lived his three 

children. All  were in Ugui.108

His reasons for returning, “uncondition­

ally and without qualification,” were plain 

enough.109 “ I feel it is my duty to go back 

to Japan and support my wife for bring up 

[sic] the children. At previous hearing I have 

expressed my loyalty to Japan and I have no 

intention of changing the same in the future. 

It is my sincere desire that I be repatriated to 

Japan as soon as possible.” 110 The reviewing 

official ’s signature below Kawato’s testified to 

the application’s “outstanding merit.” 111

On February 28, 1946, the day the case 

of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAK a w a to v s . G a s S c r e w V e s s e l " R a l ly ”  was 

forever dispatched to the closed-case room 

in the federal courthouse, Kumezo Kawato, 

or Shobei Matsubara, was a world away. On 

February 21, 1946, the fifty-seven-year-old 

fisherman, perhaps for the last time, put out to 

sea from southern California.112 With other 

internees bound for their defeated birthplace 

and home, he likely had Terminal Island in 

view as he passed through his old waters.

His medical release from Santa Fe had 

noted “General condition good” and “Duo­

denal ulcer-healed.” 113 In his pocket was 

$161.60 in U.S. currency “earned ... while 

interned in the United States,” and the $60 

apparently issued to departing internees.114 

In July 1945, the FBI had returned Kawato’s 

property “procured ... at the time of his 

apprehension.” 115 He may have again been 

carrying with him his “ 1 Buddist pamphlet 

... 1 card of Baptist Church ... 1 Fishermen’s 

Union retirement card ... 1 alien registration 

card [and] 1 notice to appear in Justice 

Court.” 116

C onclusion

In 1957, Charles Fahy shared his rec­

ollections of the case of the Japanese-born

fisherman “barred from our courts” during 

war with Japan: “ I thought this unsound.” 117 

An aspect of the opinion lingering with 

special pleasure for Fahy, champion of the 

working man’s right to fair wages, was Jus­

tice Black’s “ interesting observation” that 

English-born men fought for America in the 

war of 1812.118 “ If  they could fight for us, the 

Court seemed to be saying, they could sue in 

our court for wages.” 119 Fahy also pondered 

the constitutional forces at work during the 

“din and distractions of war,” 120 when the 

“ [executive and military hold the forward 

positions, in advance of the legislative and 

judicial branches of Government.” 121 “ Yet”  

to the courts still fall the “peaceful means”  

to justice—for “ a nation draws strength 

in war as at other times from her legal 

foundations.” 122

Constitutional tension during wartime 

had also drawn Fahy into another remarkable 

episode echoing his observation in K a w a to , 

as amicus curiae, that “ [t]he experience of 

this country ... has demonstrated that the 

vast majority of those subjects of countries 

with which we are at war who reside here, 

are ... entirely loyal to our institutions.” 123 

Two years to the day after E x P a r te K a w a to 

was argued, Fahy personally presented to 

the Supreme Court the case for the United 

States in E x P a r te E n d o S2 4 “Miss [Mit- 

suye] Endo was a young American citi­

zen of Japanese descent” who, while in­

terned, “had been cleared individually from 

a loyalty standpoint.” 125 Nonetheless, “ she 

was still held under some restraint of her 

freedom.” 126

To Fahy, the government’s position was 

deeply unsound. “ I thought the executive 

branch ... should abolish the regulations ... 

which continued to hold her.” 127 Fahy’s views 

were resisted. “Contrary to my recommen­

dations and judgment it was felt that public 

acceptance of abolition of the regulations 

would require Supreme Court decision.” 128 

But, Fahy was the Solicitor General and, 

“ [b]ecause of the nature and importance of
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the cas e ... it s e e m e d to m e that I s ho u ld 

p re s e nt the p o s itio n o f the Unite d State s .” 129

In the usual cases, Fahy believed, “ the 

United States should ... press ... vigorously 

and forcefully.” 130 In WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE n d o , however, “ there 

[was] very strong reason” for the Solicitor 

General not to do so.131 Fahy thus began on 

an extraordinary note. “ I told the Court I 

could not argue [the case] with the same con­

viction as [ K o r e m a ts u ] , in which the Court 

upheld the exclusion of Japanese Americans 

from the West Coast in 1944.” 132 But “ I 

wished to present the matter as fairly and 

fully as I could from the standpoint of the 

government.” 133 Hardly had he commenced 

when headwinds hit. “Chief Justice Stone 

immediately indicated grave uncertainty, to 

put it mildly, about the government keeping 

any restraints on Miss Endo, a citizen who 

had been cleared from a loyalty standpoint. 

... [The Chief Justice] ... went after me about 

it. I thought to myself, ‘Well, I wish you 

could get after some of those whom I ’ve been 

trying to get to clear this matter up without 

even bothering you about it’ .” 134 The Court 

reversed, holding that the government could 

not continue to detain a citizen who was 

“concededly loyal”  to the United States.

The constitutional storms of the intern­

ment era saw few doughtier contestants than 

resident enemy alien Kumezo Kawato. With 

no capital but Herbert Lande’s unending 

pluck and a congenial spirit in Charles Fahy, 

he clamored at the gate of every “ Justice 

Court” set before him, even through barbed 

wire. With years of legal fees sunk in de­

fense and trial one week out, perhaps also 

tucked in Kawato’s pocket as he steamed 

homeward, and the familiar shore was lost to 

sight, was the litigant’s partial justice—dearly 

won wages and expenses paid out by the 

R a l ly .

If  so, his case and his life, both long and 

much “abated,”  stood in some small measure 

restored.
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